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Chapter 2-1: Oldest son of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
 

John Rogers Elliott 
 
B 27 Jun 1841   Marwood Parish, Devon (either in the  
village of Prixford Barton or Muddiford) 
D 15 Nov 1912 Port Huron, Mi.  Buried IRC 
 
Spouse: Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson 
B likely 17 Feb 1848   Centerville, W Oxford Ont. 
D 05 Jan 1885 North Oxford Lot 15 Con 3 during 
childbirth    
Buried IRC 
M 20 Sept 1864 Centerville, W Oxford Ont. 
 
 
Spouse:  Phoebe Ann Thorn nee: Ward 
B 1842 Norwich, Ont. 
D 20 Mar 1892 N Oxford township, Ont. Buried IRC 
M 29 Sept 1886 Beachville, Ont. 
 
 
Spouse:  Rosina Gettler (Getler) nee: Day 
B 03 Apr 1852 E Nissouri Township Oxford Co. 
D 10 Feb 1921 Port Huron, Mi.  Buried Zion Cemetery Thamesford.   
M 03 Apr 1895 Ingersoll, Ont. 
 

 
Children: 
 
Henrietta (Hattie)  B 25 Aug 1865 Centerville  D 15 Feb 1944 “Riverside” Beachville, Ont. 
 
Eliza Rosenia (Rose)  B 25 Dec 1868 N. Oxford  D 19 Mar 1965 Pt Huron, Mi. 
 
Ellen Victoria (Helen)  B 13 July 1871 N. Oxford  D 01 Sept 1947 Beachville, Ont. 
 
John Arthur   B 31 Aug 1874 N. Oxford  D 08 Jan 1961 Detroit, Mi. 
 
Albert James  B 31 Mar 1877 N. Oxford D 20 Dec 1950 Lot 19 Con 2 N Oxford 
 
Melissa Jane (Maggie) B 09 Sept 1879 N. Oxford D unknown Plymouth/Detroit, Mi. 
 
Frederick Edwin  B May 1882 N. Oxford   D 21 Oct 1883 North Oxford * 
*Buried with parents in IRC. 
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John Rogers Elliott Family Tree 
(Oldest son of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers) 

                                                                                   Spouse 1                   Spouse 2                  Spouse 3 

John Rogers  
Elliott 

1839 - 1912 

Eliza 
Rosenia (Rose) 

Elliott 
1868 - 1965 

Ellen Victoria 
(Helen) 
Elliott 

1871 -1947 

Henry Dodd 
1877 – 19? 

Grant 
Burdette 

Defoe 
1880 - 1939 

Albert James 
Elliott 

1877 - 1950 

Alex Smith 
1872 - 1964 

Elizabeth 
(Betsy) 

Johnson 
1845 - 1885 

Henrietta 
Elliott 

1865 - 1944 

John Arthur 
Elliott 

1874 - 1961 

Maude 
Cutriss 

1877 - 1969 

Mellisa Jane 
(Maggie) 

Elliott 
1879 – 196? 

Frederick 
Edwin 
Elliott 

1882 - 1883 

Elizabeth 
Johnson 

1845 - 1885 

“Katy” 
Rosanna 

Thompson 
1813 - 1886 

William 
Thompson 

1788 - 1831  
 

Elizabeth 

Orpha Myrtle 
Amelia 

Withrow 
1881 - 1960 

Pheobe 
Thorn 

1842 - 1892 

Rosina 
Gettler 

1852 - 1921 

Charles 
Mapes 

1865 – 1927 

John 
Downing 

1848 - 1938 

Euhil Wilson 
Clark 

1860 - 1919 

Levi 
Johnson 

1808 - 1883 

Trueman 
Johnson 

17? - 1812 

Sarah 
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John Rogers Elliott (commonly known as JR Elliott) was born in Marwood Parish, Devon.  The original 
Devon tithe map shows his grandfather, John Elliott, and family living in two locations: Prixford Barton 
farm and a house in Muddiford.  I suspect that JR was born in one of those locations. 
 
 
 
 

 
At the age of two, he was the youngest traveler of the Elliott group that migrated in 1843.  It appears he 
came over with his father William and mother Eliza Rogers as per the Devon Emigration list of 1843 that 
was compiled by English genealogists and noted in patriarch John Elliott’s family chapter.  There is some 
speculation that his mother and father did not accompany that main family core but perhaps came over 
on a separate ship.  His uncle John Jr. appears to have been in the Scarboro region for several years 
before the rest of the family arrived. 
 
J R Elliott birth registration 1841.  Marwood Parish Devonshire 
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Lists of Elliott’s that travelled to Canada from Devon in 1843: (Devon Emigration list) 
Highlighted in RED are known ancestors: 
 
 Name                         location          destination                     administrator 

Elliott Eliza Marwood Ontario 1843 Raymond Blight devonian47@gmail.com 

Elliott Harriet Bucks Mills Port Hope, Ontario Janet Few jfewhistory@gmail.com 

Elliott Henry Bucks Mills Port Hope, Ontario Janet Few jfewhistory@gmail.com 

Elliott James Marwood Ontario 1843 Raymond Blight devonian47@gmail.com 

Elliott John Marwood Ontario 1843 Raymond Blight devonian47@gmail.com 

Elliott John Bucks Mills Port Hope Ont. Janet Few jfewhistory@gmail.com 

Elliott John Hartland Ingersoll, Ontario D.F.H.S. journal   

Elliott Mary Marwood Ontario 1843 Raymond Blight devonian47@gmail.com 

Elliott Samuel Marwood Ontario 1843 Raymond Blight devonian47@gmail.com 

Elliott Thomas Marwood Ontario 1843 Raymond Blight devonian47@gmail.com 

Elliott W./Seldon Hartland Oxford, Ontario Joyce Groves ligroves@execulink.com 

Elliott William Marwood Ontario 1843 Raymond Blight devonian47@gmail.com 

 
                                                     Likely child J R Elliott 
Elliott W/Seldon is William (alias Elliott) Seldon that married JR’s aunt Marie and arrived in 1846. 
As noted in his grandfather’s bio, upon arrival and living in the Port Hope/Scarborough Ont. area, the 
family moved to Oxford Co.  When he arrived in Oxford County in 1844, the exact location where JR 
lived is not known.  Did he live with his grandfather and grandmother at Lot 7 of Concession 1 West 
Zorra township at the original family homestead?  Did his family build a shanty to live in while on the 
property?  Did his father and mother have a house nearby?  He likely moved with his parents William 
and Eliza to East Nissouri township as soon as they could secure property.  JR’s brother Thomas Gould 
Elliott was born in 1847 and his obituary lends credence to the fact that the family was living in East 
Nissouri at his birth. 
 

THOMAS G. ELLIOTT 

Death at noon on Saturday, May 5th, claimed one of Ingersoll's oldest pioneers in the person of 

Thomas G. Elliott. The deceased who was sin (sp) his 98th year, was born near Lakeside, E 

Nissouri. Chronicle  
 
As noted in JR’s father’s bio, JR can be found in the 1851 Upper Canada census as living in a shanty on 
his father’s 50-acre homestead of Lot 18 Con 11 in East Nissouri township in what is now the location of 
the village of Kintore.  Onland.ca Ontario records indicate the family was living on the E. Nissouri lot 
prior to 1850 before purchasing it.  Where they were living between 1844 and 1846 remains unknown. 
 
By the time of the 1851 census JR was 11 years old.  Due to the deaths of 2 younger siblings as noted in 
his father William’s chapter, there was a large 7-year gap in ages between JR and his living younger 
siblings. 
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1851 Census of E Nissouri township 

 
 
JR likely worked on his father’s farm as a farm labourer.  No record was found to indicate he went to 
school but the 1861 census indicates that he was able to read and write. 
The Nissouri family farm was sold in 1856 according to Ontario deed records at Onland.ca.  At this point, 
William Elliott moved the family to Huron Co. to another homestead purchased in conjunction with 
William’s father John, also per Onland.ca.  However, JR did not accompany the rest of the family.  He 
would have been around 15 or 16 years old at the time.  Census records of 1861 show him as age 20 
living and working as a farm labourer on his uncle Thomas’ farm at Lot 15 Con 3 in North Oxford.  This 
farm lot would be the present day Cameuse Lime Co. open pit mine located north of the CNR tracks and 
east of the Ingersoll Rural Cemetery. 
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1861 Census of N. Oxford with JR living with his uncle Thomas and family. 

 
 
 
 
Ancestry.ca registration record of marriages  

So why did he not go with the family to Huron 
County?  It would only be speculation on my part 
as to why not.  His father did appear to be a loose 
cannon and perhaps there was a conflict between 
them.  Maybe he had his eye on his future bride, 
Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson, who lived in the village 
of Centerville which lay across the Thames River 
from his uncle Thomas’s farm.   
His father William abandoned the family in 1866 
and moved with another woman to Minnesota.  
His mother Eliza likely immediately moved her 
children back to Ingersoll and was found on the 
1871 census living in the town with her remaining 
children that still lived at home. 
JR and Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson were married on 
20 Sept 1864.  He was 25 and she was 17.   
Of note in this marriage, JR was a Bible Christian 
Methodist and later referred to his religion as 
Salvation Army.  The Johnson’s were Baptists.  The 
marriage union of such divergent religious sects 

was not often seen in the 1860’s.  Later censuses listed Betsy as Methodist. 
 

 
Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson, first wife and mother of the JR Elliott family 
 
Not much has been discovered about Betsy.  Her age is calculated on her tombstone to the day.  It 
appears she was born around the 17th of February 1848.  Betsy Johnson was born to Levi Johnson and 
“Katy” Rosanna Thompson of Centerville, Ont.  Rosanna was also known as Rosina and Rosenia.  Around 
1850 the township of W Oxford was divided into wards.  A brick school that Betsy would attend was 
built at that time on Broken Front Concession, Lot 15 about 6 chains length south of old highway 2 at 
Mill Rd.   
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My two times great Grandfather Levi Johnson Circa 1875 (courtesy Robert Johnson) 

 
Censuses mention that Levi was American born.  One of his 
son’s marriage records indicate he was born in New York 
State.  Betsy’s mother Rosenia was born in 1813 in or near St. 
Thomas, Elgin Co. Upper Canada (Ontario).  Betsy’s parents 
married in 1828 when Levi was 20 and Rosenia was 15 years 
old.  Levi’s 1828 marriage would have indicated that the 
Johnson’s were relatively early settlers in the Ingersoll region.  
They appear to have lived their entire lives in Centerville.  
During the early 1830s and 1840s, Centerville was competing 
with the future town of Ingersoll as the site of the main 
industrial center in the area.  Centerville came into existence 
in the 1790s, whereas Woodstock and Ingersoll did not see 
populations until the 1820s and 30s.  In its prime, Centerville 
had a grist mill, flour mill, a sawmill, a tannery, two 
blacksmiths and a fanning mill* 
*Fanning mills removed straw, chaff, stones, dirt and dust, weed seeds, 

and light immature seeds from wheat, oats, rye, barley, and other grains. 

   
                                                                                                   A fanning mill - Wikipedia 
 
Centerville occupied an area along todays Mill Street from Karn Rd north past old Highway 2 (now 
Beachville Rd) and continued north in West Oxford township up to the old Thames River edge, before it 
was diverted in the 1950s.  The river at that time would have meandered along about where the CNR 
tracks are today.  Up to the 1870s when the limestone kilns were first installed, Mill St. also continued to 
the north until it came to the original Thames water route.  Reynolds Creek used to run from the 
Centreville Pond to the original Thames riverway.  At the congruences of the creek and river was one of 
the oldest grist mills in southern Ontario.  JR Elliott’s uncle Thomas owned land north and south of the 
present Mill Rd and old Highway 2 intersection in the 1860s to 1870s.  It is likely that the Johnson family 
lived in the area.  Onland.ca records show the sale of Thomas Elliott and Levi Johnson properties at Lot 
15, Broken Front concession West Oxford in the Centerville area. 
 
There has been no record on the Onland.ca site to indicate that Levi bought land at Broken Front 
Concession Lot 15 West Oxford.  It could be speculated that the War of 1812 land grant that Levi’s 
mother Elizabeth received after his father Truman’s military death may have been the land in question.  
The story of Truman Johnson is noted farther into the family story. 
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Page 1 Johnson property transfers – Onland.ca 
                        Type of sale    Date signed      Date completed   Seller 

 

 
On the 31st of October 1877 there was a land ownership transfer from Thomas Elliott to the entire 
Johnson family.  This is a total of 10 acres of Lot 15 Broken Front Concession of W Oxford (Centreville - 
north of old Beachville Rd – Highway #2 road from Ingersoll to Beachville).  At the time, if women owned 
property, their husbands also had to be listed thus the references to “wife of” in the document.  A 
portion of this property was sold to the Credit Valley RR for right of way purposes for a new (and still 
existing) rail line. 
 
Thomas Elliott also sold 3 acres to Levi’s son and Betsy’s brother Thomas in 1866. 
 

 
 
“Bill of Sale   11 Oct, 1866   Thomas Elliott & wife to Thomas Johnson   5 acres” 
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Present day map with Johnson property of 1870s noted. 

 
 
 
 

Mill Street 
extension in 1860s: 

likely Johnson 
residence and T. 
Elliott property 

Transferred in 1877 

to Johnson family 

Centerville and Mill 

Street today 

River course today 
Ingersoll Rural 

Cemetery 

Thomas Elliott 200 
acre farm. 

 

Grand Trunk RR 
now CNR 

JR Elliott 2 acres beside rail 
line 1871-1890 

Water filled quarry 

pit 

Original Thames 

River course 
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Betsy’s father Levi seemed to be a man of many talents.  Various censuses through the decades had him 
listed as a mechanic, carpenter, painter, and furniture maker.  Rosenia Thompson and Levi were married 
in 1828.  He died on the 17th of November 1883 and is buried in IRC.  Rosenia was born near St. Thomas, 
Ontario in 1813 and according to Ontario death records died the 21st of October 1886 of heart disease.  
Later in life, censuses indicated that Rosenia did not know how to write although husband Levi could.  
Rosenia was the daughter of Scotsman William Thompson and his wife Sarah.  It appears Rosinia’s 
mother Sarah died at a relatively young age and no gravesite has been found.  William lived out his life 
as a widower in St. Thomas Ont. until his death in 1871. 
 
Substantial evidence has been found of Betsy’s grandfather and my three times great grandfather, 
Truman Johnson.  It appears that he was born in New York State but the date is not known.  His wife was 
named Elizabeth and she was likely American as well.  No birth date has been located for either.  He 
moved to Centerville in the early 1800’s.  Interestingly, Truman was not long in Upper Canada when he 
fought for the Canadian side in the War of 1812 and died while on sentry duty around the time of the 
Battle of Queenstown Heights near Niagara Falls on the 13th October 1812.  I have gone through some 
Canadian government records and found a ‘Trueman’ Johnson of Oxford township having been a private 
in the Oxford Militia.  The records indicate he had died of disease while serving with the Militia.  His 
widow was Elizabeth Johnson.  The fact that he served in the Oxford Brigade and his widow was named 
Elizabeth, which has been verified in a few Ancestry trees, are strong indicators that Trueman Johnson 
was Betsy’s grandfather.  Many Johnson descendants have Trueman as their names as well.  I suspect 
that Trueman moved from New York to Centerville around 1805.  When the War of 1812 began, he took 
up arms for his new country and made the ultimate sacrifice.  Johnson genealogists have searched for 
his grave in various cemeteries in the Niagara peninsula where the battles to took place.  No grave has 
yet been uncovered. 
 
Government land grant records of 1812-1814 indicate that Trueman was an army private in the 1st 
Oxford Militia.  Other records have him listed as a sergeant. 
 

 
 
 
 
 



11 
 

 
Elizabeth Johnson’s Claimant to Provisions from the Upper Canada government after her husband’s war 
death. 

 
Translation of previous document – courtesy of “From Forest to Field”. 
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The War of 1812 

“The War of 1812 was fought between Britain and the United States from 1812 to 1814. The main cause 
of the War of 1812 was Britain’s actions during the Napoleonic Wars (1799–1815).  Firstly, the British set 
up a naval blockade of the United States east coast to stop supplies from getting to France. This made 
the Americans upset as they wished to trade with France.  Anger turned to outrage when the British 
navy began to board American ships.  Britain did this because it thought the Americans were continuing 
to trade with France.  They were also looking for deserters from the British navy.  In 1807, tensions 
between the Americans and the British rose when a British ship fired on an American ship in Chesapeake 
Bay.  In May 1811, tensions rose even more when officers on a British ship “impressed” (forced) an 
American sailor to join the British navy.  British relations with First Nations people were another source 
of American distrust.  Britain traded with First Nations people living in American territory.  Furthermore, 
Britain established a good relationship with Tecumseh, the Chief of the Shawnee.  During the first 
decade of the 18th century, Tecumseh united many different First Nations to fight against the US.  In 
1811, Tecumseh’s forces and the United States went to war. This war is called “Tecumseh’s War.”  It 
lasted from 1811 until 1813. 

Around this time, “War Hawks” or groups of war mongering US congressmen were becoming more 
numerous.  The “War Hawks” wanted the United States to go to war with Britain.  In 1812, they got their 
wish.  On 18 June 1812, President Madison declared war on Britain.  The American congress felt an 
attack on Upper Canada would be an easy victory as there were few British regular soldiers in the colony 
and majority of the settlers in Upper Canada were American natives.  The feeling was that these US 
settlers would not join the Canadian volunteers and would welcome the American conquest.  This 
proved wrong.  The war lasted for two years. The British side was comprised of soldiers from Britain, 
militiamen from Canada, Métis, First Nations warriors, and a group known as the “Coloured Corps.”.  
Many men in the Coloured Corps. had been slaves.  Some of the more important battles of the War of 
1812 were fought at Fort Detroit, York (now Toronto), Fort George (at the mouth of the Niagara River), 
Moraviantown (the Chatham-Kent region in Ontario), and Queenston (Niagara-on-the-Lake).  Most 
notably the American White House was burned during an attack on Washington DC.  Thousands were 
killed and/or wounded during the campaign.  The war resulted in a stalemate with both sides claiming 
victory.  The War of 1812 had many lasting consequences.  It guaranteed Canada’s independence from 
the United States.  It also gave the population of British North America (Canada) its first sense of acting 
as a community.  This would help develop a sense of nationhood.  Finally, after the war, the United 
States expanded westward into First Nations territory instead of north into Canada.  As a result, the War 
of 1812 was disastrous for First Nations peoples. 

The Battle at Queenston Heights was the largest and most pivotal of the battles.  Heroes were made of 
Gen. Sir Isaac Brook who died leading the defensive troops during the American attack on the Niagara 
Falls.  Laura Ingersoll Secord, the daughter of James Ingersoll, the founder of Ingersoll Ontario was also 
made famous by her 30-kilometer overnight trek through the Niagara peninsula to warn the Canadians 
of immanent attack by the American forces at Beaver Dams.” 
Wikipedia. 

 
It appears that Sargeant Truman Johnson died of disease that was contracted while on guard duty at 
Queenston Heights sometime during the conflict.  As previously mentioned, his burial location is likely at 
one of several military cemeteries in the vicinity.   
 
 

https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/napoleonic-wars
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/first-nations
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/tecumseh
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/article/armed-forces
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/metis
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/the-coloured-corps-african-canadians-and-the-war-of-1812
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/toronto
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/battle-of-fort-george
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/article/niagara-river
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/battle-of-the-thames-moraviantown
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/chatham-kent
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/battle-of-queenston-heights
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/niagara-on-the-lake
https://thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/british-north-america
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Map of Niagara Peninsula 1812. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                     Painting depicting Oct 13, 1812 attack at Queenston Heights. 
 
 
 
                                                                    Monument to General Brock, Queenston Heights. 
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This a list of the soldiers in the 1st Regiment of the Oxford Militia.  It is amazing to see the number of 
deserters.  War of 1812 Oxford Militia document courtesy Ingersoll Library 
 

 
“Sergeant Truman Johnson - Died of disease contracted while on sentry.” 
 A more in-depth study of the Battle of Queenston Heights can be found in the link below. 
 
https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/battle-of-queenston-heights 
 

https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/battle-of-queenston-heights


15 
 

Truman’s son Levi was only 4 years old when Truman died.  It is believed that Levi and his wife Rosenia 
lived the rest of their lives in Centerville.  Her burial location is beside her husband at IRC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
JR Elliott and Betsy Johnson and family times 

 
As noted, JR and Betsy married on the 20th of Sept 1864.  Like her mother 
who married at 15, Betsy married at a young age, she was 17 and JR was 
25. 
After their marriage, it is believed that JR and Betsy lived in Centerville for 
a short time.  They either lived near Betsy’s parents or perhaps in the same 
wood frame house.  JR’s oldest child Henrietta (Hattie) was born there in 
August of 1865.  She went on to marry into the Downing family who were 
owners of the lime quarries in the river valley between Centerville and 
Beachville. 
In March 1866, JR left his wife and baby at home as he and his younger 
brother Thomas enlisted in the local militia (5th Brigade Oxford Rifles: 
nicknamed the Ingersoll Invincibles) to fight in the Fenian Raids.   A 
website called Heroes of Zorra lists him as having lived in Zorra township 
(the present area that encompasses what was E Nissouri, W Zorra and N 
Oxford) when he was in the militia.   

The Fenian Raids are not a well-known historical event in Canada.  It was the last time that Canadian soil 
had been invaded and fighting occurred sporadically from 1865 to 1870.   
 
In a nutshell, a group of Irish patriots believed that by successfully invading Canada via the United States 
and holding it hostage, they could force the English to allow the Irish island to have full independence.  
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They raised funds in the United States and Ireland from the large number of Irish expats and nationalist 
and kitted out and hired well trained former Confederate soldiers that where jobless and disillusioned.  
This semi organized group stormed the border.  The American government seemed unconcerned and in 
fact some society elements and politicians were supportive.  The Fenian’s believed that the largely Irish, 
Scottish and American immigrants in Canada would welcome them with open arms.  They were 
immensely wrong about the patriotic fever.  The mostly rural citizens of Canada answered the call to 
defend their newly formed country.  Farmers abandoned their fields to help the cause. The battles were 
more like skirmishes but there were casualties.  The most prominent battle was at the village of 
Ridgeway, Ont. near Thorold, Ont.  The Battle of Ridgeway was the last battle in which Canadian troops 
were killed on their own soil defending their country.   
 
The link below is an excellent read about the events.  
 

https://en.m.wikisource.org/wiki/Troublous_Times_in_Canada:_A_History_of_the_Fenian_Raids_of_18
66_and_1870 

 
“Tramp, tramp, tramp, our boys are marching 
       Cheer up, let the Fenian’s come! 
For beneath the Union Jack we’ll drive the rabble back 
        And fight for our beloved Canadian home.” 
                                                                      Marching song: Fenian Raids 
 

JR and his younger brother Thomas were mustered early in March 1866 into the 5th Brigade, 22nd 
Battalion (formerly the Oxford Rifles), Ingersoll Volunteer Rifle 5th Company.   
According to family lore, he mustered with other volunteers just west of Beachville along the old 
Highway #2 or what is now known as the Beachville Road.  The militia marched five miles east to 
Woodstock then went by train to Windsor for border guard duty.  This recollection by JR’s daughter and 
my Great Aunt Rose seems to be borne out by “The History of Embro and W Zorra” written by Dean 
Robinson and published in 2008. 
It shows 2 orders given to local companies during mustering. 

 
Later in June 1866, the Ingersoll Co. was reassigned to Thorold/Ridgeway where the main battle was 
fought.  There is no record to show that JR was involved in the battle or was there strictly as 
reinforcement.  
He received the General Service Medal awarded by the Canadian government for his services.  The 
medal is still in the family.  Later, surviving veterans were also granted 100 acres of land in the 

https://en.m.wikisource.org/wiki/Troublous_Times_in_Canada:_A_History_of_the_Fenian_Raids_of_1866_and_1870
https://en.m.wikisource.org/wiki/Troublous_Times_in_Canada:_A_History_of_the_Fenian_Raids_of_1866_and_1870
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Kapuskasing area of N Ontario to encourage settlement there.  I have no idea whether JR pursued this 
property option. 

 
Duplication of Battle of Ridgeway – Wikipedia Image 
Photo below from “From Forest to Farm -History of N Oxford” book 
This is not JR’s #5 Ingersoll Co.  This is #8 W Zorra Co. 
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He also applied for a $100 bounty for the Fenian raids offered by the government just months before his death and 
56 years after the event.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
*His CO Lt. Col. Wonham left notes on the side of the form to indicate he remembered J R. Elliott”  

 Lt. Col. “William George Wonham (1819-?), Provincial Land Surveyor, Ingersoll. b. England 1819.  
Resided in Ingersoll by 1851.  Drew the 1857 Tremaine Map of Oxford County.  Married with four 
children but became a widower in 1860.  Wonham Street in Ingersoll is named for him.  During the early 
1880s Wonham left Ingersoll for the Northwest to take employment with the Dominion Department of 
the Interior. In 1884, in an interview with the Winnipeg Times, his talked of his work in the Rocky 
Mountains included surveying a national park [Banff] for the Dominion Government.” Wikipedia 
 
Luckily for most of the rural volunteers, the scrimmages were mostly over by July of 1866 and the 
farmers could return to the always important harvest season.  There appears to have been one casualty 
in the Oxford Co. Regiment.  He was from Woodstock. 
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For several years after the Fenian raids, JR continued to military drill with the Ingersoll Company.  
Below is a pay list for his practice with the Ingersoll Co. for 1868.  Brother Thomas is also noted as 
participating in the drills. 

 
Ingersoll Library source. 

 
After the war service JR returned to his family.  Likely he remained living on Mill Rd. for a few years and 
it appears that he had his own home by late 1867. 
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Further proof of their home in Centerville can be found in the 1867 Ingersoll Gazetteer.  JR and Betsy 
and Levi Johnson likely lived on adjacent lots.  Onland.ca records indicate that both JR and Levi lived on 
¼ acre lots cut out of the broken front concession Lot 15 of W Oxford.  This indicated that they lived in 
the village of Centerville north of the intersection of old Highway #2 and Mill St.  
 

 
 
 
The 1871 census had JR and Betsy and their 2 oldest daughters moving to N. Oxford township across the 
Thames River from Centerville.  Family names listed in the 1871 census were still found near JR’s 
homestead even in the days of my youth: Sandick, Riddick and Crawford were family names that still 
farmed along the river when I was growing up.  Onland.ca records listed a John Elliott purchasing two 
acres from his uncle Thomas in 1871.  This was 2 acres of Con 3 Lot 15 N. Oxford adjacent to the Grand 
Trunk RR right of way.  I suspect that JR and family had a house built on that property where they could 
raise pigs and chickens while he worked as a labourer on a nearby farm.  It could be possible that he was 
still a farm hand on his uncle Thomas’ farm.   
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Further evidence that he raised pigs can be found by this article from a farm journal of the time 

 
 
Record for Con 3 Lot 14 N Oxford. 

  

 
*There is some confusion in the Gazetteer of the time as to whether JR lived on Lot 14 or 15. 
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By 1882, JR and Betsy had a string of children. 
Henrietta (Hattie)  B 25 Aug 1865 Centerville  D 15 Feb 1944 “Riverside” Beachville Ont. 
Eliza Rosenia (Rose)  B 25 Dec 1868 N. Oxford D 19 Mar 1965 Pt Huron Mi. 
Ellen Victoria (Helen)  B 13 July 1871 N. Oxford  D 01 Sept 1947 Beachville Ont. 
John Arthur   B 31 Aug 1874 N. Oxford  D 08 Jan 1961 Detroit Mi. 
Albert James  B 31 Mar 1877 N Oxford D 20 Dec 1950 Lot 19 Con 2 N Oxford 
Melissa Jane (Maggie) B 09 Sept 1879 N Oxford D unknown Plymouth/Detroit, Mi. 
Frederick Edwin  B May 1883 N. Oxford   D 21 Oct 1883 North Oxford  
 
Fredrick Edwin would be born May 1883 but died in October of the same year.  

 

    Freddy Elliott grave marker with his parents 
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1881 census North Oxford Township. 

 
 
I cannot speak to the family dynamics but they appeared to be a relative healthy group as no more 
young children were lost to disease.  The children were in school at Dunn’s Corners up the concession 
road.  
 
Then the wheels fell off. 
 
On the 6th of January 1885, Elizabeth “Betsy” Elliott died of a heart attack while giving birth to a 
premature baby at the family home.  She was 37 years old.  Her surviving children living at home would 
have ranged in age from 5 to 16 years.  Henrietta, the oldest at age 18, was married by 1885 and was no 
longer living at her family home.  Being the oldest daughter, that left Rose as the “mother” at age 16.  It 
must have been devastating for the family.  As most men were in that era, JR probably had no 
knowledge or ability to care for the younger children.  Hopefully, his extended family would have 
helped.   
Betsy’s death was likely traumatic for her mother as well as she died the following year. 
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Death Schedule for Oxford Co. showing Betsy’s death registration January 1886.  It indicates she 
suffered an “embolism following premature birth” 

 
 

 
Elizabeth “Betsy” Elliott tomb marker is located down the south 
slope of IRC from the Elliott family markers but still in section H. 
 
After a suitable mourning period, JR’s priority would have been 
to remarry and supply a new mother for his gaggle of children. 
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Second wife of JR Elliott: Phoebe Ward  
 
JR married Phoebe Ward Thorn on the 29th of September 1886, 
about 8 months after Betsy’s death.   
Phoebe Ward was born about 1842 in Norwich, Oxford Co. Ont.  
Her parents Alfred and Sarah were farmers that emigrated from 
New York state.  When Phoebe was 19, she married Joseph 
Thorn, a labourer from Dereham Township, Oxford.   
Phoebe lost her husband due to “hemorrhaging of the lungs” on 
the 27th of February, 1886.  Both Phoebe and JR lost their 
spouses within weeks of each other.  Their wedding took place 
at his oldest daughter Henrietta’s “Riverside” home.  Daughter 
Henrietta had married John Downing and the house now stands 
as the Beachville Museum. 
 
 

Marriage Schedule for John 
Elliott and Phoebe Thorn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Five years later, by the time of the 1891 census, the family was no longer recognizable.  

 
Phoebe and JR only had two children living with them, Albert J and Winnie T. 
Henrietta had married.  Rose was married to a Charles Mapes and had moved to Woodstock.  She had 
her 10-year-old sister Maggie living with her.  Oldest son John Arthur was only 16 at the time but likely 
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in conflict with his father or stepmother which led him to no longer be living with the family.  He was 
located boarding in Woodstock and working as a 16-year-old leather trimmer for the Siggans Carriage 
Co. in Woodstock.   He was destined to move to Detroit, Michigan by 1897.  Daughter Ellen (Nettie) was 
sent to live and work as a domestic at her older sister Henrietta Downing’s “Riverside” home.  I suspect 
that she went there right after her mother died.  She would have been 13 years old. 
The 1891 census lists a Winnie T, age 8, with the family.  The census and many Ancestry.ca trees indicate 
that she was JR and first wife Betsy’s daughter.  Winnie was Phoebe’s daughter.   Phoebe had one other 
daughter, Ellen May Thorne from a previous marriage.  This older daughter would have been about 25 
years old and likely married by 1891.  Winnie’s age of 8 on the census would mean she would have been 
born about 1883.  Mathematically, Winnie could have been JR and Betsy’s child, as deceased child Fred 
Edwin was born May of 1882.  Winnie could have arrived in 1883 before Betsy was pregnant again in the 
summer of 1884.  That pregnancy was the one that killed her. 
But with the spacing of births of their other children and Betsy’s advancing years, I have my doubts that 
this timeline was likely.  More about Winnie T later.   
JR and family were stunned once again when Phoebe died on 20 Mar 1892 after suffering consumption 
(Tuberculosis) for 6 months.  Consumption was the leading cause of death in Oxford County during the 
late 1890s to the 1910s.  She was only 50 years old. 
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Phoebe’s mispelled tomb marker is shared with JR, first 
wife Betsy and JR’s son Freddy.  Phoebe is on the west 
facing side of the marker. 
JR was once again a widower with 15-year-old Arthur 
James and 9-year-old Winnie T living at home.  
As noted, Winnie’s name had never come up in my Elliott 
family discussions through the years so I was skeptical 
that she was a direct relative.    
That was proven to be the case. 
 

The mysterious Winnie T 
 
The 1901 census proves that Winnie was not JR’s child but 
Phoebe’s child from her previous marriage.  After 
Phoebe’s death, Winnie was sent to live with her aunt and 
uncle George and Mary Hogarth.  Their 1901 census listed 

her as a niece and her full name was given as Winnie 
Thorn, age 18, living with her aunt and uncle’s family in Bruce Co. Ontario.  Her mother and father had 
previously lived in this area in the 1871 census prior to Winnie’s birth. 
Ancestry records show that Winnie went on to marry a William Wilson Miller and lived in Tara, Ont.  
They eventually moved to Regina in 1911 as per the 1911 census and by 1921 she and her family were 
homesteading outside Moose Jaw.   
 
1871 Bruce Co. census. 
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Birth of Winnie’s son 1905 Bruce Co. 

 
 
Around the time of Phoebe’s death, JR appeared to decide to change his life.  He sold his property and 
livestock in 1890 but continued to live in North Oxford up to the time of Phoebe’s death.  Three years 

later, The Ingersoll Gazetteer of 1895 had him 
living a house at the end of Carnegie Street in 
north east Ingersoll.  There is nothing in 
property transfer records to show he owned 
the house.  However, his younger brother 
Thomas Gould Elliott owned several lots on 
Carnegie St during this time.  I suspect JR was 
renting one of his brother’s houses.  Whether 
son Albert moved with him is speculative.  
Winnie had moved in with her aunt by that 
time. 
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Third Wife of JR Elliott: Rosina Gettler (Getler) 
 
By 1895, JR had remarried once again.  This time he married Ingersoll resident Rosina Gettler.  Rosina’s 
maiden name was Day and she came from a large clan that farmed outside of Thamesford, Ont., a small 
community 7 km to the north west of Ingersoll.  
Rosina Day Getler was born and raised in E Nissouri township (just north of Thamesford).  Her parents 
John and Eliza were from the US.  There was a large contingent of Day family in the area as she grew up.  
Rosina was in her late 20s when she married John Gettler.  He was 25 years her senior and he already 
had several children living in the family home.  They lived in Fullerton Township, Perth Co. where John 
was a farmer.   
He died on the 11th of January 1893.  Rosina returned without her stepchildren to her Day family near 
Ingersoll.  Of the Gettler children Rosena left behind, the youngest was 16 when his father died.  The 
children were to fend for themselves.  The youngest two boys were found as lodgers in Listowel Ont. in 
the 1901 census. 
 
JR and Rosina were living separately in Ingersoll just prior to their marriage in 1895.  JR as mentioned 
before was likely renting from his brother and Rosina was a boarder in the house on the corner of 
Francis and Earl streets. 
 
Ingersoll Directory 1894 
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Marriage Schedule for Oxford 1895 
 

 
The couple married on the 3rd of April 1895.   
Although the marriage certificate has JR at age 50,  
he was 53.  Rosina was 43 years old.   
 
 
Within months the couple were living on Cherry St. in 
Port Huron, Michigan.  I cannot locate any specific reason 
that they moved to Port Huron in 1896.  However, according 
to various censuses, Rosina’s mother was from Michigan 
even though Rosina was born in Canada.  Rosina’s older sister 
Janet moved to Port Huron in 1880.  Janet and Rosina are 
buried together in the Day Plot in the Zion cemetery in 
Thamesford, Ontario.  I suspect the closeness of the two 
sister was a factor in the move.  In fact, younger sisters Lilly 
(Day) Eshelby and Edna (Day) Carey both moved to Port 
Huron a few years after Rosina and JR. 
 
 
 
Rosenia (Rose) Elliott, JR’s daughter via wife Betsy had been 
married and living in Woodstock.  She would move to Port 
Huron by 1900.   
Several other cousins also made Port Huron their home for 
many decades.  Several found employment with the railroads 
that had border shunting and transfer railyards there.  A 
significant number of Elliott clan can still be found in the Port 
Huron region. 
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1900 US Census Pt Huron 

 
 
Although hard to read, the 1900 US census for Port Huron indicated that the couple moved there in 
1896. 
 
Although I have found no record of JR or Rosina applying for US citizenship, his death certificate 
indicated he was a naturalized American.   
The Port Huron Herald society page found that JR was often visited by his children.   
 
Pt Huron Herald 24 June 1896 

 

 
Port Huron Herald Aug 1896 
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The 1900 Port Huron census listed JR as a day labourer.  
1906 Port Huron Directory showed that John R was a janitor. 
 

 
                 For a town with a population of 2000 souls at the time, there was a disproportional 
number of Elliott’s.  Many were related and with roots in Ingersoll.  

 
I believe that JR may have been a music fan as shown 
by this 16 Jan 1906 article in the Port Huron Times 
Herald 
 
The local paper noted what schools he worked at and 
what his wages were.  
He was also hurt while working as a janitor. 
 
 
 

Source: 07 Sept and 26 Mar, 1906 Port Huron Times Herald  
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   18 April, 1908 Port Huron Times Herald 

 
 
 
In1908, after years of renting, JR and 
Rosina purchased a home at 917 Garfield 
St. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
By January of 1912, JR’s health was deteriorating.  His death certificate indicated he had been ill for 
some time.  It was noted in the local Port Huron society columns that he made a few trips to visit his 
relatives and children in his last years.  He may have known that this may have been the last trips he 
would make.  However, there was never any indications that he socialized with daughter Rose.  She was 
a high-profile pillar in the social fabric of Port Huron’s society.  More detail in Rose’s Chapter.  

 
 
25 Jan, 1912 JR suffers a mild stroke (Mrs. Alex Smith is daughter Nellie) Port Huron Herald 
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Nov 13 and Nov 15 1912 Pt Huron Times Herald 

 
JR suffered a second stroke 11 Nov 1912 and died 15 Nov 1912. He is buried beside his first wife Betsy 
Johnson, his second wife Phoebe Thorn and young son Freddie in IRC. 
 

One thing of interest on his death 
certificate is the name of the 
informant, John Elliott of Port 
Huron. 
I am at a loss to identify who this 
John Elliott was.  The closest 
relative by that name that JR had 
was his son John Arthur Elliott but 
he was living in Detroit at that 
time and not Pt. Huron.  JR’s 
inscription is on the east side of 
his marker.  His first 2 wives and 
son Freddy are on the other sides. 
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Rosina continued to live in Port Huron on Garfield St.  Later when she was ill, she lived with either her 
brother-in-law and sister Daniel and Edna Carey or with her sister Janet King.  She died 10 Feb 1921.  
Port Huron Herald Aug 28, 1915 

 

 
She was buried at the Zion Hill Cemetery near Thamesford, Ont. with her sister Janet King.  
This is the cemetery, where at last count, 91 of her Day family and relatives are buried. 
 
JR kept a low profile throughout his life.  He probably had limited formal schooling and had no father 
figure in his life.  He appears to have worked hard at manual labour his entire life and was dealt serious 
family tragedies with the death of two wives.  His children, as was common of the times, started to 
move farther from the family home to the lure of industrial jobs in Michigan.  It was only a matter of 
time that JR would find himself across the border as well. 
Unlike many of his siblings, uncles, and aunts, he did not acquire any wealth or status. 
 
 

Next:  Chapter 2-2  
Oldest daughter: Henrietta Elliott Downing 
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Book 7 
Chapter 2 - 2: 

Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Oldest Child of John Rogers Elliott and Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson 

 

Henrietta (Hattie) Elliott Downing  
 

Table of Contents:  
 

Henrietta “Hattie” Elliott and John Downing  Pg 1 
 

Henrietta’s Family Tree     Pg 2 
 
  Son John Frederick Downing    Pg 8 
 

Son Charles E Downing     Pg 8 
 
  Daughter Mary Downing Graham   Pg 11 
 
  Riverside the House     Pg 12 
 
  Henrietta’s Family Tree     Pg 18 
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Henrietta (Elliott) Downing Family Tree  
Henrietta – oldest child of JR and Betsy Elliott 

 
                                                                                    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Hildred Anetta 
Mason 

1896 - 1963 
 

Mary 
Downing 

1897 - 1995 

Peter Murray 
Graham 

1900 - 1976 

Henrietta 
“Hattie” 

Elliott 
1865 – 1944 

 

 
 
 
 

Margaret 
McGill 

1890 - 1985 
 

Elizabeth  
“Betsy” 
Johnson 

1845 - 1885 

Charles 
Edward 

1887 - 1957 
 

John Rogers 
Elliott 

1841 - 1912 

John Grant 
Downing 

1913 - 1915 

John 
Frederick 
Downing 

1885 - 1962 
 

Marion  
Eileen  

Downing 
1919 - 2006 

Spouse: 
 Ralph Kilcup 

Bill Edward 
Downing 

1916 – 2003 
Spouse: 

Inez Hendrie 

Twin girls 
1921 

Lived a few 
hours 

John Downing 
1848 - 1938 
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Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Oldest Child of John Rogers Elliott and Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson 

Child: Henrietta   B 25 Aug 1865 Centerville 
D 28 Feb 1944 Riverside Residence, W Oxford Township 
Interred Ingersoll Rural Cemetery Mausoleum 
M 13 Feb 1884 at her father’s home. 

Spouse: John Downing  B 01 Apr 1849   Parkham, Clovelly, North Devon 
D 14 Apr 1938   Ingersoll Hospital 
Residence: Riverside Home W Oxford 
Interred Ingersoll Rural Cemetery Mausoleum 

Children: 
 
John Fredrick  B 06 Jan 1885    

D 02 Nov 1962   London 
 
Charles Edward  B 02 Nov 1887    

D 13 Nov 1957 Woodstock 
 
Mary   B 06 Dec 1897     

D 13 Jan 1995   Ingersoll 
 

 
Henrietta was the oldest of JR Elliott and Betsy Johnson’s children.  She 
was likely born in Centerville on Mill Road north of the present day 
Beachville Rd.  Henrietta was 19 when she married 35-year-old John 
Downing in 1884 and was already out of the family home when her 
mother died in childbirth in 1886.  As the oldest, Hattie was always feeling 
responsible for her younger siblings and later for their children as well.  
Hattie’s mother did not teach her well at housekeeping and cooking 
(perhaps due to the number of children in JR’s household and the fact that 
she left home to marry at a relatively young age).  She was rather inept at 
sewing and cooking and her husband John offered a helping hand in 
teaching her.  A family story has it that Hattie, while sitting on a fence 
overlooking the big house that would eventually become her home and 
now is the Beachville Museum, told a younger sister, probably Rose, that 
she would love to marry and live in such a splendid house.  Her sister is 
reported to have said “you haven’t a chance in the world”. 
 
John and Hattie both listed the Salvation Army as their religious affiliation.  
The Salvation Army organization was newly founded and prominent in 
Oxford County.  It was a spin off of the Bible Christian faith that first 
started in Devon and was brought by the English immigrants to Oxford 
County.  Hattie’s father, John Rogers Elliott was a staunch Salvation Army 
member. 
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Husband John Downing was always willing to work in the 
family’s lime business.  According to his granddaughter, Marion 
Kilcup in her book “The Descendants of Thomas Downing Sr.”, 
John was born in the small village of Clovelly, Devon.  Clovelly 
was the hometown of Hattie’s aunt Elizabeth’s husband, James 
Hamlyn (Book 3).  The Downing family emigrated to Upper 
Canada and arrived in Woodstock in 1851.  Two years later, 
John’s father, John Sr. purchased land just west of Woodstock 
for lime burning, an occupation he had in Devon.  In 1854, land 
was purchased in North Oxford just west of Beachville because 
of a better quality of white limestone.  This became the location 
of the family business.  The lime business was a profitable affair 
for the family and the region.  The Downings expanded the 
enterprise and employee numbers.  They brought Italian marble 
and stone quarry workers to Canada and built housing along the 
Beachville Rd. for the families to live in.  Several descendants of 
these families still populate the region.  The plant was 
constantly updated and expanded.  One unfortunate incident 

occurred in March of 1913 when hydro electric installers were running the first electrical wires into the 
plant.  They threw a linen measuring tape over a live wire to measure the distance from the ground.  
They assumed they were safe as the measuring tape was cloth but it had a wire interior.  One man was 
electrocuted when he picked it up.  This was the first ever fatality in Ontario of anyone coming in 
contact with high tension electrical wires. 

 
At age 14, John left school to work full time in the family 
enterprise.  By 18, he had purchased 12 acres and a house on Lot 
18 Concession 2 N Oxford.  The house would later be the home of 
my grandfather and the birthplace of my father. 
 
 
March 6, 1913 Chronicle 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford  
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Quarry Industry - Agriculture 
History of the Lime Business in N 
Oxford 
Courtesy From Forest to Field 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lime crusher 1905 Beachville Museum 

 
John enrolled in the Woodstock Bible College in the hopes that a further education would help his 
business acumen.  He walked to and from Woodstock every day to attend school, a distance of 18 
kilometers in total.  John was always ready for a walk, often walking to Ingersoll or even a 45 kilometer 
round trip to Tillsonburg for business.  As he aged, he was active in the Beachville Gun Club, and Order 
of Foresters.  He served as Justice of the Peace until his death.  As a hobby, he read up to 12 books a 
week in the parlour while Hattie worked on knitting and embroidery.  He travelled back to Devon in 
1929 to visit his homeland.  John sold and retired from the lime business.  At age 82 the 1931 census 
listed him as a general farmer.  He could not see himself retiring.  He spent every winter from New Years 
to April in Florida.  Hattie was not fond of travelling, preferring to stay in her house, but in the winter of 
1937, daughter Mary and her husband drove the couple to Florida on Hattie’s only Florida excursion.  
They stayed in a rental house but John was not well when they returned and he died in April of 1938.  
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His death certificate has several discrepancies.  His year of birth was listed as 1848 yet the 1901 census 
record showed 1850.  The 1851 English census agrees with the 1850 date.  His age was listed as 85 at his 
death but mathematically he would have been closer to 88 to 90 years old. 
 
Henrietta always had a love of children.  Her house was always full of young voices.  She would have her 
sister Rose’s grandchildren Clark and Robert Brown from Port Huron stay for the summer.  She played 
games with the children and often encouraged them to assist in baking in the kitchen and with simple 
chores.   In the summers, Henrietta and John would often entertain with family picnics for her sibling’s 
and their children.  Henrietta was notorious for beating the sun up in the morning, often having the 
washing on the line by 5 am.   
 
Hattie was a staunch church member as was common in the era.  She was raising her two sons 
accordingly, as noted in the 1891 census of the family.  She was 25 years old at the time and had her 19 -
year-old sister Nellie living in the house and working as a domestic.  She taught a men’s Bible study class 
at the Beachville Baptist Church and worked diligently on missionary matters.  She never touched a 
playing card, leaving the room when a card game sprung up.  She also was President of the Red Cross 
Society’s local branch.  Both John and Henrietta were active in the community.  In retirement and as a 
company shareholder, he was a consultant to the Beachville White Lime Co. 
 
The Downing’s, as were many other in the region, land speculators.  Farms or parts of farms were sold 
back and forth between relations and neighbours.  Indeed, Henrietta bought Lot 18 Con 2, which had 
previously been owned by her husband and her brother-in-law around 1895 according to land records.  
She later sold it to her son Fred.   
One humorous story passed on by her granddaughter Miriam Kilcup, was that Hattie was hosting a 
Mission Circle meeting.  She had carefully placed all the visiting women’s coats on the bed in the master 
bedroom.  Later, she came into the room to discover the coats strewn about the floor while her 
exhausted husband John napped after a long day of work.   
After several months of illness and nary a visit to a hospital, John died at home in 1938.   
Henrietta had only been to a hospital once in her life for a goitre operation.  In the fall of 1943, she 
visited for the second time.  This time she was told she had cancer.  She insisted that she return home 
where daughter Mary helped with her needs.  Eventually she required a full-time nurse.  At her 
insistence, the family Christmas was held at her Riverside home.   
Some source material noted thanks to cousin Marion Kilcup and her book. 

 
Woodstock Sentinel Review Feb 1944. 
“The death occurred Friday, February 18 at her residence “Riverside” in Beachville, of Henrietta Elliott, 
widow of John Downing, an esteemed resident of Beachville for many years.  Mrs. Downing was born in 
North Oxford and moved to Beachville 60 years ago, residing continuously since then in her residence 
“Riverside”.  She was a member of the Baptist Church of Beachville and was always interested in 
community affairs.” “The following brothers and sisters also survive:  Albert J Elliott and Mrs. Alex Smith 
of Beachville; Mrs. Rose Clark of Port Huron; Mrs. G H Defoe of Detroit.  One brother, John Elliott, 
deceased.” 

• As a note: estranged brother John was still alive and living in Detroit. 
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After Hattie’s death in 1944, her will stipulated that her three children were to act as Executors for her 
estate.  Daughter Mary was willed the house and all Hattie’s possessions and funds.  Surprisingly, her 
sons seem to have not inherited anything.  The house was sold to the Beachville Lime Co. in 1969 and 
then in turn sold for two dollars to the Beachville and District Historical Society Museum. 
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                                                            They are buried in the IRC mausoleum.  
 

 

Newspaper 
Ingersoll Tribune 

Newspaper Date Feb 24 1944  

Surname Downing 

First Name Henrietta 

 

MRS. JOHN DOWNING PASSES AT BEACHVILLE 
The death occurred Friday, February 18th at her residence, ‘Riverside’, Beachville, of Henrietta Elliott, widow of 
John Downing, an esteemed resident of Beachville, for many years. Mrs. Downing was born in North Oxford 
[township], and moved to Beachville 60 years ago, residing continuously since then at her residence, ‘Riverside’. She 
was a member and active worker of Beachville Baptist Church and was always interested in community affairs. Left 
to mourn the passing of a dearly beloved mother are two sons, John F., of London; and Charles E., Beachville; also, 
one daughter, Mrs. P. M. Graham [Mary], Beachville. Also surviving are two grandchildren, William Downing, 
Chatham; and Marion Downing, Reg. N., Halifax; one great-granddaughter, also the following brothers and sisters: 
Albert J. Elliott and Mrs. Alex Smith, Beachville; Mrs. Rose Clark, Port Huron, Michigan; Mrs. G. B. Dafoe and Mrs. 
John Elliott, Detroit. The funeral was held from her late residence, Beachville; on Monday afternoon at 2:30 o’clock. 
The large concourse of friends and the numerous floral tributes, bespoke the esteem in which deceased was held. 
The service was conducted by Mr. A. R. Pointer of Beachville, assisted by Rev. Warner of Woodstock. The 
pallbearers were John F. and Charles E. Downing, sons; Peter Graham, son-in-law; William Downing, grandson; 
Albert Elliott, brother; Byron Downing, nephew. Entombment was made at the Ingersoll Mausoleum. 
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Ingersoll Tribune April 21, 1938 

JOHN DOWNING 
The death occurred on Thursday morning, April 14th, at his late residence, Beachville, of John Downing, son of 
the late Thomas and Elizabeth Downing. The late Mr. Downing was born in Clovelly, Devonshire, on April 2, 
1848. He came to Canada in 1852, residing in Woodstock until 1855, when he moved to Beachville. Mr. Downing 
was one of the pioneers of the lime business in Beachville, first engaging in the lime business along, later in 
partnership with the late A. R. Bremner, which firm amalgamated with the Standard White Lime Company. Mr. 
Downing was one of the organizers of the Beachville White Lime Company, of which company he was president. 
He is survived by his wife, Henrietta Downing, two sons, John F. Downing of London, and Charles E. Downing of 
Beachville, and one daughter, Mrs. P. M. Graham of Beachville. One sister, Miss Mary Downing, Ingersoll, also 
survives. The funeral was held on Saturday, April 16th at 2.30 p.m. from his late residence, Beachville, with 
entombment in the Ingersoll Mausoleum. 

 

 
The home of Henrietta and John Downing 
Now the Beachville Museum 
 
 

Great Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Grandchildren of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Children of Henrietta Elliott and John Downing 
Oldest: John Frederick   B 06 Jan 1885   W Oxford 

D 02 Nov 1962   London 
M 06 Apr 1910 Limehouse, Ont. 

Spouse: Margaret McGill B 26 Aug 1890 Limehouse Halton County 
    D 09 Nov 1985 London 
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      John Frederick Downing 1925                         London Maitland St Home 
 
Fred was educated at the old Beachville Public school and Woodstock Baptist College.  He was raised 
around the quarry operation and at one time survived a fall in the kilns.  Pretending he was a horse he 
fell from the humpbacked bridge or ramp that the horses used to deliver limestone to the top of the 
kiln.  He fell on the railway tracks below.  His father carried his limp body to the family house where he 
came to and had no long-lasting injuries to the marvel of all that heard about or witnessed the fall.   

 
He married Margaret McGill from a farming and lime burner 
family in Halton Co.  They met at the Standard Lime office where 
she worked.  Later he bought a Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford farm just 
across the Thames River to the north and farmed from 1913 to 

1918.  First son John Grant was born there in 
1913 but died of meningitis before he had 
reached his second birthday.  Second son Billie 
Edward was born in 1916.  Fred and his family 
then moved into Ingersoll in 1918 where he 
worked at various jobs including working for 
the Canadian National Railway.  This entailed 
moving to 141 Peel St. in London, Ont.  He 
served in the baggage car and eventually 

became a conductor for CNR.  In 1924, twin girls were born but 
neither survived the day.  In retirement he acted as a school 
crossing guard and played the organ at Needham’s Funeral 
Home.   

Photo of a kiln Humpback bridge  
 
Only surviving child of John Downing and Margaret McGill 
Son: Bill (Billie) Edward   B 30 Oct 1916 Beachville 

D June 2003 Chatham, Ont. 
Raised in London, he attended Central High School where he won  
numerous pins for perfect attendance, never missing a day of high 
school.  He first worked as an auto mechanic in London before  
entering the grocery business in Lucan, Ont.  In 1940, he married  
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Inez Hendrie.  After the birth of two daughters, the family moved to Chatham where Billie worked in the 
parts department for Chatham Motors and before retirement, worked in Tilbury with another 
dealership. 
 

Great Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Grandchildren of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Children of Henrietta Elliott and John Downing 
Second Child: Charles Edward    B 02 Nov 1887 W Oxford 
      D 13 Nov 1957 Woodstock Lived in Beachville 
      M 08 Sept 1917 Ingersoll 
Spouse: Hildred Anetta Manson   B 14 Feb 1895 E Oxford 
      D 07 Mar 1963 Woodstock Lived in Beachville 
Charlie was known as an ambitious but shy young man.  He went to Woodstock Baptist College and 
Woodstock Business College.  Eager for some adventure, he and two friends went to work for the 
Detroit Street Railway.  Adventure over, he returned to the lime business.  In his mid twenties he 
convinced his father and a small group of shareholders to buy property two miles west of the quarry to 
expand the business.  He quickly became the manager.   
Due to his shyness, and even with his families prompting, he took several years to propose to his bride 
Hildred Manson.  They married in 1917 when he was 28 and she was 21 years old. She was born to an E 
Oxford farmer, Angus Mason and wife Helen Brown.  In 1929, the couple was known to have travelled to 
Europe on the SS Majestic from New York.   The couple later moved into a house at 604 Peel St. in 
Woodstock.  Charles commuted daily on the Ingersoll/Woodstock Street Railway to his position at the 
Beachville White Lime Company.  They had one daughter Marion (Kilcup).  Her book, available from the 
Oxford Library has a great deal of information on the Downing family. 
 
 

 
 Charles Downing                           Hildred Manson                           604 Peel St. Woodstock home 
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Charles eventually tired of the commute from Woodstock 
and moved the family to Beachville.  Charles was a joiner.  
Among organizations he was involved in were: The Oxford 
Co. Tuberculosis Society, chairman of the Beachville 
School Board, Woodstock Rotary Club and Badminton 
Club and Golf Course.  He was also a member of the 
Beachville Baptist Church and the Masonic Lodge.  Charles 
loved sports.  He coached both hockey and baseball 
teams and was a director of the Woodstock Curling Club.  
He founded the Rural Hockey Association of Ontario 
which later became the Ontario Rural Hockey Association.  
He donated the Downing Cup that the association used 
for many years and is found in the Cambridge Sports Hall 
of Fame. 
In his later years, Charlie became restless with the lime 
business and purchased a farm across the road from his 
father’s Riverside home.  Although he knew little of 
farming, he was a voracious reader and soon learned the 
intricacies.  He hired a cousin’s husband, James Brown, to 
be herdsman.  His initial purchase of 50 acres, known as 
Norloch Farms, soon blossomed to 600 acres much to the 
astonishment of neighbouring farmers.  His knowledge of 
Holstein cattle breeding led to him owning several award-
winning cattle.  As president of the Oxford District Cattle 
Breeders Association, he oversaw the development of 
animals that were purchased by breeders from as far as 
Brazil and Italy.  

 
                    Downing Cup courtesy Cambridge Sports Hall of Fame 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

He had a ranch home built on the farm property directly across the Beachville road from “Riverside”, for 
his retirement.  At age 70, a minor operation for the removal of gall bladder stones proved fatal in 1957. 
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Ingersoll Tribune obituary 

 

CHARLES E. DOWNING  
Charles E. Downing, native and lifelong resident of Beachville, retired lime company manager, died at 
Woodstock General Hospital on Wednesday, November 13, in his 70th year, after a brief illness. Mr. Downing 
was born at Beachville, son of the late Mr. and Mrs. John Downing and had resided there all his life, identified 
with the lime manufacturing business until his retirement. In 1911 he was instrumental in organizing the 
Beachville White Lime Co., of which he was manager and in 1929 this business was sold to the American 
Cyanamid Co. with Mr. Downing continuing as manager for some years. In 1931 he founded the Chemical Lime 
Co. Ltd., with which he was connected until 1945 when the business was sold to the Steel Company of Canada 
Ltd. and Mr. Downing retired. He was also associated with the Guelph Sand and Gravel Co. until two years ago. 
His hobby was farming and cattle raising and he was actively interested in the Oxford District Cattle Breeders 
Association, of which he was a past president and director. He was a member of St. John’s Lodge, No. 68, A.F. 
and A.M., Ingersoll and was an active member of Woodstock Rotary Club for 25 years, being a member and 
active worker on the crippled children’s committee. He was also a member and worker of the Oxford County TB 
Association. He was always keenly interested in sports and was the first president of the Rural Hockey 
Association of Ontario. He took an active interest in municipal affairs of Beachville and served his community in 
various capacities. He belonged to the Baptist Church. Surviving are, his wife, formerly Hildred A. Manson; one 
daughter, Mrs. Ralph Kilcup (Marion), Courtwright; one brother, J. Fred Downing, London and one sister, Mrs. P. 
M. Graham (Mary), Beachville. There was a large attendance at the funeral service Saturday afternoon in First 
Baptist Church, Woodstock. In addition to relatives, friends and neighbours, there were representatives of the 
cattle breeders’ association and other organizations in which he had been interested. Members of the 
Woodstock Rotary Club, of which he was an active member for 25 years, attended in a body.   

 
Only child of Charles Downing and Hildred Manson 
Daughter: Marion Eileen   B 21 Dec 1919 Woodstock 
     D 21 Nov 2006 Woodstock 
Marion went to Beachville Public and Woodstock Collegiate before spending her last school year at  
Moulton College in Toronto.  From there, she progressed to three years of training at East Toronto 
General Hospital.  Once completed, she took her nursing career to Ingersoll Alexandra Hospital.  She also 
served in hospitals in Nova Scotia for four years before returning to Ingersoll in 1946.  She became the 
hospital Assistant Superintendent for two years.  In 1848, she married Ralph Kilcup, a carpenter foreman 
with various construction jobs in Ontario.  After a hectic schedule resulted in a him having a heart 
attack, the couple bought a corner store in Sarnia that Ralph operated while Marion nursed in Sarnia 
General.  Ralph and Marion retired to a house across the highway from the Beachville museum, 
spending winters in Mexico until his 1973 death.  Marion retired from nursing in 1984 and in 1990 
started working on the Downing family history book: The descendants of Thomas Downing Sr. and the 
History of Beachville Lime.  She travelled to Clovelly Devon to research her Downing heritage.  The book 
was published 01 Jan 1995.  As noted, the book can be seen in the Oxford Library system, Toronto 
Reference Library or purchased online from Amazon. 

  Left - Marion with her parents 
                                                                                    Charlie Downing, wife Hildred and daughter Marion  
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Henrietta’s father-in-law Thomas Downing, husband John and sons Fred and Charles 

 
Great Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers  
Grandchildren of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Children of Henrietta Elliott and John Downing 
Last Child: Mary    B 06 Dec 1897 Beachville 
     D 13 Jan 1995 Ingersoll 
     M 21 Jul 1932  
Spouse: Peter Murray Graham  B 28 Feb 1900 Sutherland, Scotland 

D 19 Jan 1976 Ingersoll 
 
Mary was the youngest of the children and was born almost 
9 years after the next youngest boy Charles.  Mary was a 
small delicate child and prone to illness.  She attended 
Beachville Public School before moving onto Victory 
Memorial School in Ingersoll and later, Woodstock 
Collegiate.  After graduation Mary went to work in the 
Beachville Lime office as a bookkeeper (1931 census).  For 
forty-five years she played the organ at the Beachville Baptist 
Church.  Mary met Peter Graham whom she eventually 
married after 12 years of courtship.  Both Mary and Peter 
were founding members of the Lawn Tennis Club of 
Woodstock.  Peter was a veteran having served in WWI in 
Russia.  He worked as a conductor for the CNR and other odd 
jobs through the depression.  After a short stay in London, 
the couple moved back to Riverside to attend to Mary’s 
aging parents.  After Henrietta’s death in 1944, Mary stayed 
on at Riverside, which was willed to her in Henrietta’s estate 
papers.  Peter and Mary were active members in various 
clubs and affiliations.  Mary was president of the Ingersoll 

Hospital Auxiliary and Peter was a member of the Legion, Masonic Lodge and Kiwanis Club among other 
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associations.  With the lime business sold to Domtar Industries, Domtar expressed interest in making 
“Riverside” the companies office for the quarry business.  Peter and Mary sold the house and moved to 
Ingersoll to live out their lives.  The couple had no children.  I recall Mary fondly.  As young boys, my 
brother and I would cycle from our N Oxford farm the half mile though the quarry operation (on present 
day 41st Line) to Riverside.  Mary would serve up cookies and milk to her young cycling cousins.  Only on 
special occasions, were we allowed into the main house rooms and not just in the summer kitchen and 
pantry.  

 
Mary Downing Graham and Peter Graham 
 

Riverside the House: Hattie was always fond and proud of her home estate of “Riverside”.  The house 
located on the old highway #2 (Beachville Rd) on the western outskirts of Beachville.  Originally one 
story in height, John bought the house in 1880 from William Galloway.  His sister, Mary kept house until 
John married Hattie in 1883. 
 
 
 
 
Ingersoll 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                                              Riverside 
 
                                                                                              Quarry Operations 
 
 
                                                  Ingersoll 
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Riverside the House 
 
Many of the Christmas festivities, wedding showers and graduation parties 
were held in the house, not only for the Downing family but for the Elliott 
arm as well.  Hattie’s father, JR Elliott had his second wedding solemnized at 
the Riverside house.  
 

 
  Building of the house: Local resident Philander King married Susanna 
Mabee and moved to Michigan  They returned to Beachville in 1844  
and then bought 21 acres of land at this location in 1850 and commenced 
building the Riverside home out of field stone.  The single story house was 
finished in 1851.  The Kings and their 8 children moved back to  
Michigan in 1855. 
 

 
Riverside circa 1900.  The second story was added on 1902. 
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L to R: John Downing seated, wife Henrietta Elliott Downing, son Charlie Downing with bicycle,  
daughter Mary Downing seated with grandfather Thomas Downing Sr., behind with bicycle is  
John Frederick Downing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Beachville Museum – formerly the Downing residence. 
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Henrietta (Elliott) Downing Family Tree  
Henrietta – oldest child of JR and Betsy Elliott 

                                                                                    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Next: Book 7: Chapter 2 - 3:  Rosenia “Rose” Elliott and Family 

Hildred Anetta 
Mason 

1896 - 1963 
 

Mary 
Downing 

1897 - 1995 

Peter Murray 
Graham 

1900 - 1976 

Henrietta 
“Hattie” 

Elliott 
1865 – 1944 

 

 
 
 
 

Margaret 
McGill 

1890 - 1985 
 

Elizabeth  
“Betsy” 
Johnson 

1845 - 1885 

Charles 
Edward 

1887 - 1957 
 

John Rogers 
Elliott 

1841 - 1912 

John Grant 
Downing 

1913 - 1915 

John 
Frederick 
Downing 

1885 - 1962 
 

Marion  
Eileen  

Downing 
1919 - 2006 

Spouse: 
 Ralph Kilcup 

Bill Edward 
Downing 

1916 – 2003 
Spouse: 

Inez Hendrie 

Twin girls 
1921 

Lived a few 
hours 

John Downing 
1848 - 1938 
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Book 7 Chapter 2 - 3 
Second Child of John Rogers Elliott and Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson 

 

Eliza Rosenia “Rose” Elliott 
 

Table of Contents:  
 
  Rosenia “Rose” Family Tree     Pg 2  
 

Rose Elliott       Pg 3 - 8 
 
  Stepson Ralph H Clark      Pg 8 - 10 
 

Stepson Glen D Clark      Pg 10 - 11 
 
  Stepson Milo D Clark      Pg 11 -15 
 
  Son Fred C (Mapes) Clark     Pg 15 - 16 
 
  Daughter Pearl O (Mapes) Clark    Pg 16 -21 
 
  Son of Pearl: William C Brown    Pg 21 - 22 
 
  Son of Pearl: Robert C Brown     Pg 23 - 25 
 
  Family Newspaper Clippings     Pg 25 - 33 
 
  Rose’s Family Tree      Pg 34 
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Eliza Rosenia “Rose” (Elliott) Clark Family Tree 
Rosenia – second oldest child of JR and Betsy Elliott 

                                                                                   Spouses                                   Children 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eliza Rosenia 
“Rose” 
Elliott 

1868 - 1965 

Laura Godin 
1903 -? 

Pearl O Mapes 
Clark 

1893 - 1986 

Spouse: 
William A 

Brown 
1879 - 1957 

Blanche 
Stewart 

1892 - 1952 

Pauline 
Kelone 
1900 -? 

Spouse: 
Jacqueline 

Garry 
1930 - 2009 

Fred Mapes 
Clark 

1891 - 1934 

 

Milo “Hap” 
Clark 

1899 - 1984 

Glen David 
Clark 

1890 - 1935 

Robert Hain 
Clark 

1887 - 1940 

Ethel Smith  
1896 -- 1983 

Charles 
Mapes 

1867 - 1924 

Henry Dodd 
1868 -? 

E W Clark 
1861 - 1919 

Son: William 
Clark 

1925 – 1944 
WWII 

 

Spouse: 
Frank A 

Neumann 
1885 - 1978 

Son: Robert 
Clark 

Brown 
1920 - 1999 

 

Son: William 
Clark Brown 
1917 - 1985 

Spouse: Jean 
Eusey 

1920 - 1993 

Son: Milo Jr. 
Clark 

1932 - living 
 

Son: William E 
Clark 

1917 - 2003 

John Rogers 
Elliott 

1841 - 1912 

Elizabeth  
“Betsy”  
Johnson 

1845 - 1885 
 

Eliza Rosenia 
“Rose” 
Elliott 

1868 - 1965 
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Great Grandchild of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Child of John Rogers Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Second Child: Eliza Rosenia (Rose) Elliott  B 25 Dec 1868 North Oxford Lot 14 Con 3 

D 19 Mar 1965 Pt Huron 
M 15 July 1890 Ingersoll  

Spouse: Charles Mapes     B 16 May 1867 St Catherines, Ontario  
D 27 Jul 1924 York County 
M 14 Apr 1900 Detroit 

Spouse: Henry Dodd    B 1868 New York State 
D unknown 
M 10 May 1903 Pt Huron 

Spouse: Eliuh Wilson Clark   B 30 May 1861 Portland, Indiana 
D 06 Jan 1919 Pt Huron 

 
 
Perhaps the most interesting female ancestor I have researched is my great aunt Eliza Rosenia (Rose) 
Elliott.  Rose was remembered in her later years when she came to visit her Oxford Co. relatives as a 
large, gregarious woman.  She was three years younger than her oldest sister, Henrietta Downing.  A 
Christmas baby, Rose (found as Rosa on many censuses) was 16 years old when her mother Betsy died 
while giving birth in January of 1885.  Her father JR was left with a large brood and as her older sister 
was married, it fell upon Rose to deal with the raising of the children until JR remarried in September 
1886.  I believe that Rose never forgave her father for the situation and it appears she did not have 
much, if any contact, with him for the rest of their lives.  
Rose was married to Charles Mapes, a St Catherine Ontario born man working as a fireman in Port 
Huron, Michigan.  They married in N Oxford and how they met is one of the mysteries surrounding Rose. 
Port Huron would become a prominent spot in Rose’s life story as she moved there immediately after 
her marriage.  Everything seemed to be a confusing jumble at this point in Rose’s life. 
Rose married Charles Mapes in July of 1890 in N Oxford.  Did she meet him in Port Huron?  US Census 
records from 1900 stated she emigrated in 1890 so there is that possibility.  By April of 1891, the 
Canadian census had Rose returned to Canada and, living in Woodstock with husband Charles.  Rose was 
pregnant on her return to Canada with her son Fred who was born in August of 1891 in Woodstock.  
Daughter Pearl O was born in February of 1893, also in Woodstock.  More confusion can be found in the 
records.  The 1900 US census stipulates that son Fred and daughter Pearl were Canadian born and 
immigrated to the US.  However, Fred and Pearl’s emigration dates are not matching.  Each child 
seemed to have emigrated separately after their births.  Did Rose move back to Port Huron, but birthed 
her children in Canada and returned with her baby each time to the US?  More Rose confusion. 

 
Each child arrived in Port Huron at a different date.   
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The 1891 Ontario census had Rose and Charles Mapes living in Woodstock, Ont.  As a surprise, her 
youngest sister Melissa (Maggie) Elliott (age 10) was living with them.  Unfortunately I do not know the 
circumstance as to why Maggie was not living with her father and stepmother.  She would have been 
five years old when JR remarried, and at age 10 would only have recently moved in with her newly 
married sister.  One thought is that Maggie’s stepmother, Pheobe Thorn was not well in 1891.  She died 
of consumption in March 1892 and it was noted in the death records that she had been ill for over six 
months.  If that was the case, Maggie was very likely farmed out to her sister Rose. 
 
By 1896 Rose had registered in Michigan courts for divorce from Charles Mapes on the grounds of 
cruelty.  It was granted 20 July 1897.  It appears that Rose was living somewhere in Port Huron with her 
two children in 1897.  Charles Mapes appeared to not remarry and returned to his family in 
Whitechurch Township, York County.  More confusion as the 1900 census for Port Huron claims he was 
Michigan born.  He died in 1924. 
 

 
Divorce record – Port Huron. 
 
The plot becomes muddier as Rose marries Henry Dodd on the 18th of April 1900 in Port Huron.  Henry is 
listed as a sailor but had previously married in 1891 in Great Falls, Montana and had passed through the 
Dakota Territories on his way to Detroit.  How he became a sailor and met Rose and married in Detroit 
would be an interesting sidebar.  He was one year older than Rose.  An interesting tidbit on the marriage 
registration form noted below is that Rose’s parents were “unknown”.  This is very unusual as she 
definitely knew who her parents were.  Her father JR Elliott was also living in Port Huron at the time of 
Rose’s marriage.  My only suggestion is I suspect that she was estranged from him and did not want the 
registrar to note that he was related to her.  Maggie Elliott still seems to be attached to her older sister 
as she is noted as a marriage witness. 
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Two months after her marriage to Harry Dodd, the 1900 US census has Rose and her 2 children living 
with husband Harry in Port Huron, Mi.  He is now listed as a railroad conductor.  This is a crucial fact in 
Rose’s future.  The marriage was likely volatile and short lived as Rose files for divorce on the grounds of 
non-support in July of 1902 and is granted the divorce in March 1903.  Harry Dodd disappears from the 
records at this point.  So once again, Rose is on her own with two school aged children. 
This did not last long. 

 
 
It seems that Rose can remember her parent’s names when she married for  
the third time to E W Clark of Port Huron. 
 
Seven weeks after her divorce to Harry Dodd, Rose married widower Eliuh Wilson Clark in May 1903.  
There is a high amount of suspicion that Rose and E W may have been an item even though Rose was 
still married.  Both E W and Harry Dodd were railway conductors living in Port Huron and it is extremely 
likely they knew each other.  They may have perhaps even socialized.  Is it possible that a Rose and E W 
relationship was the reason Harry Dodd did not support her as her divorce decree stated?   
 
Rose’s new husband E W Clark never stood still as seen in the book: From St. Clair County Michigan: Its 
History and People. Published in 1912 and written by William Lee. 
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Eliuh Wilson Clark or EW to all, was 7 years older than Rose.  He had been married to Rose Ving for 25 
years and had 3 sons.  The sons were Ralph, Glen and Milo.  Rose Ving died 04 Mar 1902 of heart failure 
while being operated on for kidney disease.  Rose and EW were married the following spring. 
E W Clark was very similar to Rose Elliott.  He had a bigger than life personality: gregarious, loud, well 
liked, well known and respected in the community.  He was ambitious and trained his three sons to be 
the same.  A staunch Democrat, he attended many Democratic conventions while representing the Port 
Huron party branch. 
 
The 1910 census of Port Huron had the blended family, all named Clark, living at 1531 Oak St.  This 
house would be home for many decades.  EW’s sons would have been 16, 12 and 4 years old when EW 
and Rose married.  Rose’s children would have been 11 and 10 years old.  It would have been a 
boisterous household.  By 1910, the census shows that son Ralph was also working for the railroad and 
son Glen was working at a grocer.   
More confusion surrounds Rose as the 1910 US census listed her children as being born in Michigan and 
not Canada.  It appears Rose’s memory failed her often.  The following US census stated the same fact 
regarding her children’s birth location.  Why the obfuscation? 
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1531 Oak St. Port Huron – home of Rose Elliott Clark for most of her adult life. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The family was shocked when on the 6th of January 1919, when EW died of complications from the 
Spanish Flu. 

 
He was buried beside his children’s mother Rose Ving in Lakeside Cemetery in Port Huron. 
 
Rose suddenly found herself the head of the household.  The 1920 census had several of the family still 
at home.  The likely reason that several of her stepsons were not married is due to the fact all three had 
been in the military and were now deactivated from their WWI service. 
In 1920, daughter Pearl was now married to a man named Brown and had a son named Clark.  Both 
were living with Rose while Pearl’s husband was not found. (More on Pearl later) 
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The 1940 census showed Rose living with her daughter Pearl at the same Oak Street address that was 
Rose’s home for decades. 
Rose and EW and family were often mentioned in the local newspapers.  Some of the stories were quite 
hilarious.  Before discussing the daily events of the family, a biography of the children and stepchildren 
is warranted. 
 

Oldest Child of EW Clark and stepson of Rose Elliott 
 
Ralph Hain Clark 
B 17 Jul 1887 Van Buren, Mi. 
D 11 May 1940 Port Huron, Mi. 
M 31 Jan 1935 
Divorce: 16 Dec 1937 
Spouse: Pauline Kelone 
No children 
 
Ralph enrolled in the Armed Forces in WWI.  He was a Private in the Michigan Transportation Company 
of the US marines.  He was one of three family members to serve.  Milo and stepbrother Fred also 
joined.  After the war he was active in the National Guard reserve.  He reached the grade of Second 
Lieutenant. 
When he returned from WWI, Ralph worked with the Grand Trunk Railway as a steam train engineer.  
The 1930 census has him as the only person living with his stepmother Rose (Elliott) Clark in the family 
Oak St. home in Pt Huron.  
He had married divorcee Pauline Kelone of Port Huron in 1935.  She was Louisiana born and was 
working in the office of a truck transportation firm when she married Ralph.  They divorced 3 years later. 
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Marriage and divorce of Ralph Clark 
 
 
 
After his divorce, he continued to work at the railyards as a foreman.  His death certificate indicates he 
was living at the Lauth Hotel in Port Huron.  I suspect he was still single at the time and was likely living 
in a small hotel room on a month-by-month lease. 

Louth Hotel 7th and Lapeer St.  
Downtown Pt Huron. 
Photo: History of Port Huron 
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After 39 days in hospital, he died of Tuberculosis, which was a common cause of death in that era.  He is 
buried in the same cemetery as his father and mother.  He was only 52 at the time of his death. 
 

Second Child of EW Clark and stepson of Rose Elliott 
Glenn David Clark 
B 03 Sept 1890 Mi 
D 16 Jul 1935 Flint, Mi 
Spouse: Blanche Stewart 
Child: William B 1917 
 
Like his brothers, Glenn served in WWI and was honourably discharged. 
The 1930 census had his occupation as production manager for the Buick Corporation in their plant in 
Flint.  When he died, he was production manager of the foundry for the Buick Corporation. 
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He died due to a ruptured appendix 
at age 45 July 1935 in Flint, Mi. 
 
                                      Port Huron Times Herald 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Youngest Child of EW Clark and stepson of Rose Elliott 
Milo (Hap) Guy Clark Sr. 
B 02 Jul 1899 Port Huron 
D 19 Mar 1984 La Jolla, CA. 
M 28 Mar 1924 
Spouse: Laura Godin 
Children:  William B 1925  D 1944 (killed WWII) 

Milo Jr.  B 1932   D living 
 

Son Milo Jr. had 4 children -Linda Lee, Carolyn Ward, Douglas Scott (deceased) and Sarah Ellen. 
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH as per “History of Section 10 
Boy Scouts” 
 
“The story of Milo G. Clark begins with a typical story 
of an "All American Boy".  Before we go further, 
however, we had better clarify the name and refer to 
the subject of this tale as Hap Clark.  No ditto marks 
are needed to fence in the name Hap.  To all in 
Scouting who knew and respected him, he was always 
Hap Clark.  Though, no doubt, as mothers will do, she 
called him Milo. 
He comes by the All-American Boy designation 
honestly.  He was born in Port Huron, Michigan, July 2, 

1899 graduating from high school there, having captained the baseball, basketball and football teams.  
Active in the Hi-Y movement, he served as the Vice-President of the Michigan State Hi-Y Conference in 
1915.  Scouting hadn't reached Port Huron at that time.  In December of 1917, while a senior in high 
school, he enlisted for four years as a Marine, but was not sworn in until January 20, 1918.  The high 
school athlete took to army life like the proverbial duck to water: becoming Corporal, then Sergeant, 
serving as drill instructor, and expert in the rifle and heavy machine gun.  This did not deter his 
education, however, and he graduated from high school in June of 1918 with a special furlough to 
attend the graduation ceremonies.  He was placed on reserve in February of 1919 and finally honorably 
discharged in 1922. His father died suddenly and his two brothers had suffered service-connected 
disabilities, so instead of college, he found himself going to work, which was nothing new as he had 
pretty much earned his own way since he was 15.” 
 
After serving in WWI, but never overseas, Milo Sr. was an executive with the Boy Scouts of America. 
He moved to Boston and the head office of the Boy Scouts after being the regional District 10 Upper 
Midwest head.  Several of his family still live in the Boston area.  Later he retired to La Jolla, California. 
 
 
 
 
Although he never graduated  
from high school as he left early to  
his enlist, he was granted a diploma 
in June of 1918.       
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                    June 13, 1918 Times Herald 
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12 June 1918 Times Herald 
 
 
  
 
 
                                                                                                                          June 13, 1918 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                         June 2, 1934 
                                                                                                                14 May, 1958 
 
 
Milo’s son, Milo Clark Jr., graduated from the Harvard Business School.  He was well known for his 
predictions of automation, home computers, handheld computer devices and retina scanners as far 
back as 1964 when he toured the US giving speeches to various media and educational entities.  He was 
considered an expert in the computer field at the time while employed by the University of California 
(Berkeley).  As of 2022, Milo Jr. was retired and living on the Big Island of Hawaii where he has indulged 
in his passion for bamboo plants. 
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Below: Predicting the future while he was on a speaking tour for General Dynamics. 

 
     Milo Clark Sr.  Home in La Jolla where he died 1983.                       Dallas News Article 
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EW Clark family tree as sent by Milo Jr’s daughter, Carolyn Clark 

 
• Ralph is noted as single – he was married but never remarried. 

 
 

Grandchildren of JR Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
First child of Rose Elliott and Charles Mapes  
Fred Charles Clark 
B 12 Aug 1891 Woodstock, Ont. 
D 27 May 1934 Asheville, North Carolina 
M 28 Apr 1920 Pt Huron 
Spouse: Ethel Smith (1896-1983) 
 
Fred Clark was the first child of Rose and Charles Mapes.   
When Rose married EW Clark, Fred took on the Clark name.  
Like his two stepbrothers, Fred enlisted in WWI.   
He was sent to France before returning in 1919.  His birth  
Schedule shows he was born in Woodstock.  Other records say 
Michigan 
 

    
      Port Huron Times Herald 28 Aug, 1918                                                          Times Herald 19 May, 1919 
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Fred married Ethel Smith in 1920 when he was 27 and was working as a “trainman” in Port Huron.   

 
 
The next sign of him is in Asheville, N Carolina in 10 November 1926 in the Asheville, N.C. newspaper 

 
The 1930 US census confirms that he was 

living in Asheville, North Carolina with his 
wife and in-laws.  Interestingly, his 
occupation was listed as a chauffeur for a 
motor company.  In those days a chauffeur 
was also the detailer and mechanic of the 
vehicle.  Family lore has it that there was a 
member of the Port Huron clan that once 
chauffeured for Henry Ford.  Asheville had a 
large Ford assembly plant in the 1920s. 
Fred died in 1934 in Asheville, Carolina at 

the age of 43.  He and Ethel had no children. 
He is buried in the Military cemetery in Asheville. 

 
 

Last child of Rose Elliott and Charles Mapes  
Pearl O  
B 19 Feb 1893 Woodstock 
D 23 Mar 1986 Pt Huron 
M 04 Jun 1915 Pt Huron 
Spouse: William Arliss Brown (1893 – 1946) 
Divorced unknown but likely prior 1920 
M 12 Jun 1927 Pt Huron 
Spouse: Frank August Neumann  
B 24 Feb 1879  
D Oct 1957    
Divorced 03 Oct 1944 Port Huron 
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Pearl was born in 1893 in Woodstock but continually showed up in US government records as being 
born in Michigan.  I have not yet discovered what her second name was other than it started with the 
letter “O.”  She lived with her mother and stepfather until her marriage to William Arliss Brown on 04 
June 1915. 
She had 2 sons with husband William: Fred Clark Brown and Robert Brown. 
Her marriage fell apart sometime between 1917 – 1920 and she divorced William.  He remarried and 
lived in Detroit until his death. 
 

 
 
On 12 June 1927, Pearl married divorced father of one, Frank August Neumann.  He was an emigrant 
from Germany and was a clothing salesman living in Port Huron.  Pearl was a milliner at the time 
working in a dress shop.  Frank’s daughter lived with his ex-wife Estella Peak (Neumann). 
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By the 1930 census, the family, including sons Clark and Robert, were living in Flint, Michigan.  Her two 
boys were listed as stepsons to Frank Neumann.  Pearl was still mistakenly listed as born in Michigan. 

 
 



 

19 
 

 
1930 Flint directory.                                                                               
   
 
 
                                                                                                                          18 Oct, 1930 Port Huron Times Herald 

By the late 1920’s Frank was the manager of a clothing store. 
 
Times Herald 19 Dec, 1922 

 
 
There appears to be a disconnect in the Neumann family in 1932 as shown by the newspaper article 
below.  Why was he living Flint while she was back in Port Huron?  Their divorce was not until 1944. 

 
Later, the 1940 Census had Rose living with the entire Neumann family at Rose’s 1531 Oak St, Port 
Huron home.  This was the Clark family home that Rose lived in the rest of her life after marrying EW 
Clark.  At this time Pearl’s son Robert Brown was a grocery clerk.  Son-in-law Frank Neumann was a 51-
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year-old janitor at the Post Office and Pearl worked at a ladies clothing store.  There is some conjecture 
as to why Frank was now a janitor.  Did he suffer an accident or malady that would prevent him from 
working as a salesman? 
 
Four years after the 1940 census Pearl sued for divorced from Frank on 11 Dec 1944. 

 
 
After the divorce, Frank continued to live in the Port Huron area and died in 1978. 
Later in life, Pearl continued to live at the Oak St. residence after Rose’s death in 1966.  Visitors from 
Ontario were common. 
                                                                                                                    Post Herald 27 Jan, 1966 

 
Post Herald 5 Sept, 1951 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                        Post Herald Feb, 1958 
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                                           Pearl died in 1986 at age 93. 
 

 
Sperry’s was a large, long running department store in 
Port Huron from 1889 to 2006.  Pearl worked there 
for a prolonged period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pearl’s sons William Clark Brown and Robert Clark Brown both married and lived in Michigan.  Not 
much is known about their lives as they drifted away in the records.  It is known that the young boys did 
spend summers at their great aunt Henrietta Downing “Riverside” home in Beachville, Ont. 
 

Great Grandchildren of J R Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Grandson of Rose Clark and Charles Mapes 
Son of Pearl Mapes Brown Neumann 
Oldest Child: William Clark Brown  B 17 Apr 1917 Port Huron 

D 02 Sept 1985 Port Huron 
M 12 Apr 1938 

Spouse: Jean May Eusey   B 1920  
D 1993 
M 25 May 1957  

Spouse: May Post   B 1922  
D 1989 
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Pearls’ second son William was born in Pt Huron in 1917.  
He spent his childhood there. 
Jean Eusey dropped out of high school in Grade 11 to 
marry William Clark Brown in 1938.  William and Jean 
were living in Pt Huron and were factory workers in 1940 
as WWII ramped up.  In late 1940, they moved to Flint 
where he worked in an auto factory as a driver while she 
worked as a machine repair person for an auto subsidiary 
company.  They had four children.  They later divorced and 
both remarried.  William Clark married May Post in 1957.  
It was her fourth marriage. 

    Jean May Eusey                May Post 
                         photos Ancestry.com 

 
1940 Port Huron Directory 

 
By 1942, they had 2 sons and 4 daughters 

 
 

William Clark Brown  

Birth 1917  

Death Sep 1985 (aged 67–68)  

Burial  

Lakeside Cemetery  

Port Huron, St. Clair County,  

Michigan  

Plot Block CC Lot 109 Grave 4 

 
 

 

https://www.findagrave.com/cemetery/889/lakeside-cemetery
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Great Grandchildren of J R Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Grandson of Rose Clark and Charles Mapes 
Son of Pearl Mapes Brown Neumann 
Second Child: Robert Clark Brown B 25 Oct 1920 – Port Huron, Mi. 

D 11 Jun 1999 – Fort Gratiot, Mi. 
M 21 Feb 1953 Port Huron 

Spouse: Jacqueline May Garry    B 1930 Snover, Mich. 
D 2009 Port Huron 

 
 

  
Robert Clark WWII Registration Card.    
Robert went to Port Huron High School and Port Huron Business School.  As his two step-uncles and his 
uncle Fred did in WWI, he went off to serve in WWII.  He was promoted to Staff Sergeant before leaving 
the Army.  He received three bronze stars for heroic achievement while in service.  Robert’s first job 
after the war was working at the Mueller Brass Co. in Port Huron making wrought brass rods and forging 
lead-free alloys.  He worked there for 33 years before retiring in 1978.  
 

 
27 Nov, 1952 Post Herald 

1952 Thanksgiving gathering.    
 
Robert would eventually marry Jackie Garry (see below) 
In the 1950’s Robert would often drive his grandmother Rose to Beachville to visit her brothers and 
sisters and their families.  I recall those visits by Aunt Rose.  Robert would never stay around long as he 
would often only be seen when he returned to pick up his grandmother for the return trip to Pt. Huron. 
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Photo: Robert Clark Brown circa 1992    
   courtesy: the Downing family book 

 
He died in 1999 in Fort Gratiot Mi. 
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As I mentioned near the top of the Clark family history, Rose and EW Clark were a high-profile couple in 
the confines of the small town of Pt Huron.  Not only was EW in the running for the most popular 
gentlemen in the mid-state area, he was also involved in a near train wreck (that wasn’t) and Rose had a 
gun toting dust up over a dog.  I have compiled a series of newspaper articles from the Pt Huron Times 
Herald to show you the busy everyday life of the family. 
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Front Page: Detroit Free Press 
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Detroit Free Press Front Page  
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Mrs. John Hartley of Chicago is woman an  
aunt Rose visited often.  This person is unknown 
to me.  I will let future genealogists figure out this  
piece of the puzzle. 
 

 
 

 
EW Clark ran for sheriff multiple times without success. 
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In the spring of 1908, the Port Huron Daily Times held a contest to find the most popular people of 
central Michigan.  EW, who was well known in the community drew into second place in the 
Gentlemen’s list. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
EW purchased a grocery store in April of 1915. 
It was located on Military St. 
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Rose celebrated her 93rd and 96th birthdays as noted below.  She was still living at 1531 Oak St. on her 
93rd birthday but by her 96th year, I suspect she was living in a senior’s home. 
By then her mental capacities were starting to suffer. 
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By November of 1963, she was no longer considered mentally 
competent to manage her affairs, so her grandson Robert 
took over. 
Rose was placed in Marwood Manor, a senior home in Port 
Huron, where her health continued to decline. 
Rose died 19 March 1965 and is buried in Lakeside Cemetery 
in Pt. Huron.  She is near her husband EW Clark and her son 
Fred. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Rose Clark family tree Page 34. 
 
 

Next: Book 7:  
Chapter 2 - 4:  Ellen Elliott and Alex Smith 
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Eliza Rosenia “Rose” (Elliott) Clark Family Tree 
Rosenia – second oldest child of JR and Betsy Elliott 

                                                                                   Spouses                                   Children 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eliza Rosenia 
“Rose” 
Elliott 

1868 - 1965 

Laura Godin 
1903 -  

Pearl O Mapes 
Clark 

1893 -1986 

Spouse: 
William A 

Brown 
1879 - 1957 

Blanche 
Stewart 

1892 - 1952 

Pauline 
Kelone 
1900 -  

Spouse: 
Jacqueline 

Garry 
1930 - 2009 

Fred Mapes 
Clark 

1891 - 1934 

 

Milo “Hap” 
Clark 

1899 - 1984 

Glen David 
Clark 

1890 - 1935 

Robert Hain 
Clark 

1887 - 1940 

Ethel Smith  
1896 --1983 

Charles 
Mapes 

1867 - 1924 

Henry Dodd 
1868 -? 

E W Clark 
1861 - 1919 

Son: William 
Clark 

1925 – 1944 
WWII 

 

Spouse: 
Frank A 

Neumann 
1885 - 1978 

Son: Robert 
Clark 

Brown 
1920 - 1999- 

 

Son: William 
Clark Brown 
1917 - 1985 

Spouse: Jean 
Eusey 

1920 - 1993 

Son: Milo Jr. 
Clark 

1932 -   
 

Son: William E 
Clark 

1917 - 2003 

John Rogers 
Elliott 

1841 - 1912 

Elizabeth  
“Betsy”  
Johnson 

1845 - 1885 
 

Eliza Rosenia 
“Rose” 
Elliott 

1868 - 1965 
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Book 7 Chapter 2 - 4 
Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 

Child of John Rogers Elliott and Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson 
 

Child: Ellen “Nellie” Victoria B 13 July 1871 likely Lot 15 Con 3 N Oxford township   
D 01 Sept 1947 Beachville IRC 
M 30 Dec 1903 Beachville 

Spouse: Alexander Smith B 09 May 1872 Beachville 
    D 06 Feb 1964 Beachville 

 
Nellie was the third child and third daughter of 
John Rogers Elliott and Betsy Johnson.  
Historical records about Nellie show a conflict 
regarding her name.  It switches back and forth 
between Ellen and Helen.  Her birth certificate 
lists Victoria, her marriage schedule has her 
listed as Helen and the death certificate has 
her name as Ellen.  The Oxford birth schedule 
indicates that she was born on her father’s 
small property at Lot 15 Con 3 in N Oxford.  
Like several daughters during that time, she 

was sent to work or live with older sisters.  Her sister Rose took in youngest sister Maggie.  In Nellie’s 
case, her older sister Hettie was married to John Downing and Nellie was off to live with them across the 
Thames River at the Downing home and a couple of kilometres distance from her birth place.  The 1891 
census showed a 19-year-old Nellie at the Downing “Riverside” home. 

 
The 1901 census had Nellie living with her younger brother Albert.  The census form indicated they lived 
very near Thomas Downing who was farming Lot 19 Con 2 N Oxford.  I believe in 1901, Nellie and Albert 
were renting 50 acres of Lot 18 Con 2 which was across the concession road.  Albert would marry in 
1905, so prior to that Nellie was the homemaker for Albert as he tried to make a go of his farm.  Albert 
was the only son of J R Elliott to stay in Oxford County while many siblings went to Michigan.  Nellie also 
stayed in the region and did not follow her sisters to Michigan.  Father JR, in 1901 was also living in Port 
Huron, Mi. as well.  He left for the US in 1896 when Nellie was 23 and Albert was 19.  Nellie spent time 
in Port Huron in 1912 to assist her father after the stroke that eventually caused his death. 

 



2 

 
 
Two years after the 1901 census Nellie married Alexander Smith of Beachville.   

 
Alex Smith’s mother was Bessie Munroe and father Archie Smith of Beachville.  The Smith’s owned a 
flypaper business in Beachville for several years.  The business was located at the corner of Church and 
Water St. (just to the west of the old United Church).   
Records indicate that Alex worked at many occupations.  Over the years he was listed as a farmer, a 
carpenter builder, a lime kiln worker and in the flypaper business.   

 
The couple lived in Beachville until Ellen’s death of heart disease at age 76. 
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After her death, Alex moved into a house across a stream from the present day Beachville Museum on 
the Riverside property of his sister-in-law Henrietta Downing.  He continued to work in the lime kilns.  
He lived there until his death in 1964. 
 

Grandchild of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Daughter of Alex Smith and Nellie Elliott 
Child: Helen    B 14 June 1905 Beachville 
     D 19 Sept 1945 Ingersoll 
Spouse: Samuel Kenneth Graham B 1905? 
     D unknown 
 
Helen grew up in Beachville.  After school, she went to work for the Beachville Lime Co in the company 
office.  She worked there from about 1925 to 1940.  

 
Helen was a wonderful singer.  Her name appeared in many wedding ceremony write ups as the vocalist 
at the ceremony.  She was the lead singer and soloist for the Beachville Baptist Church.  She and her 
cousin Ruth Elliott Brown were great friends and Ruth often spoke of her and named her eldest 
daughter after her friend and cousin.  Helen tragically died during a breached birth at Ingersoll 
Alexandria hospital.  She was 40 years old that time.  She and her only child are buried in IRC.  Spouse 
Samuel K Graham has not been located either prior or after the death of his wife and son.  He may have 
left Ingersoll after the tragedy. 
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MRS. S. R. GRAHAM CALLED BY DEATH 
The death occurred at an early hour on Wednesday morning, of Mrs. S. R. Graham of Beachville. Mrs. Graham, who 
was formerly, Helen Smith, was very well known throughout the district and her death came as a shock to a very 
wide circle of friends. She is survived by her husband and her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Alex Smith of Beachville. Mrs. 
Graham was a member of the Beachville Baptist church and was the leader of the choir in that church. A talented 
singer, she had given generously of her talents. She was a member of the Junior Music Club and also assisted in the 

Senior Music Club. For many years she was engaged as bookkeeper for the Beachville White Lime Company. - 
Ingersoll Tribune, Sep 20, 1945 
 
 

Next Book 7 – Chapter 2 – 5 
John Arthur Elliott and Family  
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Book 7: Chapter 2 – 5: 
 

Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Children of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 

Third child and oldest son: 
John Arthur Elliott 

 

Table of Contents:  
 

John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss Family Tree  Pg 2 
 

John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss   Pg 3 - 14 
 

Helen Elliott       Pg 14 - 17 
 

Gertrude Elliott      Pg 17 - 20 
 
 Margorie Elliott and Family     Pg 21 - 36 
 
 Ethel Elliott       Pg 37 - 40 
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John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss Family Tree 
John – third oldest child of JR and Betsy Elliot 

                                              Spouses                                Children 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

John Arthur 
Elliott 

1868 - 1966 

Ethel  
1907 - 2001 

Gertrude 
Maude 

1903 - 1991 

Helen Beatrice 
1901 - 1982 

Margorie 
1905 -- 1966 

Joseph 
Harwood 

1892 - 1976 

John Rogers  
Elliott 

1841 - 1912 

Elizabeth 
Betsy 

Johnson 
1848 - 1885  

Maude 
Cutriss 

1875 - 1969 

Ben VanSickle 
 

Ken Siler 
1901 - 1979 

Lloyd Lovell 

Leslie Babcock 
1903 - 1997 

Donald 
Cameron 
1901 -? 

Anthony 
Welch 

1905 - 1979 

Gloria 
Haywood 

1921 - 1987 

Barbara 
Gilleran 

1936 - 2007 

Twin Infant 
Boys 

Childbirth 

Don Babcock 
1932 - 2002 
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Grandson of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Son of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Child: John Arthur Elliott   B 31 Aug 1874   Lot 15 Con 3 North Oxford 

D 08 Jan 1961 Detroit 
M 02 Jul 1898 Detroit 
Divorce 27 Nov 1917 Detroit 

Spouse: Maude Cutriss   B Mar 1875 Ontario 
D 01 Nov 1969 Detroit 

 
Children: 
Helen Beatrice    1901 - 1982 
Gertrude Maude   1903 - 1991 
Marjorie    1905 - 1966 
Ethel     1907 - 2001 
 
John Arthur Elliott was born in North Oxford township.  His father JR was known to have owned two 
acres on Con 3 Lot 15 on the north side of the Thames River just east of Ingersoll at the time of John’s 
birth, so I suspect he was born at that location.  This was the family home and small acreage for some 
pigs and cows. 
 
The earliest record of John is the 1881 Ontario Census.  He was listed as 6 years old and was living with 
his entire family.  The family were listed as Bible Christians.  This was a noted break off religion from the 
Methodist Church that was common to emigrants from Devon, England.  This was basically the start of 
the formation of the Salvation Army.  Oxford Co. was a breeding ground for the formation of the 
Salvation Army in later decades. 

 

 
I initially had no luck in finding John A in any 1891 Ontario census.  Normally, it would be expected that 
he would be living with his father and step mother in the same location.  He would have been 16 years 
old. 
However, as is common in any generation, conflicts at home may have occurred.  Perhaps he and his 
father had a falling out.  Maybe he did not get along with his new stepmother when she arrived in 1885 
when he was around 10 years old and he bided his time waiting to leave.  Regardless, he was out of the 
house at age 16 as of the 1891 census.  There are several places where minor children were when not 
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with their parents.  Girls were often sent to be “servant girls” usually living with more affluent relatives.  
This happened to John’s father’s sister Josephine.  She was sent to live with an affluent Seldon cousin in 
Ingersoll.  Another situation would be that a younger daughter would be sent to live with an older 
married sister.  This example can be seen in the 1891 JR Elliott family census as 10-year-old Maggie, 
youngest sister of John A, was living with her older married sister Rose in Woodstock.   In the case of 
boys at age 16, they would be often found as farm labourers.  They would be working for relatives or for 
neighbouring farmers in the summer and at home going to school in the winter.  As an example, John 
A’s younger brother Albert had an unrelated local boy age 14, working for him as a farm labourer when 
the 1921 census occurred.  Although there was a possibility that John A was working for another farmer 
when the census occurred and was not on the family list, I believe he had left home at that time.  A Pt. 
Huron newspaper mentioned in 1895 that his father JR Elliott was visited by his son, John from 
Woodstock, Ont.  This can be corroborated in the 1893 Woodstock Directory that had a John A. Elliott in 
Woodstock and working at Siggins Carriage Makers as a leather trimmer.  He was boarding at a house in 
Woodstock at the time and would have been 19 years old.  He moved to Detroit the following year. 
 

 
 
In the 1880s and 1890s, there was great opportunities for young men to go to work in the large 
industrial centers of Chicago, Detroit, and Toronto.  Farming options in southern Ontario were becoming 
scarce as more sons survived childbirth to work and eventually own their own farms.  The parcels of land 
were constantly being broken into smaller non profitable lots in order to make sure every son had land. 
Increased mechanization eliminated the need for as many farm labourers thus driving farm boys into the 
industrial cities.  Hence the large influx of rural Ontario youth moving to Michigan in the 1880 to 1910 
time frame.  Several of John A’s relatives had already made the trip across the border by the time he did 
in 1898. 
 
John A married Mary Maude Cutriss 02 July 1898 in Detroit.  The registration list indicated that both 
were from Ontario.  How they met is unknown.  There is some evidence that she was from Hamilton 
Ont.  I suspect that the couple knew each other in Ontario before the marriage as it took place only a 
few months after John A had emigrated in the spring 1898.  I believe that they arrived as a couple to 
Detroit. 
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The marriage registration indicates that John already had a job as a molder in the short time he had 
been in Detroit.  The witnesses are not family members of either side.  This may mean that the wedding 
was spontaneous or the families did not condone it. 
 
Detroit Free Press – 03 June 1898 

 
 

 
 

As noted, Mary Maude Cutriss was listed as being from Canada 
as was John A.  I have not been able to locate any substantial 
information on Maude.  She was first generation Canadian with 
her father coming for Germany.  Even tracking her father James 
Cutriss and mother Kate Alcock have not aided in furthering her 
story.  
 
There was a traumatic incident for Maude as noted by the 
Detroit Free Press in the year 1900.  The accused was Charles 
Mapes.  Her sister-in-law Rose was married to a Charles Mapes 
but divorced him in 1897 in the Detroit courts.  This is an eerie 
coincidence and no proof can be made to show that it is the 
same Charles Mapes. 
 
The 1900 Detroit census gave insight into John Elliott’s 
occupation.   He was a sand molder for a company that made 
iron stoves.  The 1910 census indicated a large change as there 
were now four daughters added in quick succession to the 
family. 
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1910 Wayne County (Detroit) census 

  
1917 Detroit Directory: 

 
 
The directory indicated that John as a foreman at the Stroh Casting Co. at that time. 
The Stroh family was mostly famous for the Stroh Brewing Co. of Detroit.  Forbes magazine noted that 
the Stroh family was well known for “when Bernard Strohl arrived in Detroit in 1850 with $150 and 
converted that into a lucrative business.  Following generations lost an estimated $9 billion dollars 
before the company folded”.  The Stroh Casting Co. eventually moved to Wisconsin before folding in 
2005.   
Detroit was the North American center for stove manufacture.  Millions of cast iron stoves and furnaces 
were manufactured.  Wood stoves were eventually replaced by coal, gas, and electric stoves.  Molders 
like John Elliott were in great demand due to the difficulty of finding proficient molders. 
 

1912 description of the job of a molder 
280 QUARTERLY JOURNAL OF ECONOMICS – Oxford University Press 
The molder was supreme. He was supposed to be coremaker,' molder and cupola tender all in one. He 
cut over his own sand, shook out and cleaned his own castings, and had very little to work with except 
iron, fuel, sand and a few simple tools. Thorough and dirty, molding was a highly skilled trade requiring 
consider-able technical proficiency, and in which the processes, many of them apparently simple, 
demanded long training and experience. A man had to know how to treat this sand so as to get a mixture 

just suitable for with-standing the heat and force of the molten metal. He had to set the cores accurately 

and ram the sand around the pattern so as to get a true and substantial matrix.  Drawing the pattern so as 
not to break the mold was a very delicate process and any resulting imperfection had to be carefully 
patched. The mold had to be properly vented to allow for the escape of gas arising when the metal was 
poured. The iron, melted to white heat in the cupola, was poured by the molder who carried his own ladle 
from furnace to mold. In the process, if the mold was not properly made, an explosion might occur or 
pieces of sand might break loose and run in with the iron, or the metal might not flow freely and evenly, 
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thus leaving non joined portions; or it might shrink internally, causing holes and spongy places. In any of 
these circumstances, the casting was imperfect; his time and the material had been wasted. 
 – Internet source 

 
Example of Molders and crew 1910. 
 
The Detroit Free Press of June 28, 1910 listed new build permits.  John paid $1500.00 for his property 
with the intention of building on it.  461 Beniteau Ave. was the family home from 1910. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

461 Beniteau St. 
 

It appears the house 
was torn down during 
the Detroit population 

retraction era. 

 

Chrysler auto 

assembly 

plant 

 



8 
 

 
World War I arrived and John filled in his draft registration card.  His registry report indicated he had 
reddish hair, grey eyes and was considered tall.  He was also a naturalized citizen by then.  The card was 
filled out around 1917 when the family dynamics were greatly changing. 

 
The year 1917 resulted in the divorce of John and Maude.  Her grounds were of cruelty.  At that point, 
he left the family home to Maude and the four daughters which explains his address on the registration 
card and the nearest relative being daughter Helen at the Beniteau address.  Family lore has it that John 
was: “We vaguely recall our mother (Marjorie) referring to him aka "Bulldog" ... a hard drinker with a 
nasty temper” as per great grandson Gary Gilleran. 
 
Divorce record 27 Nov 1917. 

 
The 1920 census illustrated the changes in the family.   Maude was now the head of the house.  She was 
working as a private nurse.  Helen at age 19 was a bookkeeper for a carburetor manufacturer.  I imagine 
that Helen had to quit school in order to work to bring in money to help pay the bills.  Gertrude had left 
school and by 16 years of age was a telephone switchboard operator for a telephone company.  The two 
youngest, Marjorie age 15, and Ethel age 12 were in school.  John A was single and a boarder living in 
Detroit. 



9 
 

 
1920 census Pg 1 

 
1920 census Pg 2 

 
 
1920 census John A  

 
 
The Suerwier’s lived at 362 McDougall Ave.  This was an apartment building in what was an industrial 
neighbourhood of the downtown core of Detroit. 
 

 
Lakeside Foundry was John’s new employer after the year 1919.  He was a supervisor. 
A molder is still a profession today.  Foundry workers make foundry molds and cores by hand or 
machine, cast molten metal, and operate furnaces in the foundry industry. They are employed by metal 
foundries and foundry departments of metal products manufacturing companies. 
 
According to Owl.net 
“The Lakeside Foundry was located in Detroit, Michigan, United States. It no longer stands. It was on 

Lycaste St. South of Jefferson between Jefferson and Freud between St. Jean and Clairpointe. It opened in 

the late nineteenth century and was owned and operated by Alexander Russel Keys Sr.  The foundry first 

started producing cast iron stoves and accessories.  In 1920 it increased its capital from $40,000 to 

120,000.” 

 

The Lakeside Foundry also had the contract for the manufacturer of the engines for the Ford Model T 
motor car.  However, after a few years, Lakeside Foundry lost this contract when Henry Ford began 
building his own engines for his vehicles.  The Foundry remained in operation for several years before 
ceasing manufacturing operations.  The Keys family held onto the factory and used it for storage for 
their other economic pursuits.  
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By 1916, Lakeside Foundry was a money maker  
for shareholders but by January 1925  
it was up for auction. 
 
The building is apparently demolished in 2022. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
There is a bit of history in regards to John A’s birth certificate.  It appears none was issued.  For some 
reason in 1940, perhaps to register for old age pension, he had to have one notarized and witnessed.  
His younger sister was the declarer.  The mention of the family bible is intriguing.  I wish I knew if it still 
exists. 
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Except for his birth certificate, my trail for John Elliott goes dry after the 1920 census for a number of 
years.  I believed he was still living in Detroit in the 1930’s, 40’s and 50’s.  It is known he was at his oldest 
sister Henrietta’s funeral in 1944.  The next time I found him was his obituary in the Detroit Free Press 
dated 10th of January 1961.  My older sister remembers his visits to our grandfather’s farm (John’s 
brother Albert) around 1950.  She said that he seemed to always arrive in the late evening.  He gave her 
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a red box with candy in it one time.  Our mother, his sister-in-law, was always suspicious as to why he 
only showed up at night. 
 
Detroit Free Press 10 Jan, 1961 

 
The Obituary shows John’s three 
surviving daughters and two 
surviving siblings.  There is no 
indication that he remarried or 
had stepchildren.  The remaining 
question was were was he living 
for the proceeding 30 years until 
his death at age 86.  No burial 
location was given. 
 
 
 
 

On Aug 26, 1920 Mary Maude Cutriss married Asahel Stewart “Doc” Cooper.  No reason has been found 
as to why Asahel was called “Doc”.  He was born in Sweet Bottom, York County, Penn. 25 Mar 1884. 
Cooper worked as a street car driver in 1930 and was 8 years Maude’s junior.  The four Elliott girls 
accompanied Maude to the Cooper home which was coincidentally, also on Beniteau St. just a few 
houses from the family’s original home.  Did they know each other prior to Maude’s 1917 divorce? 
 
Marriage Registration 
Part 1 
                                                                                                                                                              Fathers 

 
Part 2 
Mothers                                                                                                         Witnesses 

 
 
The 1930 Detroit census had 2 stepdaughters living with Asahel at his Beniteau St. home.  There was 
also a granddaughter named Gloria Harwood. 
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During the depression Asahel was still working as a streetcar driver while Marjorie was bookkeeper at a 
radiator shop and Ethel was a bookkeeper at an auto plant.  Helen and Gertrude were not at home for 
this census.  Because of granddaughter Gloria’s age, Marjorie and Ethel could not be the mother of 
Gloria as they would have been too young.  Helen would have been 19 or 20 at Gloria’s birth and would 
be a likely candidate but she was not living with the family.  More on Gloria and Helen later.   
1940 brought a return of two daughters, Helen and Gertrude.  Granddaughter Gloria Harwood was still 
at the house but Marjorie had married and had moved on. 

 
There are several things to note regarding the 1940 census.  The stepdaughters were back home, likely 
from failed marriages.  Their ages also indicate such.  Everyone except 62-year-old Maude was working. 
 
Asahel  street car driver 
Helen  bookkeeper in the auto industry 
Gertrude was now a supervisor  
  at the phone company 
Ethel   stenographer in auto sales 
Gloria   clerk at auto sales 
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They were all living at 5910 Courville St in NW Detroit in the 1940 census.  (Left photo) 

 
Asahel and Maude downsized after the family was gone and moved into a smaller home at  
5790 Bishop St. Detroit. (Right photo) 
 
Asahel died May 23, 1959                                                                Maude died 01 Nov, 1969 

 
 

Granddaughter of JR Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Child of John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss 

First Child: Helen Beatrice    B 30 Mar 1901 Detroit 
D 1982 possibly Pt Huron, Mi.  
M 03 Mar 1920 
Divorced: 18 Jun 1925 

Spouse: Charles Harwood 
Spouse: “Ben” VanSickle 
 
 
 
Helen was born in Detroit, the oldest of four girls.  She lived in the family 
home with her mother and three sisters after her parent’s divorce.  In the year prior to her mother 
remarrying, Helen married a Charles Harwood.  He was listed as a toolmaker on his marriage schedule 
but the 1930 census had him listed as a cab driver. 
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03 Apr 1920 marriage registration for Helen  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
By 18 Jun 1925 she was 
granted a divorce on the 
grounds of “extreme 
cruelty”.  They had 3-year-
old Gloria L, with them when 
they divorced.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
The 1930 Detroit census did find Helen Elliott Harwood paying $60 a month in rent while living in the 
Lindbergh Apts. on Seward St.  She was working as a stenographer.  As noted previously, her daughter 
Gloria lived in the family home with her aunts and grandmother and stepgrandfather.  It appears that 
29-year-old Helen was not able to support her daughter and thus her daughter Gloria lived with the 
family core.  Gloria’s father appeared to have no connection to his daughter.   
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1930 census Wayne County Detroit 

 
 
The 1930 Detroit census finds Helen Harwood living in the Lindbergh Apts. on Seward St.   

 
 
 
 
 
As was noted before, the 1940 census had  
three older sisters all living at their stepfather’s home. 
Gloria was still living with them at that time. 
 

 
 
Helen later remarried.  Her new spouse was “Ben” Van Sickle.  No information has been found about 
“Ben” Van Sickle other than what John A’s later generations of family can recall.  He was known as “Ben” 
although it is not known if that was his Christian name.  No marriage date has been located nor birth or 
death dates.  It appears that their marriage was the second for both and they married at a mature age.  
They rarely made appearances at family events. 
There is conflicting evidence regarding Helen’s death.  It is known that her niece, Barbara Babcock 
moved her from Detroit to be nearer Barbara’s family in Port Huron where Barbara lived from 1978 to 
1996.  Helen moved into the retirement community of Marine City in Port Huron and that is where she 
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passed away in 1993.  There is much confusion regarding Helen as there was another Helen Van Sickle 
who lived in Port Huron at the same time but appears to have been born there and died in 1982.  A 
humourous family story points out that Ben Van Sickle’s cremation box of ashes bounced around under 
the seat of Helen’s nephew’s truck for a decade before being scattered.   
 
Helen’s daughter, Gloria Harwood, married a man named Leonard DeLiso.   They moved to Chicago 
where she died in Sept 1987.  Helen had no other children.  In later years, Helen introduced Gloria to the 
family at a family gathering.  She was a surprise to all the great nieces and nephews who had no 
knowledge of Gloria’s existence. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                 Chicago Tribune Nov 16, 1987.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Grandchildren of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Child of John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss 
Second Child: Gertrude “Gert” Maude  B 13 Sept 1903 Detroit 

D 03 Jun 1991 Detroit 
M 13 Apr 1921 Detroit 
Divorce 17 Sept 1925 Detroit 

Spouse: Kenneth Siler    B unknown 
M 1955-65 

Spouse: Lloyd Lovell   B unknown 
     D unknown 
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Gertrude (on some documents Ruth) was born in 1903 in Detroit.  She had to quit school at 16 in order 
to work so that she could supply an income for the family after her father left due to her parent’s 
divorce. 
She did not go back to school when her mother remarried in Aug 1920.  The reason being that she 
herself was married at age 18.  She married 18-year-old, Illinois born, Kenneth Siler.  They married on  
13 Apr 1921. 

 
Gertrude spent several decades working with the Michigan Phone 
Company. 
 
 
The “Spirit of Communications” 
as used on the phone book covers by the Bell System of Michigan on 
telephone directories, 1930-40. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The marriage was not a good one.  Four years later, Gertrude filed for divorce in June 1925 due to 
“extreme cruelty”. 
Divorce was granted on the 17th of September 1925.  No children were involved in the marriage. 
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It would be expected that Gertrude would be found back at her mother’s residence on the 1930 census. 
She was not there.  I would be curious as to where she went after her divorce and during that decade.   
The 1940 census had Gertrude, at age 35, living back with her mother and sisters. 
 

 
 
I do not know the date of Gertrude’s second marriage but it would have to be between 1940 and 1954.  
She married Lloyd Lovell.  I cannot locate, without speculation, his background or where Lloyd came 
from.  There were several Lloyd Lovells in the Detroit area and I have no locations or dates of his family 
to trace information.  I could not find a burial location.  He remains a mystery.   
 
I did find Gertrude and Lloyd living in east Detroit in the 1954 and 1957 City directories. 
 
 1954 Directory: 

 
1957 Directory: 
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Both directories indicated that they lived 
at 16807 Juliana Ave in NE Detroit in the 
1950s. 
 
In their later years, they lived at 3760 W. 
Maple Rd in Birmingham Hills Mi.  Their 
house backed onto the north course of 
the famous Oakland Hills Country Club.  
The Club has hosted 6 US Opens and 3 
PGA Championships since it first was 
built in 1916.  The home stayed in the 
her nephew’s Babcock family after their 
deaths.  The couple was childless. 
 
 
 
 

3760 W Maple Rd. Birmingham Mi. 
Gertrude appeared to be living in the 
northern Michigan community of 
Cheboygan in her later years, perhaps 
with or near her nephew Don Babcock 
and family who had moved there in the 
1970s.  I have been told by family 
members that the Lovell’s spent time in 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida.  Gertrude M 

Lovell died there 03 June 1991.  A Lloyd Lovell died in 2002, also in Fort Lauderdale. 
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Grandchildren of JR Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Children of John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss 
Third Child: Marjorie K  B 25 Dec 1904 Detroit 

D 01 May 1966 Detroit 
M 27 Jun 1931 Detroit 

Spouse: Leslie Francis Babcock B 01 Jan 1903 Mt Clemens, Mi. 
D 11 Jul 1997 Burt Lake, Cheboygan, Mi. 

 
Four Children: 
Donald Babcock 
Barbara (Babcock) Gilleran 
John B 07 May 1944 D 17 Jan 1945 Spinal Muscular Atrophy 
Unknown – newborn 
 
Marjorie was a Christmas baby.  As was noted earlier, in 1919, Margorie left high school after her second 
year in order to work to help financially support her single mother and sisters.  Marjorie was at home 
with most of her family in the 1920 census decade.  She married Leslie Francis Babcock on 07 Jun 1931 
at age 26.  
Leslie was born into the Frederick Babcock and Anna Paya family of Mt. Clemens, Mi. on 01 Jan 1903.  
The Babcock family appears to be long time Michigan residents as early censuses record Leslie’s 
grandparents as being born in Michigan as well.  Leslie was the third child and oldest son in his family.  
The lived in Mt. Clemens through Leslie’s formative years.  His father Frank was listed as a painter in the 
1910 census.  Frank had moved the family to Detroit by the 1920 census.  He was employed as a 
toolmaker.  By the time Leslie was 27, he was listed in the 1930 census as a manager of a company 
named General Utilities. 
By 1929, he had graduated from night school classes in Commerce and Finance at the University of 
Detroit.  
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                                            Cathedral Abbey of St. Anthony’s. 
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1940 Pg 1 census 
Leslie Babcock was 37 years old in the 1940 census.  He was an assistant manager in an advertising firm 
making $2040 a year and had two small children aged 7 and 4 at home. 

 
1940 Pg 2 census 
 
There is some interesting information on Leslie’s draft card.  His home address and work location for 
1942 is now known.  He also had great penmanship as seen by his signature. 

 
 
He was employed by The Joseph Gagnier Printing Plate Co. which was a well-known Detroit book binding 
company.   
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A customer catalogue from the Detroit Historical Society. 

 

1948.048.004 - Brochure  

Advertising brochure entitled, "Smart Printing of Smart 

Sayings," printed by the Liggett & Gagnier Art Printers of 

Detroit. The softcover is made of heavy-weight orange, purple, 

and green art papers that are bound with a staple and a thin 

green cord. The 16 interior pages are made of various 

lightweight art papers that are printed with colored text, 

pictures, and/or photographs. One of the photographs is of 

Joseph S. Gagnier. It appears that the variety of papers, text 

styles, drawings, and photographic images which are included 

in the brochure are intended to show potential customers the 

many capabilities of the printer.  

 
 
The family home on the draft card is noted as 13738 Eastwood 
Ave.  What would have been an upper middle-class 
neighbourhood then is no longer the case in the abandonment of 
Detroit neighbourhoods. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                  Detroit Free Press  
                                                                                                   Nov 17, 1954 

 
Marjorie was struck down by cancer in 1966.  I am told by her grandson that it was a long hard struggle 
for her.  She struck me as a stoic woman that never complained. 
Leslie retired and eventually moved to Burt Lake in North Michigan to live with his son Donald 
and his family.  He passed in 1997. 
 

https://detroithistorical.pastperfectonline.com/archive/7A25B3B2-031D-4E0D-A797-331676948430
https://detroithistorical.pastperfectonline.com/archive/7A25B3B2-031D-4E0D-A797-331676948430
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Grandchildren of John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss 
Children of Marjorie Elliott and Leslie Babcock 
First and Second Child:  twin infant boys did not survive the day. 
 
Most of the information on Donald and Barbara Babcock was sent to me by Barbara’s son, Gary Gilleran. 
For this I am most thankful. 
 
Third Child:  Donald Francis Babcock  B 09 Dec 1932 Detroit, Mi.  

D 04 Aug 2002 Petosky, Mi. 
M 1955 

Spouse: Joanne Lois Hanson   B 12 Sept 1933 Detroit, Mi 
D 31 Jan 2017 Marquette, Mi. 
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As noted, Don was raised in the family home in Detroi.t 
 
 
 
Photo: Don’s 1955 high school yearbook 
Edwin Denby High School 
 
 
Don was a very active student at Denby High Detroit. 
He was involved in numerous clubs and sports 
Teams. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The football “Tars” finished 
with 5 wins and a loss that 
year. 
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Handsomest Boy: Denby High 
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Joanne Lois Hanson was a year younger than Don but went to Edwin Denby High as well.  She was a 
member of the orchestra. 

 
 
                                                               Edwin Denby High School 
 

They were high school sweethearts and they were 
married in 1955.  Don went to university. 
My understanding from his relatives, is that he owned a 
nursery and expanded it to include a company that 
manufactured colour infused cement blocks and 
decorative cement ornaments.  He had worked on the 
idea of colouring cement and had developed and applied 
for the patent for the process.  This led to a lucrative 

market and the business thrived.  By 1970, he was able to sell the 
business.  In 1971, much to the chagrin of the teenage children, they 
moved to remote Burt Lake in Northern Mi.   One daughter cried the 
whole trip in the backseat of the car. 
Unfortunately, there was a mishap. 
The house they moved to was destroyed by fire and rebuilt and is 
used by his family as a summer cottage today. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Don built an 18 lane Bowing Alley (expanded to 30 lanes at a later date) called the Spare Time Lanes in 
Cheboygan.  It was a featured venue for ABC and ESPN television coverage of bowling tournaments.   
It opened 01 Oct 1977. 
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             Spare Times Lanes Facebook photo: 
 
By 1989 he sold the bowling alley and  
retired to life at Burt Lake.  Later they move to  
7060 East Shane Lane in Cheboygan, Mi. 
 
 
 
 
 
 1978 Petoskey Review. 

     
We have all had one of these. 
 
Gary Gilleran, Don’s nephew, stated that Don was a bigger than life person who had a strong influence 
on Gary’s life. 
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Donald’s Obituary 
 
Donald F. Babcock, 69, of Brutus, passed away Aug. 4, 2002, at Northern Michigan 

Hospital. 

Funeral service for Don was held Wednesday, Aug. 7, at St. Clement Catholic Church 

in Pellston, the Rev. Sylvester Micek, officiated.  

Don was born Dec. 9, 1932, in Detroit, the son of Leslie and Marjorie Babcock and 

brother to Barbara (Jerry) Gilleran of Watervliet, Mich. 

On Sept. 10, 1955, he married Joanne Hanson. He was a loving husband to Joanne 

and loving father to Susan Dionne (Scott) of Marquette, Brian (Shannon) of Savage, 

Minn., Robert (Nicki) of Brutus, and Cheryl Thies (Patrick) of Lakeville, Minn. 

In 1971, he moved his family north to Brutus, locating on the west side of Burt Lake. 

In 1972, he was elected supervisor and assessor for Burt Township, 30 years, an office 

he held until his death. In 1977, he built and operated the first 30-lane bowling alley 

in Cheboygan County., Spare Time Lanes was operated by the family for 12 years and 

sold in 1989. 

He was a past president of the Cheboygan Rotary Club. He was a member of the St. Clement Church in Pellston and 

served on the church council. 

He is also survived by 10 grandchildren, Thomas and Michelle Dionne, Brianna, Chelsie and Alicia Babcock, Bradley, 

Gregory, Cory and Timothy Babcock, and Celina Thies, who will miss him dearly because he was very much a part of 

their lives, He was preceded in death by his parents and two infant brothers. 

 
Joanne’s Obituary. 

 
MARQUETTE, MI - Joanne Lois Babcock, age 83, of Marquette, entered eternal life 
Tuesday, January 31, 2017, at Mill Creek Assisted Living, in the loving, comforting 
care of her family and UP Home Health and Hospice. 
Born September 12, 1933, in Detroit, a daughter of Donald and Henrietta (Kintzer) 
Hanson, Joanne was raised in the Detroit area and graduated from Denby High 
School, Class of 1951.  
In 1955, Joanne married her high school sweetheart, Donald Babcock, and together 
the couple set about establishing a home and raising four children in the Detroit 
suburbs. Joanne was kept happily  
busy as a homemaker and mother. 
In 1971, the family moved to Northern Lower Michigan's Burt Lake where she 

enjoyed fishing, snowmobiling, and cross-country skiing.  
Joanne and Don were active and devoted members of St. Clement Catholic Church in Pellston, Michigan. While 
living at Burt Lake, the couple built a bowling alley called Spare Time Lanes in Cheboygan. It was a family run 
operation and many remember Joanne for her famous moonlight doubles buffet where no one could get enough of 
her legendary baked beans. She loved to cook and had an open heart for others, always making sure others were 
taken care of. Don and Joanne sold the establishment in 1987 and began enjoying their time together with family 
and friends at the lake.  
Her grandchildren were everything to her, and time spent with them and following their activities were treasured. 
Following Don's passing, Joanne relocated to Marquette to be nearer to her daughter, Sue, and had resided at Mill 
Creek for the past five years. 
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Joanne is survived by her children, Sue (Scott) Dionne of Marquette, Brian (Shannon) Babcock of Savage, 
MN, Bob (Nicki) Babcock of Brutus, MI, and Cheryl (Pat) Thies of Lakeville, MN; ten grandchildren, Brad 
(Amanda Tryban) Babcock, Greg (Becky) Babcock, Tom (Lindsey) Dionne, Cory Babcock, Tim (Kelly) 
Babcock, Brianna Babcock, Chelsie Babcock, Michelle (Craig Werner) Dionne, Alicia Babcock, and Celina 
Thies; five great-grandchildren, Abigail and Madison Babcock, Natalie Babcock, Kinley and Emery 
Dionne; a brother, Donald Hanson of Cadillac, MI; several nieces and nephews. Joanne was preceded in 
death by her parents; husband, Donald, in 2002; and her sister, Marilyn. 
 
 

 
                                                                                                              Inscription: “Your cup is always half full not half empty”. 

 

Grand Children of John Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss 
Children of Leslie Babcock and Marjorie Elliott 
Child: Barbara Ann     B 16 July 1936 Detroit 

D 15 Aug 2007 Watervliet, Mi. 
M 12 Nov 1955 Detroit 

Spouse: Gerald Thomas (Jerry) Gilleran  B 16 Feb 1933 Detroit 
D 13 Mar 2012 Cleveland, Ohio 
 

Barbara was three years younger than her brother Don.  She attended Assumption Grotto Elementary 
and Dominican High School.  She graduated in 1953 and at her high school graduation party, met Gerald 
Thomas (Jerry) Gilleran.  They were married in 1955, the same year as her brother. 
They had 7 children, 2 died in infancy. 
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St. Matthews 
    Note Married Nov 12, 1955                                                                                        Church, Detroit 
Jerry Gilleran (from family history notes) 
 
With a strong Catholic background, Jerry decided to join a Seminary and study to become a priest in the 
early 1950’s.  Family lore has it that the priests recognized that he was not cut out for the priesthood 
and rolled him up in a carpet and carried him out to the street.  While contemplating his next move, he 
joined the US Army during the Korean War but was surprisingly stationed on Belle Isle in Detroit to 
“watch for submarines” as his son Gary stated.  Once relieved of duty he and Barbara married. 
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After their marriage the couple stayed in the Detroit area to start a family.  Jerry went to work for his 
father in the lumber sales industry.  His father’s business was very successful and I imagine Jerry was 
deeply immersed in learning the ins and outs of running a manufacturing/sales business. 
 
The Grigg Box Company in Detroit was founded in 1932.  In 1963 Jerry Gilleran purchased the enterprise.  
It is thought he paid $35,000 for the business at the time.  The company initially made crates for the 
original Coca Cola glass bottles.  With the advent of aluminum pop cans, the business adapted.  Leftover 
Coke crates were sold to the US Army as grenade shipping boxes.  The company expanded the product 
line to include wooden crates and boxes for all items, some as big as an Army tank.  After the family 
moved to Port Huron, Jerry continued to commute to Detroit.  Jerry ran the 100-employee operation, 
including for a time with his son Gary, until 1993 when he sold it.  As a sidebar, the property was sold for 
a significant price as it was one of the rare pieces of land where the soil did not need to be remediated 
due to toxic elements that lurked in most of the soil in the Detroit industrial land base.  Regardless, the 
company waas still in business as of 2021. 

 
 
In 1973 the family moved to a home on the shore of Lake Huron in north Pt Huron at 3790 Gratiot Ave. 
The majority of the schooling and raising of the family was done there.   

 
Photo: The family home on the shore of Lake 
Huron 
 
Jerry and Barbara moved to the western 
Michigan town of Watervliet in 2001.  They 
purchased the lakefront property that was 
once a retreat for the Sisters of the 
Immaculate Heart of Mary and later a 
summer camp for girls.   The property was 
refurbished by Jerry to serve as the family 
compound. 
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Daughter Patty now has full ownership of the house.  Barbara 
excelled at painting; she had a studio in her home.  When they 
moved to Watervliet, Barbara was in her 50s and she went back 
to school to become a dental hygienist.  She went to work for 
her daughter Patty’s dental practice in Chicago.  She often 
commuted via train to Chicago from her home in Michigan.  To 
facilitate her job, she and Jerry had a condo in Chicago that they 
could use.  She worked until a year before her death. 
 
 
 
(Don Gilleran should read: Don Babcock) 
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An interesting note: Barbara and Jerry had 18 grandchildren.  Of the 18, that included 5 sets of twins. 
I was surprised to see in Ancestry.com records that Jerry Gilleran had died while living in Cleveland, 
Ohio.  After conferring with his family, it was true.  Jerry was always building things, not fine crafted 
items but home structures, additions and so on.  It was pointed out to me that he had “sawdust in the 
blood”.  He went to Cleveland to help one of his daughters with construction on her house.  He was 
there for six months when he slipped and fell and never recovered. 
The best way to describe Jerry and Barbara is through their obituaries.  It is obvious that they are written 
by the family and give more insight than I could about their personalities and life. 
 

BARBARA ANN A. GILLERAN 

 
A talented artist, loving wife, mom and grandma, sister, aunt and friend, who 

taught her family so much during her lifetime through her actions, energy, love 
and spirit, lost her battle with cancer on Wednesday, August 15, 2007. But her 
approach to living like no other -- to love who you are and what you have, to 
find humor in everything, to laugh everyday, to welcome change and continue 
to dream -- will carry on in all those fortunate to have been touched by this 
remarkable woman. Barb was the spark, the firefly, the life-force weaving 

together generations through her warmth and generosity. She knew how to 
create a sense of community through a swimming pool and how to knit 

sweaters as well as families and ideas together. She also knew how to touch the 
deeper dimensions of life, inspire creativity and to teach her family to recognize 

beauty in colors, sunsets and flowers, the favorite subjects of her many paintings. She was born 
Barbara Ann Babcock on July 16, 1935, in Detroit, Michigan, where she attended Assumption Grotto Elementary 
and Dominican High School and made many life-long friends. It was at a high school graduation party that she met 
her future husband, Gerald (Jerry) Gilleran, whom she married on November 12, 1955, at St. Matthews Church on 
Detroit's east side. And so began their story of raising five children, Gary, Patty, Kathy, Debbie and Peggy, in a fun-
loving home where the front door was always open and neighbors and relatives were always welcome. In 2001 
Barb and Jerry moved to the western Michigan town of Watervliet, into a former Sisters of the Immaculate Heart of 
Mary (IHM) Retreat house, which they restored to accommodate their growing brood. While Barb continued to 
commute to Chicago weekdays, working as a dental assistant until last year, weekends were reserved for 
entertaining usually a full house of children, grandchildren, children's friends, friends of friends and family. With 
almost unimaginable energy and despite the cancer raging throughout her body, she still managed to plan and 
conduct, like an orchestra leader, one last party. Last Easter weekend, 125 adults and another 45 children, 
representing her closest loved ones, came together in a celebration of her life. The plants brought as gifts will 
transform each spring into her lasting memory and serve as eternal hope, especially for her grandkids. Because 



36 
 

most of all, she loved being a grandma and spending time with her grandkids, and that's what her family will miss 
most of all. Barb was fortunate to be double blessed, an astounding five times, as three of her daughters added five 
sets of twins to the grandchild roster which has wound up totaling 18 grandkids in all. So life goes on without "our 
anchor" for husband Jerry, children Gary (Susie) Gilleran, Patty Gilleran (Tripp Klapperich), Kathy (Bob) Andrews, 
Debbie (John) Frain, and Peggy (Gary) Rademaker; grandchildren Eli, Adrienne and Gabriel Gilleran; Taylor and 
Trevor Andrews; Drue, Annie, Ben and Alex Klapperich; Ian, Malachy, Adele, Teagan and Stella Frain; Jack, Charlie, 
Joseph and Eleanor Rademaker; her sisters-in-law (who were her sisters) Mary Fran Gilleran, Helen Roach, Regina 
Butler, Carol Gilleran, Ann Gilleran, Judy Gilleran and Joanne Babcock; and her dear nieces and nephews. Her 
parents Leslie and Marjorie (nee Elliott) Babcock and her brother Donald Babcock, brother-in-law Jim Butler and 
very close friend of the family Fr. Jack Trese, precede her in death. Hutchins Funeral Home, Watervliet, Michigan is 
assisting Barbs family with arrangements. She never wanted a funeral, but a memorial to celebrate her Life is being 
planned for next summer. 

 
GERALD THOMAS “JERRY” GILLERMAN 

 

 
GILLERAN GERALD THOMAS "JERRY" could build anything. When the east side 

Detroit home that he and the love of his life, Barbara Ann Babcock, was gutted due 
to a fire in the 70s, he rebuilt the house on the same property. After purchasing 
Grigg Box Company in the heart of the city in 1963, which he owned until his 
retirement in 1993, he built wooden boxes for housing everything from car parts to 
army tanks. When the city burned during the '67 riots, he stood by as a passionate 
Detroiter, bridging divides and restoring hope. As his five children married and 

moved to homes of their own, he built additions and led their remodels. All the 
while he was building, Jerry was also laying the foundation for the values he will be 

remembered for: the importance of family, spirituality, integrity and generosity. The 
man with the biggest heart lost his battle with heart disease and passed away on March 

13, 2012. He was 79. A devout Catholic, Jerry was the eldest son of George and Kathleen Gilleran of 
Three Mile Drive. He attended St. Matthews Elementary School, started High School in the seminary and graduated 
from University of Detroit. He served three years in the U.S. Army during the Korean War where he was stationed 
on Belle Isle. Jerry and Barb were married at St. Matthews and celebrated 52 years together. They raised their 
family at Our Lady of Good Counsel. He headed up the Teen Club there, serving as a father figure to turn the lives 
around of many youths in need. His second "church," as Barb called it, was Grigg Box, where he was known as Mr. 
G. and employed 100's of people over the years, serving as a mentor and friend to all. He had a reputation as an 
honest and forthright businessman, someone who made deals on a handshake, always had the best interests of 
those who worked for him top-of-mind. In 1978, the family moved to Port Huron, Michigan, where they created a 
new community. At their home on the lake, the garage door was never locked and the back door was always open 
to family, friends and new neighbors, who wound up establishing lasting friendships. The consummate hosts, Jerry 
and Barb presided over countless gatherings, reunions, holidays and weddings. Years later, Jerry and Barb 
transformed a rambling farm house in Watervliet, MI, that once served as a retreat to the Sisters of the Immaculate 
Heart of Mary, into a place where all—family, old friends and new—were welcome to gather. From here, Jerry's 
garage served as the hub for countless projects. With the Tigers game streaming on the radio, he passed along to 
all of his 18 grandchildren, including among them five sets of twins, the possibilities of wood construction and the 
importance of recognizing you can build anything. Jerry is survived by five of his children and their children: Gary 
Gilleran (Susie), Eli, Adrienne and Gabriel; Patty Gilleran Klapperich (Tripp), Annie, Drue, Alex and Ben; Kathy 
Andrews (Bob), Taylor and Trevor; Debbie Frain (John), Ian, Malachy, Adele, Stella and Tegan; Peggy Rademaker 
(Gary), Jack, Charlie, Joe and Ellie; and five of his siblings, Regina Butler (Betty Sheppard), Helen Roach (Ken), Jim 
Gilleran (Ann), Dick Gilleran (Carol) and Thomas Gilleran (Judy), along with beloved nieces, nephews, their spouses 
and children. He was preceded in death by his wife, Barb; two infant children, Mary Carmel and Joseph Thomas; 
brother-in-law, James Butler; and his youngest sister, Sr. Mary Frances Gilleran. 
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Granddaughter of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Daughter of Arthur Elliott and Maude Cutriss  
Fourth Child: Ethel Margaret   B 27 May 1907 Detroit 

D 27 Oct 2001 Birmingham, Mi. 
M 24 Dec 1925 Detroit 

Spouse: Donald P Cameron  B 05 Dec 1901 Fishkill, NY 
     D 1967 Tokyo 

Divorced: 05 Oct 1928  
M 14 Feb 1950 Chicago 

Spouse: Anthony Patrick Welsh  B 24 Aug 1905 Youngstown, Ohio 
D 17 Nov 1979 Birmingham, Mi. 

 
Ethel was the youngest of all the daughters of John and Maude.  She likely suffered the wrath of her 
heavy drinking father John Elliott, as a child and was 10 years old when her parents divorced.  After she 
had finished high school, Ethel had meet and married Douglas Cameron. She was 18 years old when she 
married on Christmas Eve 1925.   
Douglas Perinchief Cameron was a teacher and the son of Bermudian minister Joseph Perinchief 
Cameron and Caroline Babcock.  Born in New York State, he married and divorced Ethel in short order.  
He remarried in 1942, had a son Jay and moved to Hawaii.  Donald died in Tokyo in 1967. 
 
 

 
There are two things to note on Ethel’s marriage registration.   

1. Her witness was her sister Marjorie Elliott (who later married Leslie Babcock) 
2. New husband Donald Cameron’s mother was Caroline Babcock.  
3. Leslie Babcock had a sister named Caroline Babcock 

Is there some kind of family link? 
No record has been located about Caroline Babcock except that she is buried in Troy Oakland Cemetery 
in Michigan. 
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It is interesting to note that in the newspaper announcement of the wedding, Ethel was listed as Ethel 
Elliott and that her father is Asahef Cooper.  Asahef was her stepfather. 
 

 
 
Reception was held at the Statler Hotel in Detroit. 
 
 
Ethel and Douglas moved to Chicago to live due to his teaching job at a private school.  It was a very 
short union as Ethel filed for divorce less than two years later in October of 1928 and was granted one 
on the grounds of cruelty.   The paperwork was filed in Wayne Co. Michigan so I suspect Ethel was back 
living with her parents by October of 1927.  Walter was living in the Walton Hotel in Chicago in 1930. 
This is pretty much confirmed as Ethel was found in the 1930 census living with her mother and 

stepfather.  She was listed as a 22-year-
old bookkeeper for an auto plant.  Ethel’s 
life does not appear to have any real 
highlights through the 1930’s.  I suspect 
the depression had an effect in the hard-
hit auto manufacturing center.  The 1940 
census had her still living with her 
parents.  She was now listed as a 
stenographer for auto sales.   
I have no records of Ethel’s involvement 
with the war effort of the 1940’s but 
suggest she was busy as the auto industry 
swung over to the manufacture of planes 
and tanks. 
 
 
 
In 1950, her life took a turn as she met 
and married Anthony Patrick Welsh.  

They married 14 Feb 1950 in Chicago. 
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Anthony “Pat” Welsh was born in Youngstown, Ohio to a large 
family that mostly worked in the steel industry in town.  His 
father was a supervisor at a foundry.   
Pat was a physically imposing man for the era; in his youth he 
was over 6 feet and 200 lbs.  He was born into an Irish family 
and his lively personality reflected the Irish background. 
Draft card – 1940 

 
 

Pat changed occupation and became a successful 
lumberman and founded the Michigan Industrial 
Hardwood Co.  The 1950 census had him living with wife 
Edith and his mother and two siblings at 858 Edison St.  
When he died, his substantial tool collection was 
inherited by his nephew, Jerry Gilleran.  Pat and Ethel 
had no children. 
His obituary portrayed his life story very well. 
 
Ethel continued to live in Birmingham Mi. after her 
husband’s death.  She died in 2001. She had no children 
from her two marriages. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Detroit Free Press 19 Nov, 1979 
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 858 Edison St.  Ethel’s home 1950. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Of John Arthur Elliott’s four daughters, only Marjorie had children.  Her children and grandchildren 
mostly live in Minnesota, Michigan, Indiana, and California.  As noted, the family was genetically inclined 
to deliver twins. 
 

 
 
Next Chapter 2-6: Albert James Elliott and Family 
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Book 7 Chapter 2 - 6 
 

Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Children of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 

Fourth child and second oldest son: 
Albert James Elliott 
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 Grace Elliott and Grant Murray    Pg 27 - 29 
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 Jennie Ruth Elliott and James Brown    Pg 44 - 48 
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Second Child of John Rogers Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Child: Albert James 
B 31 Mar 1877 likely Lot 15 Con 3 N Oxford township   
D 20 Dec 1950 Ingersoll hospital 
residence Lot 19 Con 2 N Oxford 
Interred Woodstock Anglican Cemetery Mausoleum 
 
Spouse: Orpha Myrtle Amelia McGregor Withrow 
B 14 Jan 1881   Woodstock, Ont. 
D 26 Dec 1960 Ingersoll hospital 
residence Lot 19 Con 2 North Oxford 
Interred Woodstock Anglican Cemetery Mausoleum 
M 14 June 1905 – Sweaburg Ont. -at residence of 
Arthur Clarkson 
 
Children: 
Grace Elizabeth  B 01 Mar 1906 Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford  D 06 Mar 1971 Ingersoll  
Albert Raymond (Ray) B 23 Jun 1907 Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford  D 18 May, 1991 Beachville 
Arthur Gordon (Gord)  B Nov 21 1909 Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford  D 28 Mar 2000 Tavistock  
Ruth (Jennie)  B 18 Sept 1917 Lot 19 Con 2 N Oxford D 18 Feb 2010 Woodstock 
 
 
 

 
Family photo  
Estimate 1929 
 
L to R 
Standing Ray and 
Gordon 
Seated Albert, Ruth, 
Grace and Orpha 
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Albert James Elliott and Orpha Withrow Family Tree  
(Oldest son of John Rogers Elliott and Elizabeth “Betsy” Johnson) 

                                                                                 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Albert James 
Elliott 

1877 - 1950 

John Rogers 
Elliott 

1840 - 1912 

Grant Frank 
Murray 

1901 - 1986 

Elizabeth 
(Betsy) 

Johnson 
1845 - 1885 

Phoebe 
Thorn 

1842 - 1892 

Rosina 
Gettler 
1852 - 
1921  

Orpha Myrtle 
Amelia 

Withrow 
1881 - 1960 

Grace 
Elizabeth 

1906 - 1971 

Raymond 
Albert Elliott 
1907 - 1991 

Elizabeth H 
Leigh 

1907 - 1983 

Albert Gordon 
Elliott 

1909 - 2001 

Katheen Susan 
Burks 

1915 - 2006 

Jennie Ruth 
1917 - 2010 

James Brown 
1917 - 1991 

James R 
1933 - 2004 

Virginia 
(Legacy) 
(Sloman) 

Patricia 
(Cromwell) 
1937 - 2007 

Mary Lynn 
(Graham) 

Helen 
(Edwards) 

 

Glenn Gordon 

Lyle Burks 

Keith 
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Albert James Elliott was likely born on his family’s farm at Lot 15 Con 3 of N. Oxford township. 
His father’s farm was 2 acres calved from his uncle Thomas’ 100 acre farm.  Albert’s father JR purchased 
the property in 1870, built a home and raised assorted domestic animals while he worked as a farm 
labourer.  Albert went to Dunn’s Public School until grade 8, when he turned his attention to working as 
a farm labourer.  
 

 
 
After his mother’s tragic death in 1885 when Albert was 7 years old, his father JR sold the family’s 2 and 
a half acres adjacent to the Grand Trunk (CNR) rail line in 1890.  Albert would have been 12 years old.  
The family were still at the family home as late as April of 1891 and were likely leasing.  When Albert’s 
stepmother Phoebe Thorn died in March 1892, it was very likely that Albert’s father moved into town to 
Carnegie St. in Ingersoll.  Albert would have been 15 years old at that time. There is no mention that he 
moved into town with them.  He may have stayed in the country working as a farm labourer.  JR married 
his third wife Rosina Gettler in 1895 and moved with Rosina to Port Huron in 1896.  There is no record 
that Albert went with them.  By 1896 he would have been 19 years old.  There is no mention of his 
whereabouts until the 1901 census.   
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1891 census. 
JR and family still in N Oxford. 

 
 
Albert was next found living at Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford.  He was farming and was living with his older 
sister Helen “Nellie” as per the 1901 census.  She had been living with her oldest sister Henrietta at the 
Downing “Riverside” house but was now likely managing Albert’s house while he worked the farm.  
There is no record that he owned the property he worked but likely rented 25 or 50 acres from the 
owners that lived on the property as well.  Adam Bremner, part owner of the quarry operations owned a 
large portion of the lot and lived on it as noted on the census and in Onland.ca.  Thomas Downing Jr, 
Albert’s uncle by marriage, lived directly across the gravel road on lot 19 with his wife and two children.  
Thomas and Adam Bremner would feature in Albert’s life in the future.  The lot 18 farm became the 
Riddick farm and later the Fred Funnell family lived in the farm house. 
1901 census shows the Downings and Albert Elliott as neighbours. 
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Albert continued to work this property and put savings aside to purchase his own farm. 
In 1905, at age 32, he married Orpha Myrtle Amelia McGregor Withrow. 
 

Orpha Myrtle Amelia McGregor Withrow and ancestors 
Orpha’s family has a long ancestral chain in N. America.  Like her husband, her young life was filled with 
tragedy.  She was born in Woodstock to Samuel McGregor Withrow and Grace Eodina Crocker 
A Withrow cousin, Pamela MacKenzie of Victoria BC, has been researching our Withrow family for 
several decades and has graciously forwarded to me some of the results.  Some of the details are not 
confirmed.  Quotation marks indicated Pam’s words. 

 
Grace Crocker: Orpha’s mother         Orpha’s grandparents: Amelia Manzer and Joseph Withrow  

House 

location 

Lot 18 

House 

location 

Lot 19 

JR Elliott 

family 

home 



 

7 
 

 
“The Withrow name originated in the British Isles.  It is believed 
to mean “Wood-reeve” or overseer of the royal forests.  The 
Withrow clan was believed to have arrived in 1717 from Ulster 
Ireland when Robert Withrow located his family in Chester Co. 
Pennsylvania.  According to the Withrow Family Association and 
ongoing DNA tests, most Withrows in N America originated from 
Robert Withrow and his wife Jennet.”   
 

“The Canadian arm started with Robert’s son Jacob.  He 
was born around 1739 somewhere on the mid-east coast of 
the US and married an Elizabeth Alder.  Through research, 
they are known to have raised five children and lived in N 
and S Carolina.  Jacob and two sons, John and Jacob Jr. 
fought in the American Revolution.    Jacob Sr. and John 
were British Loyalists under British Gen. Cunningham.   John 
was captured by the Americans during the Battle of Cane 
Brake Dec 22, 1775 near present day Greenville and sent to 
Charleston S Carolina as a prisoner of war.  He was released 
after five weeks travelled to Florida than back to Charleston 
to rejoin the fight.  Jacob Jr. Withrow fought on the 
American side with Col. Thomas Pearson’s US regiment 
Little River Militia. He died around 1781 in Dorchester S 
Carolina. “ 

Father Jacob Sr. is believed to have died during the war perhaps in Dorchester County as well.   
 
https://revwarmuseum.weebly.com/battle-of-cane-brake.html 

After American independence, four Withrow children were forced to leave as “Empire Loyalists.”  Some 
Withrow cousins were hanged in the public square as traitors. 

“In December 1782, John Withrow and his first wife Catherine Rudolph and John’s siblings were 
evacuated from Charleston and came to Rawdon, Nova Scotia.”  Their property in Carolina, 
believed to be 250 acres, wagons and stock were confiscated and they boarded ships for Nova Scotia, 
thus the Canadian arm of the family was started.   

Two other brothers stayed in the Carolinas.    Wife Elizabeth Alder’s final resting location is a mystery as 
there is some genealogical belief, she died in 1781 in Dorchester, S Carolina.   

The family settled near Rawdon, Hants Co. Nova Scotia.  Life was hard when they first arrived as minimal 
assistance was given by local governments and there was open hostility from established locals of British 
Isles descent.  John received 500 acres of land from a Crown grant of August 3rd, 1784 in Nova Scotia.  
The Empire Loyalist Withrows found the winters far more inhospitable than South Carolina and the soil 
rocky and hard to clear.  The Withrow name has since been found in Nova Scotia through the decades.  
Notable today are the Withrow Farm Market in Rowden and J&J Withrow Holdings.   

https://revwarmuseum.weebly.com/battle-of-cane-brake.html
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Loyalist son John B 1757 in New Jersey married Sara Whittier in 1792 in Windsor N.S   One of their sons 
was another John B 1793.  He married a Sarah Wier another Empire Loyalist descendant from Newport 
NS. 

“In 1823 John and Sarah Wier moved to Queens Co., New Brunswick and in 1825 John 
petitioned for 1300 acres.  Here he owned a sawmill.  It doesn’t sound as though he was a very 
good businessman though, because he mortgaged his property a number of times, was sued for 
non-payment of debts and finally his property was seized in 1850.  In 1852, he shows up in East 
Zorra township in Oxford Co., Ontario, presumably following the lumber trade.  He dies in 1870 
in Sweaburg, Ontario.”  

One of their sons, Joseph Byron Withrow B 1829 – D 1912 Woodstock, married Amelia Jane Manzer  
B 1831 Salmon Creek NB - D 1926 Woodstock.   

The son “Joseph Byron Withrow seemed to do quite well for 
himself.  He started in the lumber trade in Paris, Ont. circa 
1851 and by 1870 he was in charge of 2 sawmills.  I think he 
was quite social as he has many articles written about him in 
the Oxford Weekly Sentinel.”   
 
He moved the family to a farm in Sweaburg. 

  
Ingersoll Chronicle May 1886 
 
They had several children including their oldest son Samuel 
McGregor Withrow B 1856 East Zorra Township – D 1940 Dryden 
Ont.  He married twice.  He first married Grace Evaline Crocker of 
Beachville in 1879.  She died 30 Nov 1889 in Woodstock.  Orpha 
Withrow Elliott was Samuel McGregor Withrow’s only child from 
that marriage.  Orpha’s ancestorial trail does not end here.   
Pam MacKenzie has also found more information.   
If we start with Orpha and work back in time we find: 
Her father was Samuel MacGregor Withrow.  
Samuel’s mother was Amelia Jane Manzer.  
Amelia’s mother was Sarah White.  
Sarah’s mother was Huldah Taber.  
Huldah’s father was Philip Taber.  
Philip’s mother was Mary Thompson.  
Mary Thompson’s mother was Mary Cooke.  
Mary Cooke’s father was Francis Cooke.  
 
Francis Cooke is a significant relative.  
He was born abt 1583 in England and died 1663 in Plymouth Ma. 
 

The place name Plymouth is the big giveaway. 
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“Francis Cooke (c.1583 – April 7, 1663) was a Leiden 
Separatist, who went to America in 1620 on the Pilgrim 
ship Mayflower, which arrived at Plymouth, 
Massachusetts. He was a founding member of the 
Massachusetts Bay Colony, and a signatory of the 
Mayflower Compact.  He was one of the fifty percent that 
survived the first winter in Plymouth.” 
Wikipedia 

 
 
 
 
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Francis_Cooke 
 
The Wikipedia article has detail about his life and the 
voyage itself. 
 
In my case he is my eight-times great grandfather. 
 
 

I think that Orpha’s father Samuel had quite a sad life and Orpha a sad childhood while farming Lot 5 
Con 3 on the edge of the village of Sweaburg.  Orpha’s younger sister Ethalina was born 17 December 
1885 and died 01 January 1887 (from convulsions) at age two.  It is believed Orpha also had twin 
siblings.  The twins Gladys and Samuel died on the same day, aged only 7 months. 

“Gladys Marie   b. 22 January 1889  d. 26 August 1889 
Samuel   b. 1889   d. 26 August 1889.  (I’m presuming Samuel is 
Gladys Marie’s twin, her birth and death are registered but there is no record of Samuel except 
an obituary in Evening Sentinel Review) “ 

“A few months later mother and wife Grace Crocker died of tuberculosis at the age of 30 on 30 
Nov 1889.” 

After these multiple tragedies, Samuel and his daughter Orpha moved to Woodstock to his parent’s 
house.  It is hard to imagine the rest of Samuel’s life was all that happy as he appeared to be unable to 
hold down a job likely due to his inclination to drinking.  Alcoholism was involved in his brother Amos 
Withrow’s death and it is believed that his father John was an alcoholic as well.  Samuel and Orpha lived 
in Woodstock until he married Lizzie Holden in 1891.  Orpha, was 10 years when her father remarried.  I 
am told that her stepmother was a spiteful woman.  Lizzie’s family recollections noted her a “difficult 
woman”.  Lizzie and Samuel had a son and lived with Orpha in Woodstock for a few years.  Orpha was 
later cast aside to live with her aunt Jenny Withrow Clarkson and her husband Arthur Clarkson in 
Sweaburg.  Once she was moved out, Samuel and Lizzie moved to Owen Sound Ont. with their new son. 
Samuel worked in a chair factory.   The threesome eventually moved to Dryden Ont. where Samuel lived 
out his life and died in 1940.  Whether he saw his daughter Orpha again is open to speculation. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Leiden
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/English_Separatist
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pilgrims_(Plymouth_Colony)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mayflower
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Plymouth,_Massachusetts
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Plymouth,_Massachusetts
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Massachusetts_Bay_Colony
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mayflower_Compact
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Francis_Cooke
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                                                                       Samuel Withrow                               cousin Lorne Clarkson 1955 

 
Orpha, Stepmother Lizzie and 
Stepbrother Leslie  
 
                                                                           Clarkson house Lot 6 Con 3 W Oxford 
 
The Arthur Clarksons lived at Lot 6 Con 3 W Oxford which is just west of Sweaburg.  They purchased 62 
acres in 1883.  The property would eventually fall into the hands of distant cousin Ann (Nancekivell) and 
husband George Jakeman (Book 2) in 1963.  The site would become the location of the Jakeman maple 
sugar business.  The Clarkson’s had a son, Franklin Lorne Clarkson, who was close in age to Orpha.  The 
two cousins treated each other more as siblings as they grew up and the Elliott family would often visit 
Lorne and wife Goldie at their Dorlands subdivision retirement home. 
 

 Marriage – Orpha and Albert 
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On the 14th of June of 1905, Orpha and Albert were married.  Albert was a Methodist and Orpha was a 
Baptist.  I guess Orpha’s beliefs were stronger than her husband’s, as all the children were raised as 
Baptists and attended Beachville Baptist Church. 

 
Lot 18 Con 2 farm (thanks to M Kilcup). 
 
With Orpha now living at the farmhouse on Lot 18 Con 2 directly north of the Grand Trunk rail line and 
the Quarry plant partially owned by Albert’s sister Henrietta, they settled in and by the 6th of March 
1906 daughter Grace Elizabeth was born.  This was quickly followed by Albert Raymond (Ray) on the 23rd 
of June 1907 and Arthur Gordon (Gord) on the 21st of November 1909.  Gordon always said that he was 
born in the bathroom of the farmhouse (it was a bedroom before being converted to a bathroom when 
plumbing was added).   
 
On Sept. 21, 1915 Albert was able to purchase the 141 acres of Lot 19 
Con 2 North Oxford.  This property was directly across the road from 
the property he had been working but did not own.  The Lot 19 
property was owned by Thomas Downing, the brother-in-law of 
Albert’s sister Henrietta (Hattie).  Thomas had not been in the farming 
business since 1888 but lived on the property and leased out the land.  

Thomas died in 1915 and 
the executors, A R 
Bremmer and John 
Downing, sold the 
property to Albert.  The 
purchase price was 
$10,000.00 ($280,000.00 
in 2023 dollars) with a 
$2000.00 down 
payment.  Bremmer was 
the owner of the Lot 18 
property Albert had  
been working prior to the 
purchase of Lot 19. 
 
Ingersoll Chronicle 1888 
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North Oxford – the first granted lots in the N Oxford township were 17/18/19 broken front in 1799. 

 
The ownership transfer agreement for Lot 19 Concession 2 of North Oxford was effective on the 21st of 
September 1915 between Albert James Elliott and John Downing and Adam Rae Bremner. 

 
 
A mortgage of $8000.00 was procured.  The children of Thomas Downing signed off on the  
$8000.00 mortgage for a term of 5 years at an interest rate of 5%. 
The Elliotts took possession on March 31, 1916. 
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The custom of the time was to give the farm a name.  The 
farm was called Ellsdale Farm. 
The name was stenciled onto the side of Albert Elliott’s first 
farm truck.  By 1921 he had paid off his mortgage held by 
his aunt Henrietta and her children. 
 
Youngest child Ruth was born in the farmhouse a year later 
in September of 1917. 
 
Although the exact date is unknown, the farmhouse was 
likely built in the late 1850’s or early 1860’s.  The owner of 
the house at that time was E A Nelles and the 1861 census 
indicated he was living in a two-story stone house on the 
Lot 19 property.  The house was made of field stone with 
walls and window sills that were two feet thick.  The rear 
half of the house appears to be an addition as the inside 
door from the living area to the new addition has a two-
foot-thick door threshold.  There is no known date as to 

when this addition occurred.  The roof was of long-lasting slate and had a red coloured pattern on it that 
could be seen from a distance.  A two-story lean to “woodshed” was attached to the house on the north 
side.  There were two chimneys, one for the original kitchen and one for the parlour.  There was no 
basement in the older part of the house but a basement was constructed in the new north addition.   
 
The Oxford County website has more information of the house in it’s Stone Houses of Zorra Project.  It is 
the house at the 417774 41st Line address  Page 5 of 59. 
 
https://history.ocl.net/Portals/OxfordCountyLibrary/documents/history/Stone%20Houses%20of%20Zor
ra_Volume_5.pdf?ver=2023-04-13-195619-300 
 
Photo estimate 1930 (courtesy M Kilcup) 

 

https://history.ocl.net/Portals/OxfordCountyLibrary/documents/history/Stone%20Houses%20of%20Zorra_Volume_5.pdf?ver=2023-04-13-195619-300
https://history.ocl.net/Portals/OxfordCountyLibrary/documents/history/Stone%20Houses%20of%20Zorra_Volume_5.pdf?ver=2023-04-13-195619-300
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                                                        House fall 2021 
  
There was likely a small barn built to the south 
of the house close to the mainline rail tracks.  
It was replaced in 1895 by a large barn.  The 
event was noted in the Woodstock Sentinel 
Review newspaper.  The article mentioned 
that it was built by Thomas Downing and that 
no injuries occurred during the construction.  A 
south side addition that made the barn into a 
U-shaped design was added in in the early 
1900s by owner Tom Downing and assisted by 
Albert Elliott.  This became the horse barn so 
that the old milking barn could be used to accommodate a larger milking herd.  
In the photo below, between the windmill and the main house there is a building in the background.  
This was initially a granary but was converted to a residence for families of farm labourers. 

 Photo era approx. 1950 

  
1990s. 
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 Photo era: mid 1930s 

 
  View from quarry with barns in background 1906                                         Winter 1971 
Additional outbuildings were added over the years and a small cold water milkhouse was build under a 
tree beside the windmill and well water pump location.  There is no indication as to when the cement 
silo was built but the first concrete silos started to appear in Oxford County around 1920. 
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In photo from left to right: Albert with horses, back row: Henrietta Elliott Downing, Henrietta’s sons 
John Downing and Fred Downing. Front row seated: John Downing – husband of Henrietta, young Mary 
Downing Graham - daughter of Henrietta, Tom Downing – father-in-law of Henrietta, Mary Downing - 
sister-in-law of Henrietta.  The photo was taken in front of Riverside, the home of Henrietta Elliott 
Downing.  The house is the present day Beachville Museum.  At the time of the photo, the house was 
only one story.  A second level was added later.    
 
Earliest known photo of Albert Elliott – circa 1890 about 13 years old. 
 
In his prime, Albert Elliott was a 
typical farmer of the day.  He was 
busy with chores but took time to 
have a quick nap on the sofa after a 
meal (a trait that still runs in the 
family).  He was a member of the 
Beachville Baptist congregation and 
he, Orpha and their children were 
active churchgoers. 
I am told he was a quiet man that 
never spoke much.  His childhood 
miseries were not discussed with 
descendants. 
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He was a member of the Beachville Band.  The photo below shows the band in 1906 when Albert was 23 
years old.   

 
 

 
 
Notation in a local paper celebrating an 
election win: 
 

 
 
 
Chronicle: June 1906 - Beachville Civic Holiday Picnic 

 
 
 
 
 

Albert was also a proficient bicycle rider and racer during his early 20s.  Cycling was a popular sport and 
there were many races with many spectators at these events.  According to the Woodstock paper, one 
popular local race was the annual Beachville to Woodstock Race.  Albert won the race in 1897 at age 20.  
The top prize of $4.00 was taken by Albert with a time of 23 1/2 minutes.  Family lore has it that he had 
developed a system during the race where he would “draft” behind friends that would be stationed 
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along the course on their bicycles and when they saw him coming would position themselves riding in 
front of him.   By doing so he would not have to face a headwind. 
 
Images courtesy of the National Automotive History Collection 

 
 
                                                                                                Ingersoll Meteor Cycling Club – Oxford Library 

 
As noted, the family were staunch Baptists.  In 1909 Albert was a member of the Volunteer Bible Class in 
Beachville. 
 

 
 
 
Wife Orpha was also active in the church.  The Beachville Baptist Church was located on the north side 
of the Thames River.   
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Original Baptist church built 1878 
 
In 1943, the original church burned to  
the ground.  In 1949, a WWII barracks building was moved from the Woodstock Fairgrounds and  
transported to the church site where it was repurposed and opened in 1949.  The Elliott family donated 
the carpet runner and paid for the aluminum steeple that adorned the new church. 
A paragraph in the book, “The Descendants of Thomas Downing Sr.” by Marion Kilcup, sums up the 
family’s church ties. 
“Mary Downing (daughter of Henrietta Elliott Downing) was a member of the Beachville Baptist Church, 
where she taught a girl’s Sunday school class and for forty-five years played the organ.  She also sang in 
the choir – which almost doubled as a family reunion.  Her mother’s sister, Mrs. Alex (Nellie) Smith was 
choir director, Nellie’s daughter Helen was soprano soloist, Helen’s uncle Albert Elliott, sang in the choir 
as did his daughters Grace and Ruth.”  Orpha was church treasurer for two decades and was always in 
attendance. 

Orpha’s missionary commitments were 
recognized in 1951. 
 
The north west corner of the Lot 19 farm 
property was a 20-acre deciduous forest.  There 
were sufficient maple trees to allow for maple 
tree tapping.  A working sugar shack was located 
at the south end of the forest lot until the 1940s.  
In the 1980’s, the timber was thinned in the 
forest and sold by Domtar.  Four decades later 
the “woods” are now full of mature trees. 
The family farm continued to progress through 
the Depression of the 1930’s and into the 
Second World War.  Albert, nor his farm son 

Gordon, were enlisted in the wars due to the essential work they were doing.   
The farm work also included working Lot 20 Con 2 N Oxford on the western outskirts of Beachville.  This 
property was approximately 70 acres of relatively steep stone filled rolling land leading down to the 
“river flats” and the rail line.  In 1944, Albert was given 20 plus acres of the land in Lot 20.  This land was 
bequeathed to him by his sister Henrietta Downing when she died in 1944 (see chapter 7-3).  A large 
area of Lot 20 had been designated and surveyed as Beachville streets and town lots as far back as 1856.  
This land was set aside in the hopes that Beachville would continue to expand.  The undesignated 20 
acres of the lot remained in the Downing family until 1944.   The area’s proposed street and housing 
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development fell through and Albert and Gordon leased that land for crops.  The property was 
resurveyed for larger home lots and, minus the streets, not built on until the 1990s. 
 

 
Lot 20 Con 2 property transfer completed in 1944. 

 
By 1930’s all the modern conveniences had arrived.  Electricity likely came to 
the farm in the late 1920s.  In 1927, lines were built where three farmers per 
mile would sign a contract for service for a 20-year period.  The telephone 
arrived in 1920s.  The original family hand crank party line phone is still in the 
family.   
The family phone “number” in 1927 was 1 5 9C. 
 

 
Modern equipment and tractors started to replace the use of horses as power sources on the farm by 
the 1940s.  Gordon had four Percheron horses: Nelle, Maudie, Babe, and Charlie.  They were all gone by 
1955.  The last one that sold would not enter the trailer until my then inconsolable ten-year-old sister 
led it in.  She says she did not speak to her father for a long time after that traumatic day. 
The quarries were a constant source of noise and dust in the 1940s as the farm buildings were a very 
short distance from the plant.  The noise and dust were still happening into the 1980s.  The rock 
crushers and trucks were working 24 hours a day to meet the war demands.  Local farmers, including 
the Elliotts, often drove trucks or laboured loading them during the winter downtimes.   
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Photos from the Elliott farm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ellsdale farm consisted of a Holstein dairy herd, four Percheron plough horses, some chickens, a 30-tree 
apple orchard and a large garden.  The farm was pretty much self-sufficient in that there was enough 
acreage to supply corn silage, oats, and wheat as well as hay and straw for the animals. 
The produced milk was transported from the barn to a milk house in metal cans and stored in a cold well 
water tank until picked up by the farmer’s horse and wagon or later via truck and delivered to Neilson’s 
Dairy in Beachville.  The dairy was the first one owned by the Neilson family of Toronto in 1909 and was 
a former cheese factory.  By the early 1960’s, a cinder block milk house with a large stainless-steel tank 
and agitator was added as an addition to the main barn.  By then, large tanker trucks would come 
directly to the farm to empty the tank via hoses. 
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Rear:  Mary Downing Graham, Grace Elliott Murray, Helen Smith Graham, Ruth Elliott Brown 
Front: James Brown, Orpha Withrow Elliott, Albert James Elliott, Helen “Nettie” Elliott Smith 
Circa: mid 1940s.  courtesy: Beachville Museum 

 
1950 portrait                                                                 1949 – a new car arrived 
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By the late 1940s, Albert was in his 70s and as with all farmers, arthritis was an issue.  Son Gordon dealt 
with the day-to-day operations.  Gordon lived in the farm labourer’s house across the lawn and to the 
east of main farm house. 
 
In 1950 Albert contracted cancer. 
 
Ingersoll Tribune dated Dec 28, 1950. 

 
 
After Albert’s death, his will stipulated, that daughters Grace and Ruth 
received $1000.00 each.  His son Ray received Albert’s new 1949 Chevrolet 
sedan and $5000.00 of which $2000.00 was already received as a loan.  
Gordon, was the only child that stayed on the farm and had been a farm 
labourer.  He would inherit the stock, feeds, and some farm implements, but 

only after his mother’s death.  He was gifted a tractor, plough, and seed drill.  Prior to Orpha’s death he 
was a paid labourer and any profits were in her name.  The farm deed stayed in Orpha’s hands.  Also 
included in the Albert’s estate was the transfer of ownership to his wife of 4 horses, 12 head of milking 
Holsteins and two 2-year-old heifers.  The will stipulated funds were to be set aside to allow Orpha to 
“live in the main house and all that was needed for her to do so until she otherwise deemed that she no 
longer wished to.”  Gordon was to have first opportunity to purchase the farmland from Orpha if she 
wished to sell.   
Not long after Albert’s death, Orpha made the decision to renovate and repair the old stone house as 
per her husband’s will.  She would move upstairs to her own apartment that included a kitchen and 
bathroom as well as bedrooms and living area.  Son Gord and his wife Kay and young daughter Mary 
Lynn would move to the downstairs of the house.  Gord’s wife Kay only agreed to the move to the big 

house on condition that modern indoor 
plumbing would be installed during the 
renovation.  The main floor of the house would 
be renovated with an updated kitchen, 
bathroom and furnace and had the chimneys 
removed.  A whole house electrical update was 
undertaken. 
 
 
 
January 1956 – Orpha’s 75th birthday with her 
children. L to R – Grace, Raymond, A Gordon, 
Jennie Ruth 
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Another major event occurred in 1956.  The Gypsum Lime and Alabaster Co. approached the farmers 
that owned land near their quarry and were located adjacent to the CN rail line.  This land included Lot 
18 and Lot 19 and part of Lot 20 of N Oxford.  The Gypsum Co. believed that there was grade one white 
lime under the soil and was eager to buy the properties as Canada Cement, that ran their operation on 
the old Governor’s Road, was rumoured to be interested in purchasing the land as well.  In fact, the 
Cement Co. did that en masse in 1957, when company lawyers went to every farmer in an area south of 
the plant and, at the same moment, forwarded a proposal to each farmer to purchase their farm.  The 
offer was more than a fair price but had a limited time frame for acceptance.  All but one farmer took 
the deal.  The Gypsum offer was also above the value of the Elliott property.  As noted, Orpha owned 
the land with first right of purchase granted to her son Gordon.  I do not know the reason that he did 
not exercise his option as per his father’s will but likely he was not able to match the offer.  The Gypsum 
offer was accepted and $96,000.00 changed hands on the purchase of a total of 170 acres.  A clause in 
the agreement stated that the farm could continue to be worked until the land was needed by the 
company and the family could live in the house on a 20-year lease.  The cost of this arrangement was 
$1.00 per year.  My older sister recalls accompanying our mother to the plant office as she placed a one-
dollar bill on the counter for the year’s lease.  The irony of the rush purchase by Gypsum was that they 
later sold the Lot 19 property to the Cement Company.  No quarrying ever took place on the Lot 19 land 
as it was later found that the lime was not as of good quality as thought and the overburden was very 
thick in order to reach the lime.  The cost to remove the overburden would make the extraction 
unprofitable.  The same cannot be said today for Lot 18 and 17, as both are now large working quarry 
holes. 
Quarry pit:  Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford - north of CN tracks                            Ellsdale Farm 1955 
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In 1960 Orpha, like her late husband, developed cancer.  
Treatment at the Cancer Foundation in London did not 
help.  She succumbed at Alexandra Hospital in Ingersoll the 
day after Christmas in 1960. 
 
 

 

 

Newspaper Ingersoll Tribune 

Newspaper 
Date 

Dec 29 1960  

Text of 
Notice 

MRS. A. J. ELLIOTT DIES IN HOSPITAL 
The death occurred in Alexandra Hospital, Monday, December 26th, of a well known and highly 
esteemed resident of the Beachville district, Mrs. Albert James Elliott of Lot 19, Concession 2, North 
Oxford [township]. Mrs. Elliott who was in her 80th year, was the former Orpha M. Withrow, 
daughter of the late Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Withrow, and was born in Woodstock. She moved to 
Sweaburg at an early age and made her home with an uncle and aunt, Mr. and Mrs. Arthur 
Clarkson. She attended school and spent her early life there. Fifty-five years ago, she married. Albert 
James Elliott in Sweaburg, moving to North Oxford [township], where her husband engaged in 
farming and where she had resided continuously. She was a member of the Beachville Baptist 
Church, a life member of the Mission Circle of the church, and was treasurer for over 20 years and 
had taken an active interest in all church work. Her husband predeceased her 10 years ago. Left to 
mourn the passing of a beloved mother are two daughters, Mrs. Grant Murray [Grace], Ingersoll; 
Mrs. James Brown [Ruth], RR1 Beachville; and two sons, Ray and Gordon, both of Beachville. Also 
surviving are 8 grandchildren and five great-grandchildren. The funeral will be held this Thursday 
afternoon, from the McBeath Funeral Home, 246 Thames Street South, where service will be 
conducted at 2 o'clock by Rev. C. R. Evans of the Beachville Baptist Church. Entombment in the 
Woodstock Mausoleum 

 
Orpha’s will also made provisions for her family.  Daughters Grace and Ruth both received $3000.00.  
Son Ray was willed $5000.00.  Gordon was allowed to keep the profits from the farm after her death.  
After all costs were factored in, including a sizeable donation to the church, each sibling split the 
remaining funds in Orpha’s accounts.  This amounted to roughly $10,000.00 each.  
 
Like her husband, Orpha was said to be quiet person but with a strong will.  I only remember snippets of 
her as I was a young child when she died.  I do recall that she was noticeably short of five feet tall.  She 
would babysit my brother and I on occasion and I do recall that bedtime was bedtime.   
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            Mausoleum in Woodstock Anglican Cemetery  

 
 
Grandmothers Orpha Elliott and Margaret Burks 
with grandsons Lyle and Glenn Elliott 
about 1957. 
The farm was purchased by the Lussier’s in 1993.  A solar panel farm 
was installed on the non-class 1 farmland in 2014. 
 
Lot 19 and Lot 20 Con 2 Aerial view. 
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Grandchildren of John R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Children of Albert James Elliott and Orpha Withrow 
Oldest Child: Grace Elizabeth B 01 Mar 1906 N Oxford Lot 18 Con 2 
    D 06 Mar 1971 Ingersoll 
    M 23 Nov 1944 Ingersoll 
Spouse: Grant Frank Murray B 17 Jun 1901 W Oxford Lot 10 Con 3 
    D 12 Sept 1986 Ingersoll 
 
Grace was born 11 months after her parent’s marriage and two years before her brother Roy.  She was 
born on the Lot 18 Con 2 farm of her father.  This house was directly north and across the railway line 
from the Downing Lime plant kilns and would later serve as the Fred Funnel family home.  Grace went to 
school at Beachville Public.  How many grades she completed is not known.   
 

  
Ingersoll Chronicle 1911. School report                            1938 Voters list – Grace still at home at age 32. 
 

Grace came across as an intelligent but quiet and reserved individual.  Coming from a highly religious 
Baptist mother, she was a lifelong church goer.  She moved with her siblings and parents to the big 
stone house in 1915 when she was 9 years old and lived there until her marriage to Grant Murray in 
1944.  What she did as an occupation while living on the farm until she married at age 38 is not known.  
The 1931 census indicated she had no occupation.   
Grant Frank Murray was born on his father’s West Oxford farm at Lot 10 Con 3 in 1901.  His parents 
were William Murray, a second-generation Scot who was born in Toronto and Harriet Larry who 
emigrated from Scotland in 1879.  When his father retired in 1918 and moved into 57 Charles St. 
Ingersoll, Grant found work as a farm labourer.  The 1921 census showed him as a 19-year-old working 
and living at the David Riddle farm on Lot 17 Con 2 N Oxford.  This farm backed onto the Lot 18 Con 2 
farm where Grace was born.  The Riddles were close friends and farming neighbours to the Elliotts.  In 
1921, 15-year-old Grace very likely knew 20-year-old Grant.  As the Riddle boys grew older and the need 
for a hired hand disappeared, 1931 census found Grant living at and working as a dairy farm labourer for 
the George Witty family south of Ingersoll.  Neither Grant nor Grace were tall.  He was under 5’ 7’ and 
she 5’ 3’. 

 
1921 census – Grant 
working for the Riddle’s  
at Lot 17 Con 2 
 
 
 
 

 
Grant was a man on his own path.  Family memories state that Grant would not marry until he had fully 
paid for the house in Ingersoll that he had bought.  It was also pointed out the Grace would often sneak 
out to see Grant, much to the consternation of her father Albert, who was not a big fan of Grant.  So, 22 
years later, they married and moved into Grant’s house at 218 Metcalf St. on the southwest corner of 
Metcalf and Bruce.  They lived at that address for their entire lives.   
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MISS GRACE ELLIOTT WEDS GRANT MURRAY 
Rev. J. M. Warner of Woodstock, officiated at a quiet wedding on Thursday afternoon of last week, November 23rd 
at 3:30 o'clock when he united in marriage, Grace, eldest daughter of Mr. and Mrs. A. J. Elliott, Beachville, and 
Grant Murray, son of Mrs. Murray and the late W. J. Murray, Charles St. E., Ingersoll. The bride wore a smart frock 
of navy blue with white trim, hat and shoes to match, and a corsage of Better Time roses. They were unattended. 
Following a trip to Dundas and points east, Mr. and Mrs. Murray will take up residence in their new home, Metcalfe 
Street, Ingersoll 

Grant went to work for the “quarries” and worked for Chemical 
Lime (the kiln closest to Ingersoll) for several decades.  His 
occupation as “fireman” meant he was one of the labourers that 
fed and stoked the kiln with coal.  He had retired by 1968.  He 
was in the forefront of fighting climate change as he either rode 
his bicycle or walked to work year-round, a distance of over 4 
kilometers.   
Grace always had a dark pallor to her skin and dark rimmed 
eyes.  She died of cancer in 1971 at age 60, two years after 
Grant had retired.  I recall that it was a painful battle for her.  

They had spoken of travelling, Grant often mentioning he wanted to attend the Calgary Stampede.  I do 
not believe either managed any long-distance trips.  

 
Grant with old kiln equipment (circa 1960) 

Grant seemed to always manage to have a large car and the trunk 
was usually stuffed with tools.  He failed a driver license renewal 
exam but that did not stop him from driving his car sans license. 
One of his idiosyncrasies was to supply Grace’s family with new 
light bulbs removed from his place of employment.  It was not 
technically theft as he would take the older non-burnt-out bulbs 
that he was replacing and put them into service at the lime plant.  
He would often come out to his brothers’-in-law farms to help with 
the harvest.  His uniform was rolled up cuffs, dark denim jeans and 
a cowboy hat.  Whereas Grace was quiet, Grant was loud.  Grant 
lived in the Metcalf St. house until old age sent him to Oxford 
County Old Age Nursing Home.  He died in 1986.  They are buried in 
the Harris Street Cemetery beside Grace’s sister Ruth and her 
husband. 
 

Grant and his 1954 Buick Super Riviera 

 

 
1956 voters list 
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Grandchildren of John Rogers Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Children of Albert James Elliott and Orpha Withrow 
Second Child: Albert Raymond “Ray”  B 28 Jun 1907 Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford 
      D 18 May 1991 Beachville 
      M 05 Jan 1928 Lucas County, Ohio 
Spouse: Elizabeth H (Betty) Leigh  B 31 Jan 1907 Ingersoll 
      D 10 Dec 1983 Woodstock 
 
Ray was the first male child born to Albert Elliott and Orpha Withrow.  He was born at the family farm at 
Lot 18 Con 2.  Ray left the family at the age of 18.  It was common at that time that many members of 
rural families were setting their sights to work in the manufacturing centers in the US.  I suspect that 
there was a conflict between him and his father and that led to him jettisoning the family and heading 
west to Detroit in 1925.  He crossed the border at Windsor on the 23rd of February of 1925 with $80.00 
in his pocket.  His contact in Detroit was Grant Defoe, husband of Ray’s aunt Margaret (Maggie).  Grant 
was a restaurant owner in Detroit and Ray was seeking permanent residence. 
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Before Ray left for Detroit, he met Elizabeth Leigh.  She was the 
daughter of Henry G Leigh and Ontario born Mary Norris.  Henry 

arrived with his parents from Southwark, Surrey, England in 1875.  The 1901 census had Henry working 
as a carpenter and later he would be noted in Ingersoll directories as a builder. Henry purchased 

property at the northwest ¼ corner of Lot 20 Con 2 of W 
Oxford in 1914.  The property was listed as a cider mill and 
farm.  On this site, the family lived in the octogen house that 
is still standing near the corner of Clarke Rd W and Ingersoll 
Rd S.   
 
As Ray’s daughter Virginia confirmed, 20-year-old Elizabeth 
Leigh eloped with Ray.  They were married in Lucas County 
Ohio, just south of the Michigan state line on the 5th of 
January 1928.  The 1930 US census paperwork also confirmed 

that she crossed the border into the US in 1928.  I suspect that Ray went back to Ingersoll to retrieve 
Elizabeth and they made their way directly to Ohio.  Michigan had strict marriage license procedures 
whereas Ohio did not.  Lucas county was then referred to as the marriage mill of Ohio.  On the marriage 
certificate, they were listed as living in Detroit.   
 

 
 
The 1930 Detroit census had them renting an 
apartment in a large apartment building and they 
had baby daughter Virginia.  Ray was driving a truck 
for a small company.  The 1930 census inaccurately 
stated that he was French Canadian.  He also worked 
as a crane operator in Detroit.  Later, a 1931 Detroit 
directory had them living at 15774 Quincey St. (see 
photo) 
Border records indicate the family moved back to 
Canada in 1932.  Since Virginia was American born, 
she had to be registered upon entry into Canada.  
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Likely, Ray’s employment opportunities were limited in 1932 due to the depression and the closing of 
many Detroit factories, Ray and family moved back to Beachville.   
 
 
 
 

 
Border paperwork for Virginia Elliott Sept 30, 1932 
 
When Ray and Elizabeth returned, they took up residence in a house on old Highway 2 (Beachville Rd) a 
short distance to the east of the Lime business owned by the Downings.  This house, now long gone, was 
one of many on the north side of Beachville Road that were constructed by the Downings as worker 
accommodations for Italian stone workers the Downing’s assisted to immigrate to Beachville.  It appears 
Ray’s two other children were born in this house.  After Elizabeth’s father died in 1939, Ray and his 
family moved with Elizabeth’s mother to King St. in Beachville and into the former parsonage of the 
Beachville Baptist church.   Around 1945, Ray moved the family to the family home on Beachville Rd, 
four houses east of the Old Village Hall and library.  Interestingly, the deed was in wife Elizabeth’s name.   
Ray and Elizabeth lived the rest of their lives there.  The house is still in the family. 
 

 
King St. Beachville home                               Beachville Rd. home 
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When Ray returned to Canada in 1932, he went to work driving truck for his relatives by marriage, the 
Downing family.  Family stories indicate that he was the only one that always drove a specific truck and 
the vehicle was a source of pride for Ray and for his Downing employer, Byron Downing. 

In Detroit, he learned to operate large construction 
cranes and when he returned to Beachville he also 
continued with the profession. He was the crane 
operator when new kiln towers were raised at the lime 

plants.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Example of 1950s construction crane.                         Quarry kiln towers raised by crane 
 
I am told by his direct descendants that he was badly hurt in a crane accident in London, sometime 
between 1954 to 1956, while working near a foundation hole for the Veteran’s Hospital (now 
Westminster Hospital) in London.  The crane toppled into the excavation. Ray tore muscles and likely 
broke bones.  He was seriously hurt and required hospitalization.  He was also the crane operator who 
raised the steam locomotive #86 over a building and onto its present location at the Western 
Fairgrounds, Queens Park in London. 
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                                                                               #86 at the Queens Park location 
 
Recollections of Ray by Grandson: Mark Legacy 

“Grandpa was bigger than life and grandma was just the best person, always loving and caring to all us 
grandkids.  Grandpa did drive truck earlier in his life and after he retired.  But he was mainly a crane 
operator and a member of the International Union of Operating Engineers.  He ran the big crane that 
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built Westminster Hospital in London and also the cranes that put up most of the large silos and heavy 
equipment into the buildings at the Beachville quarries.  In his later years he operated the crane at 
London Steel on Hale Street loading and unloading trucks of steel.  Grandma was a homebody and I 
remember in her fifties she became a beauty consultant and I used to go with her to deliver cosmetics, 
what a hoot!  They both liked to travel with their trailer and spent winters in Winter Haven, Florida and 
a couple of years they went to New Mexico for the winter.  Grandma use to like painting pictures of 
mountains and landscapes there.  They also travelled to the west coast and back with their trailer and 
grandpa went salmon fishing there.  Grandpa’s passion was to fish and hunt and I remember getting up 
at 4:00 am to head to Long Point, fishing for the day on his boat with him and my dad.  He also liked to 
go to Leamington and Pelee Island to fish and where he also went hunting pheasants and quail.  He also 
liked hunting deer and rabbit in the winter.  I remember freezing my butt off out in the Dorchester 
swamp hunting with him, dad and Uncle Lloyd. He also went hunting in the north with several other 
men, some I remember (Charlie Swartz, Babe Bowman, Hugh Gordon).  They had a hunting cabin on a 
lake in the North Bay area.  They went there to hunt moose and the occasional bear.  I remember a 
picture of Grandpa with a bear he had shot.  Sometimes they fished there also in the summer.   
Grandma loved Christmas, it was her special day and everybody had to show up for the day and a fun 
day was had by all, opening presents, playing cards and a little libation, the only day of the year it was 
allowed in grandma’s house and of course Christmas dinner with everybody around the kitchen table 
and of course, grandma’s rum pudding with lots of rum in it.   
Grandpa loved his cars and truck and was always tinkering and kept them in tip top condition and I 
guess that’s where I get my tinkering from.  There was always a cold beer in the old coke cooler in the 
garage and hell to pay for from Grandma when you went to the house later.  All in all, they were great 
Grandparents. They were lots of fun to be around and always loved by all of us kids.” 
 
A story shared by another family member was about the time that Ray took Elizabeth fishing.  She was 
not a fan and rarely fished but that day she caught a 20 plus pound Pike.  Ray spent a long time fuming 
over her catching such a big fish and he never coming close to doing so.  

 
Ray and Elizabeth 
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                                           Ray and grandchildren 
 
Ray and Elizabeth had three children. 
Virginia    B 25 Jul 1928 Highland Park, Mi.   
    D living 
Virginia worked in an Ingersoll bank.  Tragically, bagpiper and young son Clint (1960-1981) was killed in 
an auto accident.   
 
James “Jim” Raymond  B 21 Sept 1933 Beachville  
    D 16 May 2004 Ingersoll 
Jimmy had his own gravel truck but it was a money pit so he went to work for Lowes Transport.  He and 
wife Elise then ran a convenience store for 15 years before Jimmy went to work as a part time 
Woodstock City bus driver.  He went to five National Bus Rodeos in the 1990’s.   
 
Patricia    B 18 Oct 1937 Beachville 
    D 06 Apr 2007 London  
Pat worked at the Bank of Montreal branch in Beachville for several years’ 

  
Children of Ray and Elizabeth:                   Patricia, Jim and Virginia 
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Grandchildren of John Rogers Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Child of Albert Elliott and Orpha Withrow 

Third: Arthur Gordon  B 21 Nov 1909 Lot 18 Con 2 N Oxford township   
D 28 Mar 2001 Tavistock (resident of Woodstock) 
M 15 Jun 1940 Beachville 

Spouse: Kathleen Susan Burks B 13 Nov 1915 Springfield, N Dorchester Lot 2 Con 2 
    D 21 Mar 2006 Woodstock 
Gord was born in the farmhouse of his parents at Lot 18 Con 2 of N. Oxford.  This house, no longer 
standing, was directly north of the most eastern Lime Plant.  A running joke was that he was born in the 
bathroom of the house.  At the time it was a bedroom but when indoor plumbing went in, the bedroom 
became the house bathroom.  His name was improperly transcribed on the birth schedule as Arthur 
“Fordon” Elliott.  A mistake that shows up in multiple Ancestry.ca family trees, much to my chagrin.  
Gord went to school in Beachville.  He completed Grade 8 before quitting school to help with the farm.  
By the time he had completed Grade 8, the family was living across the road in the big stone house and 
the 150-acre farm his father had bought in 1915 from the Thomas Downing estate.  Having gone from a 
50-acre lease farm to owning his own 150 acres, Gord’s father needed help.  The 1931 census showed 
that Gord was a farm labourer for his father and making $650 a year. 
 

  
 
Gord and his brother Ray were only two years apart in age and often in their teens, in trouble with their 
father.  Apparently joy rides in their father’s car were not uncommon.  Gord was known as a proficient 
ice skater and often gave others a head start in skating races but ended up winning.  Through the 1920’s 
and early 1930’s Ingersoll had very good Junior and Intermediate hockey teams.  Gord played forward 
for several years on the teams in the old Charles St. Arena.   
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Brother Ray struck out for life in Detroit and Gord decided to carry on with the farm.  In June of 1940, he 
married Kathleen Susan Burks.  She was the only child of Charles and Margaret (Hutcheson) Burks.  
Charles was a second-generation farmer born in South Dorchester township.  His father and family 

emigrated from Yorkshire, England.  Kay’s mother was born in 
Middlesex County and can trace her family back to Aberdeenshire, 
Scotland in the 1690s.  This location is about 50 km north of 
Aberdeen and 200 km north of Edinburgh, Scotland.   
 
Charles Burks and Margaret Hutcheson Wedding 
Photograph. 
 

 
 
 
 Charles Burks (with frying pan) hunting party 
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Cousins: L to R: Myrtle Hutcheson, Ruth Hutcheson and Kathleen Burks age 3 Dec, 1918 
 
Kathleen’s birth was extremely traumatic for her mother as Kay was delivered unassisted.  The midwife 
was not available or perhaps not summoned and her father was out working on the farm.  Later, he 
checked in to discover his exhausted wife, an uncut umbilical cord and a baby that had turned blue.  
Kathleen was born at Lot A & B Con 8 South Dorchester township, Elgin County.  This is about three 
kilometers north of Springfield on the Putnam Road.  According to a farm auction flyer, C E Burks sold 
the farm in 1920 and purchased, in March of 1920 (onland.ca), a farm three kilometers southeast of 
Putnam at Lot 2 Con 2 North Dorchester (South of the Thames River).  He bought the ½ N lot, a total of 
100 acres from James Rath for $10,000.  On July 2, 1959 Charles Burks sold the farm for $15,000 and 
moved to Holcroft St. E in Ingersoll.  Kathleen “Kay” was a smart but, in her words, lonely child.  Without 
siblings to play with, she valued her spent time with her Hutcheson cousins that dotted the nearby 
countryside.   

 
She went to primary school in Putnam 
and skipped several grades.  She was 
accepted into high school at age 11. 
She took the daily train from Putnam 
to high school in Woodstock and 
graduated at age 15.  She also took 
piano lessons and was proficient 
enough to have been tested at the 
Canadian Academy of Music in 
Toronto by world renowned pianist 
and composer Sir Ernest MacMillian.   
“One of the major figures in Canada's 
musical history, MacMillan influenced 
virtually all facets of the country's 
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musical life both by his precocity and brilliance as a performer and by his tireless activities on behalf of 
education.”: The Canadian Encyclopedia.   
 
https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/sir-ernest-macmillan-emc 
 
How Kay and Gord met is not known but I suspect it was at a dance.  Dancing was a favourite pastime 
and they took dancing lessons so that they cut a fine profile on the dance floor.   

 
 
She was 25 and he was 31 when they married 
at her father’s Putnam farm.  The honeymoon 
was a trip to Quebec.  When they returned, 
they took up residence in the “hired mans’ 
house” on his father’s farm.  This was a 
converted granary that now became their 
home.  The house was rather rudimentary, 
under insulated and had no indoor plumbing 
until added in the late 1950’s.  A daughter was 
born in the fall of 1941.  The family continued 
to live in the house while Gord’s father Albert, 
mother Orpha and spinster sisters Ruth and 
Grace lived in the big house.  To supplement 
income, Gord worked in the winter as a truck 
driver and dock loader for the adjacent lime 
plant.  As his father aged and retired to the 
background, Gord took over the daily operation of the farm. 

https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/sir-ernest-macmillan-emc
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With Gord’s father Albert’s death in 1950, and with 
his sisters married, Gord and his family moved into 
the stone house still occupied by his mother in 1951.  
Kay was pregnant at the time and stipulated she 
would not move in until the indoor plumbing was 
finished.  Two sons were born in the early 1950s and 
this necessitated advancing a renovation to the 
interior of the house.  Orpha had a suite built in the 
upstairs and a downstairs parlour was converted 
into a bedroom for the boys.  With the hired man’s 
house vacant, the need for farm labour to assist 

Gord was crucial.  Fortunately, church organizations in conjunction with the Canadian Government, 
were beginning the process of bringing Dutch immigrants to Canada.  
 
“After the Second World War, a growing population and an economy devastated by war were leading 
reasons for many Dutch immigrants to seek economic opportunity in North America. 185,000 individuals 
chose to resettle in Canada.  The Netherlands experienced a surplus of farmers after the Second World 
War due to the destruction of its dykes by German forces, unworkable land, and unemployment. Much 
of the country’s agricultural land was flooded. In an attempt to increase Canada’s rural population, 
Canadian officials signed their first postwar bilateral immigration agreement with the Dutch government 
to bring families to Canada. Between 1947 and 1949, close to 16,000 individuals from Dutch farm 
families resettled in Canada. A majority of these newcomers resided in Ontario.  Under the resettlement 
scheme, 94,000 Dutch immigrants came to Canada between 1947 and 1954. Over 80 percent of these 
individuals were agriculturalists. Most of these Dutch immigrants chose to resettle on farms in the 
southern regions of Ontario and Alberta.  The Canadian and Dutch governments relied heavily on 
religious organizations to help place immigrants across the country. These organizations chose areas 
they were most familiar with and believed would bring economic opportunity to Dutch newcomers.”  
Canadian Museum of Immigration at Pier 21. 

 
With the blessing of the church and governments, the first of the immigrant families made their way to 
the Ellsdale Farm in 1950.  The Kikkert family of Rolph, Lammi and several young accompanying children 
knew little, if any English.  As the children quickly picked up the language through school, Kay and Gord 
took in upon themselves to teach the parents.  I am sure the initial attempts were rudimentary and 
frustrating for all but in the end successful.  This was not the only family that Gord and Kay taught 
English to.  The Kikkert family were diligent savers and, in the end, purchased a successful turkey farm 
near Grimsby, Ontario where they prospered.  Many family stories are often repeated of the chaos of 

the Kikkert and Elliott children’s escapades.  The “gold dust twins” 
as two of us were called, set teeth clenching what with all the 
windows we broke, molasses barrel fallen into and general havoc 
created.  Later, the arrival from the Netherlands of the Scheper’s 
family and their six kids, the neighbouring Fred and Ruth Funnell 
flock and the Elliott’s, resulted in an unending parade of 
misadventures.  As so many have said during recollections, “it’s 
was a wonder no one was killed”. 
As was noted in Gordon’s parent’s history, the farm was sold in 
1955 to the Lime Company.  The stipulation that a $1 year rent 

and a 25-year lease meant that a large herd of Holsteins was possible.  At it’s peak, the large red 
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horseshoe shaped barns housed around sixty-five head.  According to his son John Reeves, neighbour 
Charlie Reeves often spoke of Gord Elliott’s excellent herd and his innate ability to plough a straight line 
with either a team of horses or a tractor. 
 
After Orpha’s 1960 death, her second-floor suite was removed and additional changes were made to 
allow family members their own upstairs bedrooms, an upstairs bathroom and a large master suite.   
Gord always loved to drive and Kay loved to travel.  As a family compromise, in the early 1960s the boys 
were often taken out of school in June or December (if the school marks were up to snuff), the farm was 
put in the hands of the hired help and the family was off on a driving adventure.  Many memorable trips 
were made around North America taking in the sights from the confines of the family car.  Disneyland, 
Vancouver, a Christmas time Grand Canyon, Key West, the Seattle and Montreal Worlds Fairs and all 
places in between were driven to.  It was no exaggeration to say that over 45 states and 7 Canadian 
provinces were passed through reminiscent of Chevy Chase’s National Lampoon Vacation movie.  Later 
trips to Europe and the Caribbean (minus the children) were taken. 
My dad was the only person I have met that could face forward on a bicycle while sitting on the handle 
bars and pedal the bicycle backwards.  In my teenage years I tried and tried but to know avail. 
Gord was also excellent at horseshoes, dabbled in curling and was always up to going to a local hockey 
match to cheer on the home team.  No mention can be made of Gordon without including his wavy hair.  
Wavy hair ran in his family and much time was spent carefully combing the waves into just the right 
style.   

His love of new cars was widely known.  Every fall would 
entail sussing out all the new cars sitting in the 
dealerships.  Auto dealers would often phone to tell him a 
beautiful new Buick or such had just arrived and they 
were holding it for him.   
As mentioned, Henrietta Downing, Gord’s aunt, had 
willed to his father a portion of Lot 20 Con 2 after her 
1944 death.  That meant that the arable farm stretched 
as far east as to the edge of the village of Beachville.  
Including a portion of property that was rented from 
across the road at Lot 18 and the Lot 19 and Lot 20 farm, 
it totaled two hundred and ten acres.  The farm was a 
mixed crop Holstein dairy farm.  After the incessant chore 
of stone picking was finished, (it was never finished), hay 
and oats, corn and wheat were all grown on the property.  
One of the first grain combines in the area was purchased 
by Gord in 1960.  Gord put it to work renting himself and 
the machine to neighbouring farmers.   By the early 
1970’s it was obvious that his two sons were not going to 
continue with the farming business.  He sold the entire 

herd to a New Jersey interest around 1977.  It was a sad day when the trucks 
arrived to take the animals away en masse.  After the animals left, he bought 
new equipment for cash crop farming.  Purchases included a Ford tractor; a small 
Massey Ferguson tractor and a bigger Massey combine.  Purchase was made of a 
larger plow, cultivator and discs as well.  His youngest son would help in the 
evenings and weekends.  It was always corn he planted and sold.  In the late 
1980’s he rented the land out.  At that point, the barns were empty and 
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dilapidated so he tore them down and sold the boards.  As with most farmers, his riding lawnmower was 
the last implement left when he sold the rolling stock and tools in 1987.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1967 – milking time                                                                    Gord and sons on the new combine - 1960 
 
 Kay and Gord were also known to give their time to help others.  She was recognized for her service 

with the Hero from the Home Award. 
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After retirement, Gord and Kay filled their time with driving visits to their son in Vancouver, driving to 
Florida and Texas to visit friends and watching the Leafs on TV.  The two of them rattled around in the 
big stone house for a few years into the late 1980s.  They finally found a home that as Kay said, Gord 
finally liked, and in March of 1990 moved to 139 John Davies Dr. in Woodstock.  By the late 1990’s, 
Gord’s health was beginning to fade.  He died in 2001 in Tavistock at the Bonnie Brea retirement home, 
from old age and Parkinson’s.  Kay stayed in the Woodstock home until a stroke took her in March of 
2006.  An interesting fact was that Gord was six years minus 7 days older than Kay.  She died six years 
minus 7 days after he did.  They are buried with Kay’s parents in the Putnam Cemetery. 
 
Woodstock home on John Davies Dr. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The farm house sat empty for several years in the early 1990s.  The quarry 
owners installed a new furnace in the house to keep mildew out.  It was 
promptly stolen and the house was in disrepair until 1994.  At that time, Jack 
and Dawn Lussier bought the property, renovated the house from top to 
bottom, had the fire department burn down the farm labourer’s house and 
had the silo toppled.  The farm implement buildings stayed.  Today solar 
panels occupy most of the farm land.  
 
 
 
Ellsdale farm circa 1950s  
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Grandchildren of John Rogers Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Children of Albert James Elliott and Orpha Withrow 
Fourth and last child: Ruth “Jennie”  B 20 Sept 1917 Lot 19 Con 2 N Oxford 
      D 18 Feb 2010 Woodstock  
      M 04 Apr 1942 Lot 19 Con 2 N Oxford 
Spouse: James “Jim” Brown   B 30 Jan 1917 Ingersoll  
      D 29 Mar 1991 London lived Lot 7 Con 2 W Oxford 

 
Ruth Elliott – age 13, 1931/32 Beachville Public School.  Courtesy: John Reeves 
 
Ruth was youngest of the children and the only one born in the big stone house.  She was given the 
name Jennie Ruth but I only recall her being referred to as Ruth.  She was six years younger than her 

next sibling.  She went to school at Beachville Public 
School with well-known Mr. Finch as teacher.  He was 
known to have taught parents, their children and in 
some cases grandchildren through his decades of 
teaching in Oxford County.  Ruth religiously attended 
Beachville Baptist Church with her parents and siblings.  
She was in the choir at the church.  She was involved in 
Junior Farmers and sewing circles.  Jim Brown was also 
a Junior Farmers participant and they may have met 
there.  Jim was born to James Brown and Margaret 

Fair.  James Sr. met wife Margaret Fair in Edinburgh and they married in 1909.  James arrived in Canada 
from Ireland via Scotland in late 1910 and Margaret came over the following year.  The 1921 census had 
the family living on Tunis St. in Ingersoll and father James was an odd job labourer.  James later became 
a gardener.  Son Jim was born in Ingersoll.  He and Ruth “Jennie” married in 1942 at Ruth’s childhood 
home.  An interesting dynamic was introduced at the wedding as Jim was from a Roman Catholic family 
and the Elliotts were Baptist.  After the marriage, Jim went to work for Vern Meek – a Prouse family 
relative by marriage.  Vern Meek was Jim’s first employer on Vern’s farm just south of Ingersoll.  Jim and 
Ruth lived upstairs in the Meek’s farmhouse while the Meeks lived downstairs.   



 

45 
 

When the Meeks retired and sold their farm, Jim found 
work as a herdsman on the Norloch farm. This farm was 
owned by Charles Downing, son of Henrietta Elliott who 
was wife Ruth’s aunt and was located at Lot 12 Broken 
Front Concession in W Oxford.  Charles Downing came late 
to life as a farmer having managed his families Lime 
company for several years.  Charles’ dairy farm was noted 
for the excellent breed herd and Jim was the in charge of 
the day to day running of the farm.  The Browns lived in a 
small house adjacent to the retirement rancher that 
Charles Downing built for himself.  The houses are on the 
south side of Beachville Rd across from Ruth’s aunt 
Henrietta’s home which is now the Beachville Museum.  
Jim supplemented his income, as most local men did, with 
work at the quarries, mostly in the kilns. 
 
On the 8th of March 1948, Jim and Ruth purchased 50 
acres (southeast quarter) of Lot 16 Con 1 in North Oxford 
from Ross Edwards as per Onland.ca.  They paid $7000.00.  
Ross Edwards held the mortgage but it was satisfied by 
April of 1953.  In the meantime, the farm barn burned 
down in 1950 or 1951 with the loss of feed and animals.  It 
was rebuilt. 
In the summer of 1955, the Ontario Limestone Mining Co. 
on the old Governors Road, approached many farmers 

along Con 1 of N. Oxford township in order to purchase their farm land.  This was in response to the 
potential threat that the nearby Beachville Lime Company was preparing to do the same.  The offer to 
these farmers, all received the same day, was above market value.  Only one farmer did not accept the 
offer and by March of 1957, the Browns had received $22,500 for their 50 acres.  At this time, with two 
children in the family, they started the search for a new farm. 
 

 
 
In March 1958, a purchase from Harvey Daniels was finalized for 80 acres of the northwest corner of Lot 
7 Con 2 in West Oxford.  The purchase price was $16,000 and the farm was named the Circle D farm 
after the circle driveway at the house entrance.  The size of the farm was a direct result of the build of 
the new #401 freeway, that was in the process of land acquisition.  The freeway cut a portion of the 
farm along the back much the same was as it did to Prouse and Wilsons cousins farms. 
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Above: The 25 March 1958 purchase of W Oxford Lot 7 Con 2 for $16,000.00.  The accompanying 
notation was indicating the exact land size and location due to the disruption of the survey markers by 
the passage of Highway 401. 

 
Lot 16 Con 1 N Oxford                  Lot 7 Con 2 West Oxford 
 

Over the years additional outbuildings were 
added as were new silos.  Jim died in 1991 
and son Keith took over.  The working farm 
stayed in the family until 2009 when the 
property was sold the neighbouring Markus 
family.  The barns and silos were taken 
down in 2011 but the house remained.  
Ruth stayed in the house after the land sale 
and until ill health placed her in a facility.  
Son Keith lived in the house until 2019.   
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Jim Brown was involved in several organizations through the years.  He was a 4H leader and a member 
of the township council in 1974 when there was a general reorganization of townships and government 

responsibilities.  He also worked with the 
provincial government in overseeing and 
confirming the removal of Elm trees that had 
succumbed to Dutch Elm disease in Oxford 
County.  He was interested in antique farm 
implements and equipment and had a sizeable 
collection.  He and his son Keith restored old 
tractors.  They once won the Best Restored 
Tractor division at the International Ploughing 
Match.  Jim was famous for entertaining people 
with amusing stories and antidotes.  I 
remember that he could polish off a BBQ steak 
and corn of the cob with gusto. 

Ruth was a cat lover.  It was rare to not see a feline prowling around her feet.  Gregarious and always 
loudly laughing at a funny comment, she was fond of a good yarn.  Ruth had a pen pal when she was in 
primary school.  Her name was Nancy and her husband was Fergie and they lived in Heathrow, England.  
I stayed with the couple for a day during an English visit in 1974.  Ruth and Nancy continued their 
correspondence for over 50 years before they finally met when Ruth and Jim travelled to England.  The 
Browns also spent time in California, Western Canada, and Alaska.  Ruth suffered from diabetes in later 
years but was in good spirits up until her health started to fade.   

 

 
Aunt Ruth and Author  
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Mr. and Mrs. Vern Meek and the newly married couple.     The Lot 7 Con 2 W Oxford farmhouse. 
 
The couple had two children.  Jim and Ruth share a burial plot and stone with Ruth’s sister Grace and 
her husband Grant in the Harris Road Cemetery.  
 

End of Book 7. Chapter 2 - 6  
 
Next Book 7 Chapter 2 -7  

Margaret Elliott and Grant Defoe 
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Book 7:  Chapter 2-7 and Chapter 2-8 

Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Child of JR Elliott and Betsy Johnson 

Second youngest child: Melissa Jane (Maggie)  B 09 Sept 1879 Lot 15 Con 3 North Oxford Co. 
D around 1965 Plymouth/Detroit 
M 09 Sept 1904 

Spouse: Grant Burdette Defoe   B 08 Dec 1880 Picton, Ont. 
D 12 Oct 1939 Detroit/Redford Mi. 

 
Aunt Maggie as I knew her, was first noted in the Ingersoll Chronicle Newspaper with her birth 
announcement.  No name was given to the baby.  No birth registration has been found either.  She was 
the youngest daughter of JR and Betsy and spent her early years on the small family farm beside the 
main line Grand Truck Rail line in N. Oxford. 

 
 
The first indication of her name was noted 
on the 1881 Oxford Census.  She was listed 
as Melissa Jane. 
She never used Melissa, instead using 
Margaret on future paperwork.  Everyone 
called her Maggie. 
 
 
 
 

 
1881 census 

 
 
With her mother’s death in January of 1885, the household was in chaos.  Maggie was 6 years old.  She 
was next seen on the 1891 census as a 10-year-old living with sister Rose and Rose’s first husband 
Charles Mapes in Woodstock.  Rose had married at age 20 in the year prior.  I would say that when Rose 
and Charles married, Maggie was the third member.  Maggie and her sister Rose’s life would be 
entwined until their deaths. 
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1891 Woodstock census 

 
 
By studying Rose’s marriage certificate and other papers, we find that the Mapes had 2 children and 
were living in Port Huron Mi. in 1891.  Maggie was no longer with the couple and she would have been 
20 years old.  Maggie’s own census of 1930 indicated she emigrated to Detroit in 1895 at age 16 but 
there is no knowledge of where in Michigan she went.  There is a period between 1895 and 1900 where 
I cannot find Maggie’s exact location.  I can assume she was near her sister in Pt. Huron.  Although not 
positive proof, there is a possible sighting of Maggie in the 1900 Port Huron census.  She is living in a 
boarding house and working as a house servant.  This woman’s age, birth location, parent’s birth 
location and year she emigrated all match her circumstances. 

 
 
 
1990 Port Huron census 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Rose divorced Charles Mapes in July of 1897.  I suspect that Rose and her 2 young children were living in 
Port Huron after the divorce.  Rose remarried in 1900 to Harry T Todd and Maggie was there for that 
event as a witness.  Rose divorced again in 1903 but was remarried the same year.  Rose’s family history 
chapter explained the chaos. 
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9 Sept 1900 Wedding registration Harry Dodd and Rose Mapes 

 
 
Maggie was married in 1904 on her 25th birthday to Grant Defoe of Detroit. 
The marriage took place in Essex Co. Ontario, likely in the Windsor or Riverside area of Ontario where 
Maggie had several relatives.  Grant was 2 years Maggie’s junior.  
 

 
 
Grant Burdette Defoe was the oldest son of Hiram Defoe and Sarah Crowe.  The Defoe clan were long 
time settlers of Picton Co.  The Defoe’s had emigrated from Picton in 1885 and settled in Detroit.  Hiram 
must have died before the 1881 Michigan census as Grant’s mother was listed as the family head.  
Grant’s siblings lived throughout the southern regions of Michigan and several descendants can still be 
found there. 
Grant was a cigar salesman in the Detroit area in the 1910 census but changed occupations throughout 
his life.  The census also shows that he and Maggie were both naturalized American citizens at that 
point. 
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They were living on McGraw Ave in the northern Dearborn area.  Today it is a neighborhood of 
condemned houses. 
1910 census 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The couple moved to Beech Rd in suburban Detroit prior to the 1920 census.  They lived there through 
most of if not all of their lives.  The street address numbering must have changed over the years as I 
have not been able to locate the 12204 Beech Rd address that is listed in phone directories at that time 
for Detroit. 
As many others did, Grant filled in his draft card.  His registration date was Sept of 1918 just as the war 
was ending.  It indicates he was a short man with “dark hair and black eyes” and by this time was in the 
restaurant business. 
 

 
 
 
Like sister Rose’s husband EW Clark, Grant Defoe had his fingers in everything.  By 1924, he was 
operating a number of restaurants in west Detroit.  He was involved in several land deals as well.   
He pushed the envelope in terms of business dealings and had several run ins with city authorities.   
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           The Charwood Apartments as of 2022 

07 March 1924 Detroit Free Press 

In late November 1928, Grant Defoe was front page news in Detroit.  
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In summary of the headlines in the Free Press, he was contesting in court that when Sheriff Edward 
Stein died, his underling Ira Wilson, illegally succeeded him and should not be sheriff until the next 
election in 40 days.  Wilson claimed Defoe had ulterior motives in pursuing the claim.  He felt that Defoe 
was angry and seeking revenge in Wilson’s claim that Defoe had an illegal gambling set up in one store 
and that his candy machines were purposely not delivering candy after taking the customer’s money.  
Defoe lost the challenge. 
 

 
 
15 April, 1938 Detroit Free Press 
 
 
Grant also made the news for his habit of being  
the first passenger every spring to travel  
on the Detroit to Cleveland ferry run.   
The ferry did not run in the winter.   
The 1930 census for Grant and Maggie had a third member 
living in the house on Beech Rd.  Jerry O Chesney was listed 
as an 8-year-old boarder.  He appeared in the 1940 census as 
well.  The only difference was that he had changed his name 
to Defoe in 1940.  Where he came from or who he was 
remains a mystery.  He was not an orphan as his parents and 
several of his siblings lived in the Detroit area in several 
censuses.  No concrete link between the families has been 
found.  It appears that Jerry was contributing to the family 
income as a laborer in 1940. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1930 census

 
As an aside note: the 1930 census included a column to indicate that the household owned a radio.  It 
appears that the Defoe’s were among those leading the charge and had acquired one. 
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1940 census and Grant is no longer listed. 

 
In the winter of 1939 Grant developed a bad case of pneumonia.  He never recovered.  He died in the 
early morning of the 8th of December at his longtime home on Beech Rd. in Plymouth Mi.  He was in his 
58th year.   

Grant’s last job was working as a salesman at the Ira 
Wilson Dairy.  The dairy was one of the largest in 
the region and supplied milk to the Detroit market.  
There was a cow head on the billboard advertising 
the dairy.  It was a local icon for many years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
After Grant’s death, Maggie and Gerry remained 
at the 12204 Beech St. address. 
 
1943 Plymouth Directory.   
(Grant was still listed 4 years after his death) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
After Grant’s death, not much is known about Maggie.  I recall her visits to Oxford County when I was a 
child and I remember a weekend trip to Detroit with my parents to see Greenfield Village, The Ford 
Museum, Detroit Zoo, and Aunt Maggie in that order. 
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Maggie continued to visit her close sister Rose in Pt Huron and made several visits to her relatives in 
Oxford Co.  As opposed to her large and boisterous sister Rose, I recall Maggie as being petite, slim and 
quiet.  They often arrived together to visit their nephews and nieces from brother Albert’s and sister 
Henrietta Downing’s families. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Port Huron Times Herald; 
Top Left – 18 Aug, 1925 
Top Right 11 Apr, 1931 – John would have been John A 
                                          Elliott.   
Bottom Right 17 Jun, 1961 
Bottom Left 29 Nov, 1946 

 
I have not been able to confirm 
Maggie’s death nor her burial 
location.  In fact, after 1950, Maggie 
cannot be located.  We know that 
she is listed as a surviving sister for 
her sister Rose who died in 1965.  
Grant’s obituary stated his 
interment was at Grand Lawn 
Cemetery in Redford, Mi.  I cannot 
locate his name for that cemetery 
on the Find a Grave website.  
Regardless, I suspect both he and 

Maggie are buried or cremated there. 
Like her sister Rose and her brother John, she set out to make her life in the urban and industrial center 
of Detroit.  She emigrated with her sister Rose and there is no evidence that she saw much of her father 
JR Elliott when he also lived in Port Huron at the same time as she did in the early 1900’s.  I suspect that 
like her older sister Rose and brother John, they were estranged from their father after the implosion of 
the nuclear family with the death of their mother Betsy in 1885, when Maggie was 6 years old. 
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Melissa Jane (Maggie) Elliott and Grant Defoe Family Tree – 
youngest daughter of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Gerry Orie Chesney also worked at the 
Wilson Dairy and went on to serve in the 
US Navy during WWII.  
In 1944, he married Detroit native, 
Margaret Louisa Franke while he was 
stationed in Oakland, CA during WWII. 
Gerry was wounded in action and 
returned to his family home not far from 
the Beech Rd. address of Maggie’s. 
 
 
 
 

Melissa Jane 
“Maggie” 

Elliott 
1879 – about 

1965 

Adopted? 
Gerald Orie 

Chesney 
1921 - 1978 

Margaret 
Franke 

1925 - 2001 

Grant 
Burdette 

Defoe 
1880 - 1939 

Susan Defoe 
Tatro 
1952- 

Geraldine 
Defoe 

Williams 
1949 - 

Peggy Defoe 
Van Riper 

1948 - 
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                                                                                             Marriage notation: Oakland California 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                            Wounded list USNR 
 
 
 
He had three daughters that I am aware of. 

 
   Peggy B 1948                      Geraldine B 1949              Susan B 1952 
 
Peggy and Susan live in Fort Worth, Tex.  Geraldine is in Florida. 
After the war Gerry and family stayed in Detroit where he worked for a refrigerator manufacturer as a 
stock man.  He died in 1978.  His obituary noted his birth father but no birth mother nor the Defoe’s 
whose name he took.  After his death, his wife Margaret moved to San Antonio to be near two of her 
daughters and died in 2001.  Interestingly the funeral was held back in Detroit with her family. 
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Book 7 Chapter 2 - 8 
 
Grandchildren of William Elliott and Eliza Rogers 
Children of J R Elliott and Betsy Johnson 
Youngest Child: Frederick Edwin  B May 1882 N Oxford 
      D 21 Oct 1883 N Oxford 
 
IRC cemetery index records 

 
 

Cause of his death: inflammatory 
croup.  This was a common cause 
of death in the Ingersoll area in the 
weeks before and after his death.  
He is buried with his parents in IRC. 
 
 

Inscription 

Freddie E., son of J. & E. Elliott, 

died October 21, 1883, aged 1 

year, 5 months 

 
 

 

Possible Premature baby: 
Betsy (Johnson) Elliott was giving birth to a baby when she died on 
the 5th of January, 1885. 
In the IRC death Index, the cause of her death is listed as inflamed 
bowels.  No baby was found in the directory to have died at that 
time. 

 
 
END of Chapter 2 of Book 7  
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